
 

 

Cabinet  AGENDA 
 
 

DATE: 

 

Wednesday 17 June 2015 

 

TIME: 

 

6.30 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Rooms 1 & 2,  

Harrow Civic Centre 

 
 
 

 

 MEMBERSHIP       

   

 Chair: 

 

Councillor David Perry (Leader of the Council, Strategy, Partnerships 
and Corporate Leadership Portfolio Holder)  

 

 Portfolio Holders: 

 
Councillor Sue Anderson Community, Culture and Resident Engagement 
Councillor Simon Brown  Children, Schools and Young People 
Councillor Keith Ferry Deputy Leader, Business, Planning and Regeneration 
Councillor Glen Hearnden Housing 
Councillor Graham Henson Environment, Crime and Community Safety  
Councillor Varsha Parmar Public Health, Equality and Wellbeing 
Councillor Kiran Ramchandani Performance, Corporate Resources and Policy 

   Development 
Councillor Sachin Shah Finance and Major Contracts 
Councillor Anne Whitehead Adults and Older People 
 

(Quorum 3, including the Leader and/or Deputy Leader) 

 
 
 

Contact:  Daksha Ghelani, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8424 1881    E-mail:  daksha.ghelani@harrow.gov.uk 
 
 



Cabinet - Wednesday 17 June 2015 2 

 
  AGENDA - PART I   

 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE    

 
  To receive apologies for absence (if any). 

 
 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    

 
  To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests 

arising from business to be transacted at this meeting from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Cabinet; and 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

 3. PETITIONS    
 

  To receive any petitions submitted by members of the public or Councillors. 
 

 4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS *    
 

  To receive any public questions received in accordance with paragraph 16 
of the Executive Procedure Rules. 
 
Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received and there 
be a time limit of 15 minutes. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, Friday 12 June 
2015.  Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk    

No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

 5. COUNCILLOR QUESTIONS *    
 

  To receive any Councillor questions received in accordance with 
paragraph 17 of the Executive Procedure Rules. 
 
Questions will be asked in the order agreed with the relevant Group Leader 
by the deadline for submission and there be a time limit of 15 minutes. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of Councillor questions is 3.00 pm, Friday 12 
June 2015]. 
 

 6. KEY DECISION SCHEDULE - JUNE TO AUGUST 2015   (Pages 7 - 20) 
 

 7. PROGRESS ON SCRUTINY PROJECTS   (Pages 21 - 22) 
 

  For consideration. 
 



Cabinet - Wednesday 17 June 2015 3 

  RESOURCES/COMMUNITY, HEALTH AND 

WELLBEING   
 

KEY 8. COMMERCIALISATION STRATEGY   (Pages 23 - 44) 
 

  Report of the Corporate Director of Resources. 
 

 9. PROPOSAL TO DEVELOP A COMMERCIAL LETTINGS AGENCY   
(Pages 45 - 60) 

 
  Report of the Corporate Director of Resources. 

 
  COMMUNITY, HEALTH AND WELLBEING   

 
KEY 10. GRANGE FARM REGENERATION - PROGRESS, PLANNING AND 

IMPLEMENTATION   (Pages 61 - 74) 
 

  Report of the Divisional Director of Housing Services. 
 

  ENVIRONMENT AND ENTERPRISE   
 

KEY 11. MORTUARY SERVICE - EXPANSION OF PARTNERSHIP   (Pages 75 - 
80) 

 
  Report of the Corporate Director of Environment and Enterprise. 

 
  RESOURCES   

 
KEY 12. SENIOR MANAGEMENT RESTRUCTURE   (Pages 81 - 140) 

 
  Report of the Chief Executive. 

 
KEY 13. REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN  2014-15   (Pages 141 - 176) 

 
  Report of the Interim Director of Finance. 

 
KEY 14. RECOMMISSIONING DOMESTIC AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 

PREVENTATIVE AND INTERVENTION SERVICES   (Pages 177 - 204) 
 

  Report of the Divisional Director of Strategic Commissioning. 
 

KEY 15. REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT (CTS) SCHEME FOR 2016/17 
FINANCIAL YEAR   (Pages 205 - 212) 

 
  Report of the Corporate Director of Resources. 

 
 16. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS    

 
  Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 



Cabinet - Wednesday 17 June 2015 4 

 17. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC    
 

  To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of confidential information in breach of an obligation of 
confidence, or of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972: 
  
Agenda 
Item No 
 

Title Description of Exempt Information 

18. Proposal to develop a 
commercial Lettings 
Agency – Appendix 2 

Information under paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). 
 

19. Grange Farm 
Regeneration - 
Progress, Planning and 
Implementation – 
Appendix 2 

Information under paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). 
 

 
 

  AGENDA - PART II   
 

 18. PROPOSAL TO DEVELOP A COMMERCIAL LETTINGS AGENCY   
(Pages 213 - 274) 

 
  Appendix 2 to the Report of the Corporate Director of Resources at item 9 

above. 
 

KEY 19. GRANGE FARM REGENERATION - PROGRESS, PLANNING AND 
IMPLEMENTATION   (Pages 275 - 278) 

 
  Appendix 2 to the Report of the Divisional Director of Housing Services at 

item 10 above. 
 
 

  * DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE   
 

  The Council will audio record items 4 and 5 (Public and Councillor Questions) and will place 
the audio recording on the Council’s website, which will be accessible to all. 
 
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 

 
 
 
 



Cabinet - Wednesday 17 June 2015 5 

Deadline for questions 
 

3.00 pm on 12 June 2015 
 

Publication of decisions 
 

18 June 2015 
 

Deadline for Call in 
 

5.00 pm on 25 June 2015 
 

Decisions implemented if not Called in 
 

26 June 2015 
  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 
1
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

H
a

rr
o

w
 

K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
 (

 J
U

N
E

 2
0

1
5

 -
 A

U
G

U
S

T
 2

0
1

5
 )

 

M
O

N
T

H
: 

 J
u

n
e
 

  T
h
e
 f
o
llo

w
in
g
 i
s
 a
 l
is
t 
o
f 
K
e
y
 D

e
c
is
io
n
s
 w

h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 A

u
th
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
t 
th
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 
 T
h
e
 l
is
t 
m
a
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 

n
e
x
t 
fe
w
 w

e
e
k
s
. 
 A
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
n
o
ti
c
e
, 
b
y
 w

a
y
 o
f 
th
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
a
g
e
n
d
a
, 
w
ill
 b
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 n
o
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 5
 c
le
a
r 
d
a
y
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 d
a
te
 o
f 
th
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
, 
s
h
o
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
lis
t 
o
f 
K
e
y
 D

e
c
is
io
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
t 
th
a
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

  A
 K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 i
s
 a

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
: 

 (i
) 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
in
c
u
rr
in
g
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 w

h
ic
h
 i
s
, 
o
r 
th
e
 m

a
k
in
g
 o
f 
s
a
v
in
g
s
 w

h
ic
h
 a
re
, 
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
h
a
v
in
g
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
r 
fu
n
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 w

h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 r
e
la
te
s
; 
o
r 
 

 (i
i)
 

b
e
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
in
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
it
s
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 l
iv
in
g
 o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 a
n
 a
re
a
 o
f 
tw

o
 o
r 
m
o
re
 w

a
rd
s
 o
r 
e
le
c
to
ra
l 
d
iv
is
io
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
. 
 

 A
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 i
s
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 o
f 
(i
) 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
f 
it
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
s
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r 
th
e
 m

a
k
in
g
 o
f 
s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
f 
a
n
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
in
 e
x
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
£
1
m
 f
o
r 

c
a
p
it
a
l 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r 
£
5
0
0
,0
0
0
 f
o
r 
re
v
e
n
u
e
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r,
 w

h
e
re
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r 
s
a
v
in
g
s
 a
re
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
ts
 s
p
e
c
if
ie
d
 a
b
o
v
e
, 
th
e
y
 

c
o
n
s
ti
tu
te
 m

o
re
 t
h
a
n
 5
0
%
 o
f 
th
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
tt
ri
b
u
ta
b
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
n
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
. 

    

Agenda Item 6
Pages 7 to 20

7



 

- 
2
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
s
 w

h
ic

h
 t
h
e
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
in

te
n
d
s
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 i
n
 p

ri
v
a
te

 
 T
h
e
 
C
a
b
in
e
t 
h
e
re
b
y
 
g
iv
e
s
 
n
o
ti
c
e
 
th
a
t 
it
 
m
a
y
 
m
e
e
t 
in
 
p
ri
v
a
te
 
a
ft
e
r 
it
s
 
p
u
b
lic
 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 
to
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 
w
h
ic
h
 
c
o
n
ta
in
 
c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
ti
a
l 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
. 
 T
h
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
is
 o
p
e
n
 o
n
ly
 t
o
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t,
 o
th
e
r 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 a
n
d
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 

 R
e
p
o
rt
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 w

h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
w
ill
 t
a
k
e
 a
t 
it
s
 p
ri
v
a
te
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 a
re
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
is
t 
o
f 
K
e
y
 D

e
c
is
io
n
s
 b
e
lo
w
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 b
e
in
g
 m

a
d
e
 i
n
 p
ri
v
a
te
 w

h
e
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 
 T
h
e
 S

c
h
e
d
u
le
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
ta
in
s
 n
o
n
-K

e
y
 D

e
c
is
io
n
s
 w

h
ic
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 

h
a
v
in
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
in
 p
ri
v
a
te
. 
A
n
y
 p
e
rs
o
n
 i
s
 a
b
le
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
if
 h
e
/s
h
e
 b
e
lie

v
e
s
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
s
te
a
d
 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 

in
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 
 I
f 
y
o
u
 w

a
n
t 
to
 m

a
k
e
 s
u
c
h
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 p
le
a
s
e
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 &
 E
le
c
to
ra
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 Y
o
u
 w

ill
 t
h
e
n
 b
e
 

s
e
n
t 
a
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 i
n
 r
e
p
ly
 t
o
 y
o
u
r 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 
 B

o
th
 y
o
u
r 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t’
s
/L
e
a
d
e
r’
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 w

ill
 b
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 h
tt
p
:/
/w

w
w
.h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
/w

w
w
2
/m

g
L
is
tP
la
n
s
.a
s
p
x
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
5
 c
le
a
r 
d
a
y
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 T
h
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t/
L
e
a
d
e
r 
w
ill
 b

e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt
 p

re
p
a
re
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
. 
 T

h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 a

n
y
 o

th
e
r 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 

(u
n
le
s
s
 t
h
e
y
 c
o
n
ta
in
 e
x
e
m
p
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
) 
w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila

b
le
 f
o
r 
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
 c
le
a
r 
d
a
y
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 i
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 C

a
b
in
e
t/
L
e
a
d
e
r 
fr
o
m
 

D
a
k
s
h
a
 G

h
e
la
n
i,
 S

e
n
io
r 
D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 S

e
rv
ic
e
s
 O

ff
ic
e
r,
 o
n
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 1
8
8
1
 o
r 
b
y
 c
o
n
ta
c
ti
n
g
 d
a
k
s
h
a
.g
h
e
la
n
i@

h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
 o
r 
b
y
 w

ri
ti
n
g
 t
o
 

D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 &

 E
le
c
to
ra
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
H
a
rr
o
w
 C

o
u
n
c
il,
 C

iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 P

O
 B

o
x
 2
, 
S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
, 
H
a
rr
o
w
, 
H
A
1
 2
U
H
 o
r 
o
n
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w

e
b
s
it
e
. 
 

C
o
p
ie
s
 m

a
y
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 b
u
t 
a
 f
e
e
 w

ill
 b
e
 p
a
y
a
b
le
. 
 R

e
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
t 
th
e
 C

a
b
in
e
t’
s
 p
u
b
lic
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 w

ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila

b
le
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 5
 c
le
a
r 
d
a
y
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 T
h
e
 K
D
S
 l
o
o
k
s
 3
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a
h
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 w

ill
 b
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 2
8
 c
le
a
r 
d
a
y
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 D

e
c
is
io
n
 D

a
te
 /
 P
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
D
e
c
is
io
n
. 

 

8



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
3
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

 J
U

N
E

 2
0
1
5
 

  G
ra
n
g
e
 F
a
rm

 
R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 -
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
, 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

 

 A
p
p
ro
v
e
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

a
p
p
o
in
t 

c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
to
r,
 

w
h
ic
h
 w

ill
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 

c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 

d
is
p
o
s
e
 o
f 

a
p
p
ro
x
im

a
te
ly
 

h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
 i
n
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 f
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

A
p
p
ro
v
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 

a
n
d
 d
e
le
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r:
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 o
f 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
, 

c
o
m
p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
, 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
, 

le
g
a
l 
a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 s
it
e
 

a
s
s
e
m
b
ly
. 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 i
n
 

p
u
rc
h
a
s
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
G
le
n
 

H
e
a
rn
d
e
n
 

 L
y
n
n
e
 P
e
n
n
in
g
to
n
, 

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
lis
o
n
.p
e
g
g
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  

p
a
u
l.
m
u
lli
n
s
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 

1
9
3
3
/0
2
0
 8
4
2
0
 

9
6
8
0
 

 

 P
a
rt
 e
x
e
m
p
t 

   In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
o
r 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
ff
a
ir
s
 

o
f 
a
n
y
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

p
e
rs
o
n
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 h
o
ld
in
g
 

th
a
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
) 
 

   

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
: 
E
q
IA
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 
T
h
e
 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 o
f 

G
ra
n
g
e
 F
a
rm

 
E
s
ta
te
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 a
 

re
g
u
la
r 
b
a
s
is
 o
v
e
r 

th
e
 l
a
s
t 
1
2
 

m
o
n
th
s
. 
 A
 

S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G

ro
u
p
 o
f 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

w
it
h
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

a
d
v
is
o
rs
. 

     

9



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
4
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

n
e
w
 e
s
ta
te
. 

  

 R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
O
u
tt
u
rn
  

2
0
1
4
-1
5
 

 

 T
o
 n
o
te
 t
h
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 
c
a
rr
y
 

fo
rw

a
rd
s
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
y
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

re
s
e
rv
e
s
 o
r 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
a
c
h
in
 

S
h
a
h
 

 S
im

o
n
 G

e
o
rg
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 A
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 

d
a
w
n
.c
a
lv
e
rt
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 

1
3
9
3
 

 

 O
p
e
n
 

       

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

N
o
n
e
 

    

 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 

(C
T
S
) 

 

 T
o
 n
o
te
 t
h
e
 

re
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 

to
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 p
a
ra
m
e
te
r 

c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
t 
F
u
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

2
1
/1
/2
0
1
3
 &
 

s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 o
n
 

2
2
/1
/2
0
1
5
 

  

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
a
c
h
in
 

S
h
a
h
 

 T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

fe
rn
.s
ilv
e
ri
o
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
7
3
6
 

6
8
1
8
 

   

 O
p
e
n
 

       

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 
N
/A
 

    

10



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
5
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

 S
e
n
io
r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

R
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 
to
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 

th
e
 C

h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
a
 

re
v
is
e
d
 s
e
n
io
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

  

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
D
a
v
id
 

P
e
rr
y
 

 M
ic
h
a
e
l 
L
o
c
k
w
o
o
d
, 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

H
a
rr
o
w
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

jo
n
.t
u
rn
e
r@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 

1
2
2
5
 

 

 O
p
e
n
 

       

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 
A
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
, 

a
ff
e
c
te
d
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 

tr
a
d
e
 u
n
io
n
s
 w

ill
 

b
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 

     

 P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 D

o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

 

 P
e
rm

is
s
io
n
 t
o
 

s
e
e
k
 t
e
n
d
e
rs
 

fr
o
m
 D

o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
c
e
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
ro
v
id
e
rs
 

fo
r 
th
e
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 o
f 

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 A
d
v
is
e
r,
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 A
n
n
e
 

W
h
it
h
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

G
ra
h
a
m
 H

e
n
s
o
n
 

 T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

s
te
lla

.a
g
u
n
a
b
o
r@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 

1
8
2
0
 

 

 O
p
e
n
 

       

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D

o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

11



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
6
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 M

u
lt
i 
A
g
e
n
c
y
 

R
is
k
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

C
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 C

o
-

o
rd
in
a
to
r 

(M
A
R
A
C
) 

 

F
o
ru
m
 

    

 M
o
rt
u
a
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

- 
C
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 

fo
r 
th
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 

B
re
n
t 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 

b
e
 e
x
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 B
a
rn
e
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
G
ra
h
a
m
 

H
e
n
s
o
n
 

 C
a
ro
lin

e
 B
ru
c
e
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 

v
e
n
e
ti
a
.r
e
id
-

b
a
p
ti
s
te
@

h
a
rr
o
w
. 

g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 

1
4
9
2
 

 

 O
p
e
n
 

       

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 
N
/A
 

    

 C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
li
s
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 

 N
o
te
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
li
s
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 S
a
c
h
in
 

S
h
a
h
 a
n
d
 K
e
it
h
 

F
e
rr
y
 

 T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

te
rr
y
.b
re
w
e
r@

 

 O
p
e
n
 

       

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
: 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
li
s
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
a
p
e
r 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

In
te
rn
a
l 

12



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
7
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
1
6
 

8
4
4
2
 

 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
n
ly
 

    

 A
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
to
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
 

p
la
n
 t
o
 s
e
t 
u
p
 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 t
o
 t
ra
d
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
s
 a
 

L
e
tt
in
g
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 

 

 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 

p
re
p
a
ra
to
ry
 w

o
rk
 

fo
r 
th
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

a
 c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 a
b
le
 

to
 t
ra
d
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

p
u
b
lic
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 G

le
n
 

H
e
a
rn
d
e
n
 a
n
d
 

K
e
it
h
 F
e
rr
y
 

 L
y
n
n
e
 P
e
n
n
in
g
to
n
, 

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
, 

T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

p
a
u
l.
m
u
lli
n
s
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
0
 

9
6
8
0
  

 

 P
a
rt
 e
x
e
m
p
t 

   In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
o
r 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
ff
a
ir
s
 

o
f 
a
n
y
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

p
e
rs
o
n
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 h
o
ld
in
g
 

th
a
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
) 
 

   

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
: 

L
e
g
a
l 
A
d
v
ic
e
 r
e
 

c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
; 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C

a
s
e
 

fo
r 
F
o
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

L
e
tt
in
g
s
 a
g
e
n
c
y
; 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 P
la
n
 f
o
r 

L
e
tt
in
g
s
 a
g
e
n
c
y
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

v
a
ri
o
u
s
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

m
a
rk
e
t 

c
o
n
s
u
m
e
rs
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 

v
ia
 w

e
b
 s
u
rv
e
y
 

a
n
d
 a
n
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
to
ry
 

p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 w

a
s
 

m
a
d
e
 a
t 

13



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
8
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

2
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 

L
a
n
d
lo
rd
 f
o
ru
m
s
 

 

 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 

P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
 t
o
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 

s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
g
o
o
d
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 

T
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

 

 A
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
to
 

p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
 

a
s
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

a
s
 a
n
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 

to
 B
e
d
 a
n
d
 

B
re
a
k
fa
s
t 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
7
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 G

le
n
 

H
e
a
rn
d
e
n
, 
S
a
c
h
in
 

S
h
a
h
 a
n
d
 K
e
it
h
 

F
e
rr
y
 

 L
y
n
n
e
 P
e
n
n
in
g
to
n
, 

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
lis
o
n
.p
e
g
g
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
4
 

1
9
3
3
 

 

 P
a
rt
 e
x
e
m
p
t 

   In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
o
r 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
ff
a
ir
s
 

o
f 
a
n
y
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

p
e
rs
o
n
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 h
o
ld
in
g
 

th
a
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
) 
 

 

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
, 
L
e
g
a
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
.  
N
o
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

  

 J
U

L
Y

 2
0
1
5
 

  C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 

 A
g
re
e
 t
h
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
2
0
1
5
-

2
0
1
8
 

 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
4
 J
u
ly
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
G
ra
h
a
m
 

H
e
n
s
o
n
 

 T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

m
ik
e
.h
o
w
e
s
@

 

 O
p
e
n
 

      

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

14



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
9
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
4
2
0
 

9
6
3
7
 

 

 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 

S
a
fe
r 
H
a
rr
o
w
 

 

 C
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
A
w
a
rd
 

fo
r 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
h
ir
d
 

P
a
rt
y
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 

 T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

a
w
a
rd
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 

s
u
p
p
lie

r 
 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
4
 J
u
ly
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 K
ir
a
n
 

R
a
m
c
h
a
n
d
a
n
i 
a
n
d
 

S
a
c
h
in
 S
h
a
h
 

 T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

fe
rn
.s
ilv
e
ri
o
@

 
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  
 

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
8
 7
3
6
 

6
8
1
8
 

 

 P
a
rt
 e
x
e
m
p
t 

   In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
o
r 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
ff
a
ir
s
 

o
f 
a
n
y
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

p
e
rs
o
n
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 h
o
ld
in
g
 

th
a
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
) 
 

  

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

w
e
re
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 w

id
e
 

s
ta
ff
in
g
  

re
-o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

 C
h
a
rg
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

H
e
lp
lin

e
 a
n
d
 

T
e
le
c
a
re
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

 T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

fi
n
d
in
g
s
  
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

c
h
a
rg
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

 C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

 1
4
 J
u
ly
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 K
ir
a
n
 

R
a
m
c
h
a
n
d
a
n
i 
a
n
d
 

S
a
c
h
in
 S
h
a
h
 

 T
o
m
 W

h
it
in
g
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

 O
p
e
n
 

      

 A
g
e
n
d
a
 R

e
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
ic
e
s
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 

b
e
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 

15



S
u
b
je

c
t 

N
a
tu

re
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 d

a
te

 /
 

P
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
D

e
c
is

io
n
 

 C
a
b
in

e
t 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

/ 
L
e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

O
p
e
n
 o

r 
P

ri
v
a
te

 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

n
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

- 
1
0
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

H
e
lp
lin

e
 a
n
d
 

T
e
le
c
a
re
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

a
b
o
v
e
 

  

jo
n
a
th
a
n
.m

ilb
o
u
rn

@
h
a
rr
o
w
.g
o
v
.u
k
  

T
e
l:
 0
2
0
 8
7
3
6
 

6
7
1
1
 

 

 
w
it
h
 H

a
rr
o
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

th
a
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

s
u
b
s
c
ri
b
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
e
lp
lin

e
 a
n
d
 

T
e
le
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

w
ill
 e
x
te
n
d
 t
o
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 i
n
 

th
e
 H

a
rr
o
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
re
a
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 w

e
lf
a
re
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 H

a
rr
o
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
  
 

 

 A
U

G
U

S
T
 2

0
1
5
 -
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 n

o
 i
te

m
s
 

 

16



 

- 
1
1
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

H
A

R
R

O
W

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 C
A

B
IN

E
T
 2

0
1
4
/1

5
 

 C
O

N
T
A

C
T
 D

E
T
A

IL
S

 O
F
 P

O
R

T
F
O

L
IO

 H
O

L
D

E
R

S
 

 P
o
rt

fo
li
o
 

 
C

o
u
n
c
il
lo

r 
A

d
d
re

s
s
 

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 n

o
. 

E
m

a
il
 

L
e
a
d
e
r,
  

S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 &
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

D
a
v
id
 P
e
rr
y
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 
 

P
O
 B
o
x
, 
2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

M
o
b
ile

: 
 

0
7
5
0
5
 4
3
0
1
3
3
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

E
m
a
il:
 d

a
v
id

.p
e

rr
y
@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

D
e
p
u
ty
 L
e
a
d
e
r,
  

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
, 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 &
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

 

K
e
it
h
 F
e
rr
y
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

M
o
b
ile

: 
0
7
9
2
2
 2
2
7
1
4
7
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

E
m
a
il:
 k

e
it
h

.f
e

rr
y@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

A
d
u
lt
s
 &
 O

ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 

A
n
n
e
 W

h
it
e
h
e
a
d
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

E
m
a
il:
 a

n
n

e
.w

h
it
e

h
e

a
d

@
h

a
rr

o
w

.g
o

v
.u

k
 

C
h
ild

re
n
, 
S
c
h
o
o
ls
 &
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

S
im

o
n
 B
ro
w
n
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

E
m
a
il:
 s

im
o

n
.b

ro
w

n
@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

17



 

- 
1
2
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

 P
o
rt

fo
li
o
 

 
C

o
u
n
c
il
lo

r 
A

d
d
re

s
s
 

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 n

o
. 

E
m

a
il
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
, 
C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 

R
e
s
id
e
n
t 
E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 

S
u
e
 A
n
d
e
rs
o
n
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

M
o
b
ile

: 
 

0
7
8
7
5
 0
9
4
9
0
0
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

E
m
a
il:
 s

u
e

.a
n

d
e

rs
o

n
@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 C

ri
m
e
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

 

G
ra
h
a
m
 H

e
n
s
o
n
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

M
o
b
ile

: 
0
7
7
2
1
 5
0
9
9
1
6
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

E
m
a
il:
 g

ra
h

a
m

.h
e

n
s
o

n
@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

F
in
a
n
c
e
 &
 M

a
jo
r 

C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

 

S
a
c
h
in
 S
h
a
h
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
  

M
o
b
ile

: 
 

0
7
9
4
9
 9
4
9
7
4
5
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

 

E
m
a
il:
 s

a
c
h

in
.s

h
a

h
@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
le
n
 H

e
a
rn
d
e
n
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

 

E
m
a
il:
 g

le
n

.h
e

a
rn

d
e

n
@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 &
 P
o
lic
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 

K
ir
a
n
 R

a
m
c
h
a
n
d
a
n
i 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

M
o
b
ile

: 
0
7
9
5
7
 5
4
9
7
4
1
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

 

E
m
a
il:
 k

ir
a

n
.r

a
m

c
h

a
n

d
a

n
i@

h
a

rr
o

w
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 

18



 

- 
1
3
 o
f 
1
3
 -
 

 P
o
rt

fo
li
o
 

 
C

o
u
n
c
il
lo

r 
A

d
d
re

s
s
 

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 n

o
. 

E
m

a
il
 

P
u
b
lic
 H

e
a
lt
h
, 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 &
 

W
e
llb

e
in
g
  

 

V
a
rs
h
a
 P
a
rm

a
r 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
 

R
o
o
m
 1
0
2
, 

P
O
 B
o
x
 2
, 
C
iv
ic
 C

e
n
tr
e
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

H
A
R
R
O
W
 

H
A
1
 2
U
H
 

M
o
b
ile

: 
0
7
5
3
5
 0
6
4
4
9
5
 

G
ro
u
p
 O

ff
ic
e
: 

(0
2
0
) 
8
4
2
4
 1
8
9
7
 

 

E
m
a
il:
 v

a
rs

h
a

.p
a

rm
a

r@
h

a
rr

o
w

.g
o

v
.u

k
 

 

 

19



20

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET – 17 June 2015 

 

PROGRESS ON SCRUTINY PROJECTS 

 

Review Methodology Type of 
report 

Expected date 
for report to 

Cabinet 

Comments 

Continue 
participation in 
Joint Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
(JHOSC) for 
Shaping a 
Healthier Future 
Programme 

Joint Committee  Update reports 
will be 
provided for 
O&S/Health 
and Social 
Care sub 
committee and 
Cabinet (for 
information)  

As required 
 

No change since last 
update as the next JHOSC 
meeting is on 16th June. 
 

Health Protocol Drafting a new 
protocol to 
govern the 
working 
relationship 
between Health 
Scrutiny, Health 
& Well-being 
Board and 
HealthWatch 

Protocol Protocol to be 
signed of by 
Health Scrutiny 
sub-committee 
and Health and 
Well-being 
Board in 
June/July 

A protocol has been 
drafted jointly by members 
and officers on Health 
Scrutiny, Health & Well-
being Board and 
Healthwatch. It is going to 
the June meeting of health 
scrutiny and HWB meeting 
on 2nd July. 

Impact of Welfare 
Reform 

In-depth review Final Report to 
O&S and 
Cabinet  

January 2016 
TBC 

The review group has been 
set up and will be chaired 
by Cllr Pamela Fitzpatrick. 
A first scoping meeting was 
held on 9th June. 
 

 

Impact of Welfare 
Reforms on 
residents in the 
borough: Council 
Tax Support 
Scheme 

Challenge Panel Final Report to 
O&S and 
Cabinet 

Nov 2014 Concluded.  6 month 
update on implementation 
of recommendations 
scheduled for July P&F 

The Funding 
Challenge - 
saving £75m from 
the Council’s 
revenue budget 

Budget 
Challenge 
Panel/Q&A  

Final Report to 
O&S and 
Cabinet  

March 2015 Concluded.  6 month 
update on implementation 
of recommendations 
scheduled for Nov P&F 

Capital 
Expenditure and 
delivery of 
Programme 

Challenge Panel Final Report to 
O&S and 
Cabinet 

March 2015 Concluded.  6 month 
update on implementation 
of recommendations 
scheduled for Nov P&F  

Libraries review Light-touch 
review including 
joint challenge 
panel with 
Ealing Council 

Final Report to 
O&S and 
Cabinet 

April 2015 Concluded. 6 month 
update on implementation 
of recommendations 
scheduled for Nov P&F 
 

 

Contact: Rachel Gapp, Head of Policy  

Tel: 020 8416 8774 

Agenda Item 7
Pages 21 to 22

21



22

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June 2015 

Subject: 

 

Commercialisation Strategy 

Key Decision:  

 

Yes  

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Tom Whiting, Corporate Director of 
Resources 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Keith Ferry, Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Business, Planning and 
Regeneration 
 
Councillor Sachin Shah, Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Major Contracts 
 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes 
 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

Commercialisation Strategy 2015-2018 
 

 

Agenda Item 8
Pages 23 to 44

23



 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
This report sets out a Commercialisation Strategy for the Council. 

 
Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to approve the Commercialisation Strategy. 
 

Reason:  (For recommendations) 
To ensure that the commercialisation agenda supports the Council Priorities.   
 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
Introductory paragraph 
In response to the significant cuts to Government funding that the Council has 
already experienced and is going to continue to experience over the coming years, 
the challenge to the Council is how to address this funding gap.  There is no doubt 
that it is going to require a radically different approach. 
 
Through being more commercially-driven, the Council has the opportunity to put 
local services onto a more sustainable footing and to bring in new revenue streams 
which can also be invested in priority outcomes, supporting the commitment to be an 
efficient and well run borough. 
 
Commercialisation is anexciting and positive agenda for Harrow Council. It is an 
opportunity to reassess how we fund services, become more self-sufficient and less 
reliant on central Government funding, whilst at the same time building on the 
Council’s strengths for the benefit of local people, local organisations and local 
communities. 
 

Options considered 
Doing nothing was not an option given the scale of cuts to funding we are 
experiencing and we are expecting in the coming years. 
 
The Council has been developing its work on Commercialisation for several months. 
This has involved significant research into developments in the local Government 
sector. A number of case studies have been looked at and are summarised in the 
attached strategy.  
 
The Local Government Association (LGA) has also developed a set of 
Commercialisation Case Studies and these have been heavily drawn up on in 
developing our approach. The case studies looked at and the research undertaken 
has highlighted a number of options that Councils are pursuing in an ambition to be 
more commercial. These options include: 
 

• Improving the trading performance of services that are currently provided to 
improve revenue and reduce costs. 

• Reviewing the prices charged for traded services. 

24



 

 

• Fundamentally looking at the commissioning strategy for major service areas. 

• Improving contract management and ongoing better procurement. 

• Investing in portfolios of assets that generate a rate of return that is greater 
than the cost of borrowing. 

• Launching new business ideas that capitalise on unique strengths the Council 
brings. 

• Achieving new revenue streams through regeneration. 
 
In pursuing different types of commercial opportunity the Council also has to 
consider what it can do within current legal powers and where it might need to 
establish specific new trading arrangements to support its ambitions. Options are 
also being considered in this area. 
 

Reasons for commercialisation 

 
The Council still needs to make significant difficult decisions in the face of the 
funding gap which is forcing it to look more commercially at existing methods of 
service delivery. 
 
The funding gap is significant and existing approaches alone are not going to be 
sufficient to offset this.  To continue to deliver priority outcomes on a sustainable 
basis, becoming more commercially minded in all areas is going to become 
increasingly necessary. 
 
The coming funding cuts are likely going to result in a significant reduction in 
standard of services provided to customers, and potential increased pressure to sell 
assets which may reduce available facilities for local communities.  
Commercialisation is one way to offset some of these cuts. 
 
In some areas, such as Legal Services, the Council has had early successes so this 
has built confidence in this approach. 
 
Examples from across the Local Government sector have also built confidence in the 
role that commercialisation can play in bringing money in to the Council and helping 
put local services onto a more sustainable footing. 
 

Implications of the Recommendation 
 
The vision is for Harrow Council to become an innovative and entrepreneurial 
authority that continuously drives positive annual contributions to the council by 
generating extra revenue and delivering cost reductions through trading and 
business improvement. 
 
Through this, local services will be put into a more sustainable footing to support 
local people as well as raising money to invest in our priority outcomes. 
 
The strategy aims to deliver a substantive culture change where staff actively look 
for additional opportunities without losing focus on their existing customer base and 
the quality of service delivery. Services will strive to be fit to compete and fit to 
market, even if they do not currently provide services externally, and services 
making positive financial contributions shall increasingly be considered as the norm. 
 

25



 

 

The Council will have a clearer understanding of its portfolio of external service 
offerings, and understand not only which ones offer a greater return than others, but 
also what changes are needed to address any shortcomings. 
  
 

Legal Implications 
 
 
The Commercialisation Strategy includes a stream of work to establish the trading 
arrangements that will be required to support the Council’s commercial ambitions. 
External advice is being sought on this and a recommendation on trading 
arrangements and structures will be brought to Cabinet in due course. 
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
The Commercialisation Strategy is designed to make a contribution to the Council’s 
medium term funding gaps. 
 

 
Equalities implications/Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
There are no direct equalities impacts arising from the decisions within this report but 
the Commercialisation Strategy will be an important tool in ensuring that the 
Council’s commercial activities deliver services equitably to all members of the 
community.    
 

Council Priorities 
 
The Commercialisation Strategy will fully support the delivery of the Council 
Priorities.  
  
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow 
 
The Council Priorities are as follows: 
 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 

• Making a difference for communities 

• Making a difference for local businesses 

• Making a difference for families 
 
The Commercialisation Strategy supports these priorities by: 
 

• Enabling Harrow Council to offset the significant funding gaps being 
experienced through Government cuts. 

• Becoming more commercially-focused in all areas of the commissioning cycle 
to help sustain priority outcomes in the local community. 

26



 

 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Steve Tingle x  Chief Financial Officer 

 
Date: 5 June 2015 

   

 
 

   
 

Name: Hugh Peart x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date: 5 June 2015 

   
 

 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
YES 
 
 
Alex Dewsnap, Chair 
DETG 

 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
 

Contact:   Terry Brewer, Divisional Director Commercial, Procurement and 
Contracts 
  terry.brewer@harrow.gov.uk 
  Tel: 020 8424 8442 
 
 

Background Papers: Commercialisation Strategy 2015-2018 (as per the 
enclosure) 
 
 
 
 

27



 

 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 
 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call-in applies] 
 
 
 
 

 

28



 
 

 

 
   Page 1 of 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commercialisation Strategy 2015-2018 

Harrow Council 

29



 
 

 

 
   Page 2 of 15 

Contents 

1 Commercialisation in Context .............................................................................................. 3 

Overview ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Commercialisation Strategy Drivers ........................................................................................................... 3 

Commercialisation Vision ........................................................................................................................... 4 

Principles & boundaries of commercialisation at Harrow Council .............................................................. 5 

Links to other Harrow Council strategies and policies ............................................................................... 5 

2 Key aims & objectives ........................................................................................................... 6 

3 Creating the right environment ............................................................................................. 7 

4 Benefits .................................................................................................................................. 8 

Alternative options considered ................................................................................................................... 8 

5 Priority opportunities ............................................................................................................ 9 

6 Organisation wide activity .................................................................................................. 11 

Pricing review ........................................................................................................................................... 11 

Trading vehicle ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

Culture and capability review ................................................................................................................... 11 

Programme Timescales – Year 1 Timetable ............................................................................................ 12 

7 Appendix A: Summary of case studies .............................................................................. 14 

  

30



 
 

 

 
   Page 3 of 15 

1 Commercialisation in Context 

 

Overview 

This document outlines Harrow Council’s approach to commercialisation.  

There have been some excellent examples within Harrow Council of cost saving initiatives being 

successfully carried out, such as re-commissioning services, re-letting contracts, re-negotiating 

arrangements, and reviewing specifications. Whilst excellent progress has been made, there is also 

recognition that these measures alone will not be enough to meet the significant funding pressures we 

are seeing. 

The Commercialisation Strategy aims to put in place measures designed to offset the substantial cuts 

that Harrow has experienced and further envisages in the coming years. 

Harrow Council’s Commercialisation Strategy aims to take a broad view of commercialisation, to 

include all aspects of service reviews and redesign, the commissioning cycle, shared services, multi-

borough joined-up services, new opportunities for revenue generation, and pricing. 

 

Commercialisation Strategy Drivers 

The following key drivers have informed the development of this strategy: 

• The Council still needs to make significant income to offset the cuts that are due through to 

2019 ; 

• Our financial position is forcing us to look more commercially at our methods of service 

delivery;  

• The Council has an ambition to be more commercial, both within Harrow and also across the 

sector;  

• Early successes in commercialisation activities at Harrow, e.g. in shared services, have built 

confidence; 

• Commercialisation successes across the sector (see appendix A) have further built 

confidence;  

• There is more interest in inter-Council arrangements from other Councils as financial 

pressures mount. 

 

  

31



 
 

 

 
   Page 4 of 15 

” 

Commercialisation Vision 

 

Our vision is for Harrow Council to become an innovative and 

entrepreneurial authority that continuously drives positive annual 

contributions by generating extra revenue and delivering cost reductions 

through trading and business improvement.  Through this we will put local 

services into a more sustainable footing to support local people as well as 

raising money to invest in our priority outcomes 

 

There will increasingly be a culture of services actively looking for additional opportunities without 

losing focus upon their existing customer base and the quality of service delivery. Services will strive 

to be fit to compete and fit to market, even if they do not currently provide services externally, and 

services making positive financial contributions shall increasingly be considered as the norm. 

Our staff will be involved in actively seeking out potential for reviewing services, and will have a 

reputation for being aware, willing, and able. 

We will have an understanding of our abilities, knowing what we can deliver and what we cannot, 

supported with a clear understanding of where it is desirable to be able to increase our capabilities 

and where we do not wish to. We will have an understanding of our portfolio of external service 

offerings, and understand not only which ones offer a greater return than others, but also what our 

approach needs to be going forward to address this.  

 

 

  

“ 

32



 
 

 

 
   Page 5 of 15 

Principles & boundaries of commercialisation at Harrow Council 

 

Commercialisation for Harrow Council has been defined as encompassing the following areas: 
 

• Shared services; 

• Investments; 

• Selling services; 

• Pricing analysis; 

• Fitness of traded services; 

• Consideration of concessions; 

• Better contract management; 

• Continuous improvement in procurement. 
 

This strategy advocates that the commercialisation approach is open to all services (or elements of 

services). The approach initially is to pick a small number of key opportunities. This approach enables 

us to ensure organisational learning is built up, processes are refined, and projects can be resourced 

without the need for extensive support.    

 

The principles of commercialisation include:  

• Open to all options for service delivery; 

• Willingness to take risks – some ideas may fail; 

• Honesty about current performance – not all current traded services are market ready; 

• Preparedness to invest now for a return in the future; 

• A requirement for concessions to be carefully considered. 

 

 

Links to other Harrow Council strategies and policies 

In devising the Commercialisation Strategy we have been mindful of the need for it to align with and 

complement other key documents that contribute towards the overall success of Harrow Council. In 

particular, this strategy has been aligned to:   

• Harrow Council Corporate Plan 2015-2019; 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015/16 to 2018/19; 

• Harrow Council Core Strategy 2012; 

• Harrow Council Commercial and Procurement Strategy 2014. 

33



 
 

 

 
   Page 6 of 15 

2 Key aims & objectives 

 

The overarching aims of the strategy are to deliver a financial return which contributes to the council 

spending plans and to help sustain priority outcomes in the local community. 

This will entail developing a programme of work that includes a process for identifying potential 

opportunities, applies methodologies to further develop those opportunities, has a structure in place to 

ensure those fledgling opportunities are nurtured and supported, and has the resources to 

successfully deliver the aim of the strategy. 

It is also key to develop clearer commissioning intentions and medium term delivery strategies across 

all major service areas, e.g. by making decisions around multi-borough join up, seeking more 

innovative approaches to delivery, challenging existing approaches and set a picture of what the 

Council will look like in 2020;  

 

Some further objectives will be to:  

• Deliver a financial return and contribution in order to invest in services we have to run where 

we cannot recover adequate or any income, or to invest in new projects; 

• Help enable non-statutory services to at least cover all their costs including overheads (and 

potential opportunity cost) in order to reduce risk of closure and be profit generating where 

possible;  

• Actively engaging in market development and market shaping where no such market currently 

exists and using insight to manage specification and demand; 

• Attract alternative investment models to support service delivery e.g. through social 

investment; 

• Invest and use our financial strengths to deliver a financial return;   

• Ensure that outcomes in the local community are delivered on a sustainable basis; 

• Strengthen our reputation with residents, local businesses, the Local Government sector, staff, 

other customers, partners, and stakeholders in general;   

• Become a services provider to new and existing customers both from within the local authority 

environment and beyond, particularly where we are uniquely placed to do so; 

• Use the commercial knowledge acquired through this programme to gain a competitive 

advantage.      

 

34



 
 

 

 
   Page 7 of 15 

3 Creating the right environment 

 

Careful consideration will be given to creating the right environment within the organisation to nurture 

innovative ideas and develop them into robust project proposals. This will involve the following 

activities:   

• Undertaking a culture and capability review; 

• Designing a communications campaign to draw in ideas from staff and generate new ideas; 

• Producing a framework for development of new propositions; 

• Capturing lessons learned as and when encountered; 

• Adopting a project management approach for the implementation of the programme;  

• Ensuring new proposals have the right support from the Commercial team and necessary 

stakeholders. 

 

 

 

35



 
 

 

 
   Page 8 of 15 

4 Benefits 

 

Taking the approach outlined within this strategy is believed to be the most appropriate for Harrow 

Council as it offers a number of key benefits, many of which have already been covered elsewhere 

within this strategy, including: 

• Providing a real, tangible opportunity to make a contribution to the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy; 

• Staff development – new skills will be acquired and can be transferred to other opportunities 

internally; 

• Taking an approach of raising standards and generating revenue at the same time; 

• Helping to provide a competitive advantage in key markets; 

• Giving Harrow Council an enhanced reputation as a leading-edge authority in this sphere; 

• Transforming the organisation into an innovative workplace; 

• Bringing benefits to the local economy; 

• Ensuring the sustainability of non-statutory services that would otherwise be stopped due to 

lack of funding.  

 

Alternative options considered 

Doing nothing was not an option given the scale of cuts to funding we are experiencing and we are 

expecting in the coming years. 

The council has an option to consider tendering further services to make savings, but savings from 

procurements alone will not be sufficient to bridge the funding gap.  

The council has an option to consider further collaborative efforts but as above, savings from 

collaborative activities alone will not be enough. 

 

36



 
 

 

 
   Page 9 of 15 

5 Priority opportunities 

 

The Council is already exploring a number of priority commercial opportunities. These will be 

developed and assessed during 2015/16 and decisions to go ahead brought to Cabinet if appropriate. 

There is an ongoing area of work to identify new opportunities and so this list will change during the 

year.  However, current priorities are as follows: 

 

1. Legal Service Expansion – Following the successful creation of HB Public Law with Harrow 

and Barnet Councils, work continues to expand the Legal Practice. An alternative business 

structure (ABS) was set up in 2014 to enable service to be sold to the private sector. The 

Council is developing a proposal to include Hounslow in the shared service and the Director 

Legal and Governance Services is currently shared with Buckinghamshire County Council. 

The Council will continue to explore opportunities for expanding HB Public Law. 

 

2. Recruitment Agency - The Council spends approximately £20m per year and agency staff, 

who currently make up over 20% of the Council’s head count. A feasibility study has been 

undertaken to look at the possibility and setting up an in house recruitment agency. Work has 

now progressed to the development of a business case and conclusions will be reported to 

Cabinet in the autumn. 

 

3. Website Commercialisation – The Council through its new communications contract is looking 

to increase the volume of income from advertising and sponsorship, in particular through the 

website. Opportunities are also being explored to promote national and local deals. 

 

4. Investment Portfolio – The Treasury Management Strategy will be reviewed to look at 

opportunities to achieve a higher rate of return from the Council’s investments. Opportunities 

for investing a portfolio of commercial property will also be explored as well as other potential 

investment opportunities such as energy generation. 

 

5. Procurement Services – Similar to the expansion of the Legal Practice, the Council is 

exploring sharing Procurement services with other Councils in order to share expertise and 

contribute to overheads.  

 

6. Lettings Agency – The Council has completed a feasibility study to look at the launch of a 

lettings agency to provide a service to local landlords and to future Council owned housing 

stock. The proposal to go ahead with this proposition is also presented to June Cabinet. 

 

7. Sexual Health Commissioning – The Council is working with boroughs across London to 

explore the opportunity for leading a pan London service for the commissioning and 

management of sexual health services. 

 

37



 
 

 

 
   Page 10 of 15 

8. My Community ePurse – Harrow has developed market leading technology in My Community 

ePurse as well as industry leading standards of personalisation in Adults Care Services. The 

Council is exploring the potential to market this capability to other councils. 

 

9. Construction Delivery Unit – Although at a very early stage of development the opportunity to 

set up a Construction Delivery Unit is being looked at given the volume of construction activity 

underway and planned across the borough. 

 

10. Private Rented Sector Housing – Significant regeneration is being planned across the Heart of 

Harrow and this development will include the building of Private Rented Sector Housing 

across a number of sites. This would provide a long term, source of revenue to the Council.  

 

11. Harrow School Improvement Partnership – The Council runs a very successful School 

Improvement Partnership which is already providing services to other boroughs. The 

opportunity to expand the service to other councils is being looked into. 

 

12. Trade Waste – Trade waste services are already provided across the borough and there is an 

opportunity to win back lost market share within the borough to bring income into the Council.  

 

 

 

 

38



 
 

 

 
   Page 11 of 15 

6 Organisation wide activity  

In view of the potential opportunities, our intention is to move at pace with the implementation of this 

strategy. The programme to support this, together with key dates, is detailed on the next page.  Three 

of these activities are expanded on below. 

 

Pricing review 

This activity will review our current subsidy position across all non-statutory services that we charge 

for to ascertain whether it warrants amendments to our pricing if full cost recovery is the agreed goal. 

 

Trading vehicle 

We are at an advanced stage of investigating the possibility and ramifications of establishing a trading 

vehicle to support the delivery of new revenue streams.  A recommended company structure is 

expected to be brought to Cabinet in July 2015. 

 

Culture and capability review 

A review of the Council’s culture and workforce to determine whether a new governance approach 

and mind-set shift is required to achieve the maximum benefits from a Council-wide 

commercialisation programme.  Training, objective setting, revision of job descriptions, and resources 

are some of the measures being considered within this activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



 
 

 

 
   Page 12 of 15 

 

 

Programme Timescales – Year 1 Timetable 

 

Date 

 
Activity 

Description 

 

Ongoing, commencing April 2015 
Proposition 

Development 
Develop high level business cases / feasibility studies for priority opportunities.  

July 2015  Pricing 

Initial review of subsidy position. 

Review income vs cost position across major traded services. 

Amendments if required to our pricing policy. 

Plans to be developed to move to full cost recovery or profitability on all traded non 

statutory services with quantification of financial impact. 

July 2015 onwards 
Contract 

Specifications 

Revisit high value opportunities for challenging specification levels on major contracts – 

especially in light of work on what Council will look like in 4yrs time. 

As part of the Re-commissioning work stream (below), each directorate, by division, to 

look at which of their contracts could be amended to contribute towards the Strategy. 

July 2015 
Commercial 

Awareness Training 
Investigate training options and pricing. 

40



 
 

 

 
   Page 13 of 15 

July 2015 New Propositions 
Develop a framework and campaign for development of new propositions in order to 

create a short list of new opportunities.  

July 2015 Selling Current 

Identify priority services that are traded where a business improvement methodology 

(e.g. Canvas) could be used to develop stronger commercial performance (Amateur to 

Professional to Commercially Fit) in order to expand market share and improve trading 

performance. 

July 2015 Trading Vehicle 
Establish a trading vehicle for new revenue streams and agree as part of Cabinet / 

Council decision making. 

September 2015 
Capability & 

Culture Review 

Review our current culture and approach using the framework identified to identify how 

effectively we are set up to be more commercial. 

October 2015 Re-commissioning 

Aim for all major services areas to have conducted a commissioning / service review, 

along side the budget process for a view of what the service will look like by 2020. 

Each directorate, by division, to report on how they will contribute towards the 

Commercialisation Strategy, by taking full account of in-house skills, knowledge, 

contracts and assets (i.e. buildings, land, etc.). 

October 2015 Grants and Bidding Review opportunities to bid for external funding. 

 

41



 
 

 

 
   Page 14 of 15 

7 Appendix A: Summary of case studies 

 

Basingstoke Council – Have a commercial property portfolio which delivers an income. A proportion 
of its portfolio is on long leases. They are not expanding the portfolio and have owned it for many 
years. Identifying commercial partners to re-develop a major business park and leisure park. Have 
earmarked further money to invest and looking for competitive return. Early look at PRS but must be 
balanced with affordable housing. 

 

Oxford City Council – Employ a large manual workforce and are actively in the markets of transport, 
grounds maintenance, construction and highways providing services to other local organisations, 
institutions and residents. Achieving an income stream that makes a contribution to overheads. 

 

Cherwell Council – Set up a confederated model across 3 councils to separate who delivers what 
and to identify what to put under separate vehicles, following a series of service reviews. Have 
created a I-Lab incubation unit to identify what new services they could sell and to help them prepare 
business plans and launch. 

 

Luton Borough Council – Single trading company selling a range of Council services including 
safeguarding training, road planning etc. Directors comprised of Council officers. Trading Building 
Technical Services as a trading account within Council. Luton Trading Services also operates as a 
trading account and provides debt collection to other LAs.  

 

 

Aylesbury Vale – Have developed new business models for how their services will be delivered 
using a ‘business canvas’ planning tool. Aim is for services to come as close as possible to cost 
neutral by focusing on both cost (service design) and income.  

 

Runneymede – A loan from the Public Works Loan Board secured for the regeneration of Addlestone 
Town Centre (previously been debt-free). The scheme includes a multi storey car park, hotel, cinema 
complex, 24 hour gym, small supermarket and numerous food and beverage outlets. The 
development also provides homes, some of which will be rented at affordable rents or shared 
ownership (part rent, part buy).  Contributes to the regeneration of the town centre and also a 
significant source of income for the Council. 

42



 
 

 

 
   Page 15 of 15 

LB Camden – Let a contract with a number of other Councils for the letting of a Wireless Concession 
Contract. Users get 30 mins fee access every day for each device the use. Helps provide businesses 
with free access and also encourages visitor numbers and local trade. Approach has been replicated 

in Harrow.  

 

Peterborough City Council – Have launched a series of energy schemes to generate renewable 
energy and reduce energy consumption. Energy performance contract set up with Honeywell 
Solutions delivering guaranteed energy efficiency for non domestic properties. A separate partnership 
with British Gas will also invest in reducing energy consumption across many homes.   

 

Eastleigh Borough Council – They have actively been pursuing the acquisition of a range of 
property assets which generate a high investment yield. By 2015, expenditure will have increased and 
includes a range of assets. Council owned assets have risen considerably. 

 

Cheshire East – Has established a set of companies to trade with the local Council and to identify 
potential new clients. A charitable trust has been set up to deliver leisure services and 900 staff have 
been transferred including staff in a range of back office / support functions. Also examining a range 
of energy projects in partnership with registered housing providers. 

 

Wychavon - Also investing recently in commercial property. Recent investment in development of a 
new supermarket which delivers a competitive rate of return. Investment can only be in the District. 

 

Portsmouth – Launched a new Income Generation work stream to develop ideas from across the 
council. Most lucrative opportunities have been from advertising and sponsorship. 

 

Braintree – Three work streams to improve commercialisation: ‘Better at Business’, ‘Investment 
Strategy’, and ‘Economic Development’. Investment in commercial property, in equity and property 
funds, housing and solar schemes. Commercial premises reserve. Winning back market share in e.g. 
trade waste. 

 

43



44

This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June 2015 

Subject: 

 

Proposal to develop a commercial Lettings 
Agency 

Key Decision:  

 

No 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Tom Whiting, Corporate Director of 
Resources 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Glen Hearnden, Portfolio Holder 
for Housing 
Ccouncillor Keith Ferry, Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Business, Planning and 
Regeneration 
 

Exempt: 

 

No, except for appendix 2 to the report which 
is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12a of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) because it contains commercially 
sensitive and confidential information relating 
to the financial and business affairs of the 
Council 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

Appendix 1 : Executive Summary 
Appendix 2 (Exempt) : Feasibility  Report 
plus appendices 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 9
Pages 45 to 60

45



 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 

This report sets out the business case for the development of an independent trading 
company wholly owned by the council to operate as a lettings agency.  The agency 
would trade providing services to private landlords and would be capable of providing 
management services for other General Fund rented housing. Based on current 
projections, the agency would require a short-term working capital loan from the 
Council of up to £100,000 to cover the first year of trading, which would need to be 
made on commercial terms. As preparatory work advances, it is hoped that the 
drawdown from the available loan would be less than this amount. 
 

Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to: 
 

Approve the development of further preparatory work, described in the report, to 
enable officers to report back to a future Cabinet meeting to approve a suitable 
company structure for a Lettings Agency. 
 

Reason:  (For recommendations)   
The proposed lettings agency is intended to; support the council maintaining access 
to private properties to meet its statutory housing duties, generate an income stream 
back to the General Fund and provide a management vehicle for new and acquired 
housing in council ownership.  Overall the proposals support the council’s priorities to 
make a difference for the most vulnerable and for families. 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 

Introductory paragraph 
The establishment of a lettings agency will contribute the first significant strand of the 
council’s commercialisation strategy, alongside the existing HB Public Law 
Practice.  In practice the delivery of an ethical and trusted lettings agency service 
can help improve standards in the market, avoid exploitation of both tenants and new 
/ accidental landlords and provide a vehicle for the delivery of management services 
for the councils own acquired housing stock (outlined elsewhere in this report).  In 
addition any potential newly built  private rented units owned by the council could be 
managed via this agency.  Finally the agency should produce a positive revenue 
stream for the council to contribute to the General Fund. 
 

Options considered   
Options considered included: 

• Do nothing - which would not generate income and would see the 
management costs of the new private rental stock "leak" out of the Council. 
Equally, the housing tenure data as presented in the report suggests that the 
PRS will be the main source of new housing supply in Harrow and the Council 
risks loosing access to supply opportunities if it does not take a position in 
accessing and managing housing stock in the PRS. 

• Enter into a strategic partnership - This option could cause conflict between 
the council and a partner in terms of bringing new standards to the market 
and would still see revenue "leak" away. 

• Opt into a Franchise - while this could minimise some of the set up risks it was 
felt that the knowledge held in house within the council could minimise such 

46



 

 

risks assuming that commercial expertise is commissioned. There are also 
limitations on a new business identity from a franchise operation and recurring 
franchise costs that hinder profitability in the future. 

 

Background 

The idea to create an agency developed from the concept of developing PRS 
properties to generate an income stream and was expanded to identify the synergies 
of working with the existing Help2Let product offered to private landlords. In order to 
develop the idea a focused project was set up and a project manager appointed to 
test the assumptions and viability model over a 6 week period.  The project report 
produced is provided in part two of this report.  The report analyses the growth in the 
market, the financial model showing potential cash flows and the offer that could be 
made to landlords. 
 

Current situation 
The commercialisation strategy sets out a proposed direction of travel and will 
require a further report to cabinet setting out the details of company structure(s) 
proposed.  At this stage officers are confident that a lettings agency would sit 
comfortably in the likely structure that will be brought to a future cabinet. 
It would be desirable to continue with the work already begun to establish a viable 
lettings agency in preparation for the formal establishment of the company which will 
need to sit outside the council as a wholly owned subsidiary in order to trade.   
The following work needs to be done prior to commencing trading as a lettings 
agency: 

• Refine offer and marketing to be put in front of landlords 
• Define and produce an independent web site 
• Identify suitable premises 
• establish HR policies and terms of employment 
• Establish working practices, policies and procedures 
• Establish registrations (rent deposit, dispute resolution, etc.) 
• cash collection procedures 
• insurance 
• accounting framework 
• establishing the company   

 

Why a change is needed 
The Executive Summary of the Feasibility & Business Report that is attached as 
appendices to this report sets out the case to establish a “Harrow Lettings Agency” – 
operating in the commercial private rented sector within an agreed company 
structure. This proposal is in keeping with the commercialisation agenda of the 
Council and would fit within an approved Company structure to be agreed at a future 
Cabinet meeting. 
There are some key factors that have contributed to the proposal to establish a 
“Harrow Lettings Agency” as described. 
 

� Housing data for choice and supply points to the PRS as being the dominant 
tenure now and in the years ahead 

� New housing supply will come overwhelmingly from the PRS as the owner 
occupied sector and the social housing sector continue to stall in growth or 
decline against all tenures 

47



 

 

� The Council should consider a new relationship with the PRS in meeting 
housing need and statutory homelessness – otherwise need will not be met 
and costs will rise 

� A commercial “Harrow Lettings Agency” can be established for a relatively 
small investment within a prudent business model that should generate a 
healthy profit in year 2 of the company trading 

� Business risks can be managed within an appropriate risk management 
format 

� There is an opportunity to set up an ethical business in the PRS that can be 
profitable and be a sector leader in it’s business terms and working 
relationships 

� There is an overall fit with the Council’s commercialisation agenda and this 
strand captures a key element of the current and potential housing agenda of 
the council 

 
Implications of the Recommendation 
Considerations 
 

The model of cash flows set out in the project report shows positive net cash flows 
achieved towards the end of year one,  with a healthy diversified business stream 
from years 3 onwards.  Conservative assumptions have been used to predict 
turnover with private landlords and once established there are significant 
opportunities for growth as new developments come on stream in and around 
Harrow.  However, there are set up costs to be invested and the preparatory work 
can be off set against early years profits reducing tax liabilities. 
 

Staffing/workforce  
In order to develop stage two of this project - i.e. post project verification and pre 
company formation - the project manager used for phase one report is able to 
develop much of the work.  Ultimately once established the new company will need 
to employ staff directly using appropriate terms and incentive based payment 
systems. 
 

Risk Management Implications 
The risks associated with this project have been identified and monitored in a risk 
register shared with the project board of officers and Housing Portfolio holder who 
have overseen development to date.  Risks at this stage are minimised by the 
proposed preparatory work set out in this report and for the new company the risks 
will be in the early months of set up. 
 

There is a separate risk register in place. 
 

48



 

 

 
Legal Implications 
 

• The Localism Act 2011 and associated Regulations specify that commercial 
trading must be undertaken through a company. 

• HB Public Law’s private sector partner, Bevan Brittan, are advising the council 
on legal requirements as the project progresses, including the appropriate 
company structure and the legal implications arising from the chosen structure 

 

Financial Implications 
 

The financial implications of the proposed decision are contained within the 
appended report. 
 

• There are no capital implications in the current or future years 
 

• Trading is assumed to commence half-way through this financial year, and the 
reporting period is assumed to be the same as that of the Council for ease of 
producing consolidated financial accounts. This means that the first year of 
trading will be a part year. 

 

• The revenue forecasts contained within the appendix project a small loss in 
the first part year of trading due the need to fund some initial costs of 
establishing the business and to start to build a client base of landlords. There 
may be a need for the Council to provide working capital to the company 
initially on commercial terms to cover the initial trading period. 

 

• This loss is projected to be covered by a profit in the first full year of trading, 
with profits then building steadily as the business reaches its projected 
business potential. 
 

• In practice, the agency would require a short-term working capital loan from 
the Council of up to £100,000, to cover the first year of trading, which would 
need to be made on commercial terms. As preparatory work advances, it is 
hoped that the drawdown from the available money would be less than this 
amount. Should the company fail to achieve its income targets, some or all of 
this money may be at risk. 

 

• As can be seen from the projections included in the appendix, the business is 
projected to generate income streams which would belong to the Council as 
the company would be wholly-owned by the Council.  

 

• The project has been modelled in isolation at this stage, and has been 
demonstrated as being viable in its own right. In practice the business is likely 
to form part of a group structure with additional companies set up to deliver 
other areas of commercialisation, some of which are included on the agenda 
for this meeting. As well as being a logical decision, this group structure may 
well deliver benefits such as economies of scale, and be potentially more tax-
efficient than stand-alone companies. Further work is being undertaken in 
respect of the legal and taxation aspects of the commercialisation agenda, 
and these will ultimately determine the extent to which any particular business 
strand generates income for the Council. 

 

49



 

 

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 

An initial Equalities Impact Assessment indicates that there are no adverse impacts 
generated by this report a full EqIA will be produced for the final business report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 

The Council’s vision:  
 

Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow 
 

Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 
The proposed agency will work to offer fair terms and minimise or eliminate 
charges to tenants while offering fair terms of business. 

• Making a difference for communities 
The agency will work to ensure that properties are well managed and tenants 
& landlords are made clearly aware of their rights and obligations to local 
communities 

• Making a difference for local businesses 
While the proposed agency will offer competition to existing businesses it is 
unlikely to ever take more than a small percentage of the 18,000 private 
tenancies let in the borough as recorded in the 2011 census.  By setting high 
benchmark standards the agency should demonstrate that fair charges to 
landlords can deliver high quality services which will undermine the cheap 
and ineffective agencies that potentially tarnish the industry. 

• Making a difference for families 
Families of all ages and income levels will be able to access high quality well 
managed homes and use the service as a benchmark for the level of service 
that should be on offer. 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Dave Roberts x  Chief Financial Officer 

 

Date: 15 May 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Stephen Dorrian x  Monitoring Officer 

 

Date: 15 May 2015 

   
 

 

 

50



 

 

 

Ward Councillors 

notified: 
 

 

YES 
 

 

EqIA carried out: 
 

EqIA cleared by: 

 

NO 
 

EqIA will be produced in relation to 
overall commercialisation agenda and 
separately for the formation of each 
company 
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 

Contact:  Paul Mullins, Interim Senior Special Projects Manager, 0208 420 

9680  ext 5680 paul.mullins@harrrow.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers:  None. 
 
 
 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 

[Call-in applies]  
 
 
 

 
 

 

51



52

This page is intentionally left blank



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
1

 

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
d

 a
 f

e
a

si
b

il
it

y 
st

u
d

y
 

le
a

d
in

g
 t

o
 a

 B
u

si
n

e
ss

 R
e

p
o

rt
 o

n
 t

h
e

 

p
ro

sp
e

ct
s 

o
f 

se
tt

in
g

 u
p

 a
 L

e
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

 i
n

 

th
e

 P
R

S
 -

 P
ri

v
a

te
 R

e
n

te
d

 S
e

ct
o

r 
- 

o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 

a
s 

a
n

 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
co

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
e

n
ti

ty
. 

  

 T
h

is
 E

xe
cu

ti
v
e

 s
u

m
m

a
ry

 h
ig

h
li
g

h
ts

 t
h

e
 k

e
y
 

is
su

e
s 

a
s 

se
t 

o
u

t 
in

 t
h

e
 f

u
ll
 v

e
rs

io
n

 o
f 

th
e

 

B
u

si
n

e
ss

 R
e

p
o

rt
. 

  

 T
h

e
 c

a
se

 i
s 

m
a

d
e

 f
o

r 
a

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
“H

a
rr

o
w

 

Le
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

” 
b

e
in

g
 f

o
rm

e
d

, 
in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

ci
l,

 a
n

d
 e

xp
e

ct
e

d
 i
n

 t
im

e
 t

o
 

g
e

n
e

ra
te

 a
 f

in
a

n
ci

a
l 
re

tu
rn

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 d
e

cl
a

re
d

 d
iv

id
e

n
d

. 
T

h
is

 c
a

n
 b

e
 

a
cc

e
p

te
d

 a
s 

in
co

m
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
–

 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 t

h
e

 c
o

u
n

ci
l’

s 
b

ro
a

d
e

r 
o

b
je

ct
iv

e
s 

in
 t

h
e

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

. 

 M
a

k
in

g
 t

h
e

 C
a

se
 –

 k
e

y
 p

o
in

ts
 

 

�
 

D
a

ta
 t

re
n

d
s 

sh
o

w
 t

h
e

 P
R

S
 g

ro
w

in
g

 i
n

 

H
a

rr
o

w
, 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 a

n
d

 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

. 
T

h
is

 

m
a

y
 c

la
im

 t
o

 b
e

 a
 h

is
to

ri
c 

sh
if

t 
in

 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 t
e

n
u

re
. 

 

�
 

It
 i

s 
th

e
 o

n
ly

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 t
e

n
u

re
 c

h
o

ic
e

 

fo
r 

a
 n

e
w

 g
e

n
e

ra
ti

o
n

 m
a

n
y

 o
f 

w
h

o
m

 

–
 c

e
rt

a
in

ly
 i

n
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 -

 a
re

 u
n

li
k

e
ly

 t
o

 

b
e

 a
b

le
 t

o
 m

o
v

e
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 P

R
S

. 

 

�
 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ci

ls
 r

e
co

g
n

is
e

 t
h

e
 P

R
S

 a
s 

th
e

 m
a

in
 s

o
u

rc
e

 o
f 

n
e

w
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 

su
p

p
ly

 i
n

 t
h

e
ir

 l
o

ca
l 

a
re

a
s.

 

 

�
 

F
o

r 
a

 r
e

la
ti

v
e

ly
 s

m
a

ll
 i

n
v

e
st

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

a
b

o
u

t 
£

2
0

0
k

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
co

u
ld

 s
e

t 
u

p
 

a
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 i

n
 t

h
e

 c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

P
R

S
 

se
ct

o
r 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 2
-3

 s
ta

ff
. 

 

�
 

T
h

a
t 

ca
n

 b
e

 a
n

 e
th

ic
a

l 
a

n
d

 p
ro

fi
ta

b
le

 

b
u

si
n

e
ss

 i
n

 t
h

e
 P

R
S

 –
 a

d
o

p
ti

n
g

 b
e

st
 

p
ra

ct
ic

e
 b

u
t 

a
d

d
in

g
 o

th
e

r 
co

re
 

v
a

lu
e

s.
 

 

�
 

T
h

is
 o

v
e

ra
ll

 p
ro

p
o

sa
l 

fi
ts

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 

co
m

m
e

rc
ia

li
sa

ti
o

n
 a

g
e

n
d

a
 o

f 
th

e
 

C
o

u
n

ci
l.

 

 

�
 

If
 a

d
o

p
te

d
, 

it
 c

o
u

ld
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 t

h
e

 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

w
e

ll
 f

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
e

x
p

a
n

si
o

n
 o

f 

th
e

 P
R

S
 i

n
 H

a
rr

o
w

 a
n

d
 i
n

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 

W
e

st
 L

o
n

d
o

n
. 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

co
re

 d
e

ta
il

s 

 T
h

e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

g
ro

w
th

 o
f 

th
e

 P
R

S
 i
s 

e
v
id

e
n

ce
d

 i
n

 

th
e

 t
e

n
u

re
 d

a
ta

 f
o

r 
H

a
rr

o
w

, 
Lo

n
d

o
n

, 
a

n
d

 

E
n

g
la

n
d

. 
 T

re
n

d
s 

in
 t

e
n

u
re

 a
n

d
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 

su
p

p
ly

 h
a

v
e

 m
a

d
e

 a
 h

is
to

ri
c 

sh
if

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 

a
s 

a
 t

e
n

u
re

 w
il
l 
co

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 b

e
 t

h
e

 c
h

o
ic

e
 o

r 

th
e

 o
n

ly
 o

p
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
a

 r
a

n
g

e
 o

f 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s.
  

M
o

re
 d

e
ta

il
e

d
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 i
s 

co
n

ta
in

e
d

 i
n

 

C
h

a
p

te
r 

4
 o

f 
th

e
 m

a
in

 r
e

p
o

rt
. 

 A
ll
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ci

ls
, 

a
n

d
 m

a
n

y
 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

, 

fa
ce

 i
n

cr
e

a
si

n
g

 p
re

ss
u

re
s 

in
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 

n
e

e
d

 a
n

d
 h

o
m

e
le

ss
n

e
ss

. 
 A

s 
th

e
 s

u
p

p
ly

 o
f 

so
ci

a
l 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 h

a
s 

re
d

u
ce

d
 i
n

 r
e

ce
n

t 
y
e

a
rs

, 

m
o

st
 C

o
u

n
ci

ls
 h

a
v
e

 s
o

u
g

h
t 

to
 b

u
il
d

 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s 

w
it

h
 p

ri
v
a

te
 L

a
n

d
lo

rd
s 

to
 

a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 a

s 
a

 s
o

u
rc

e
 o

f 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 s

u
p

p
ly

 

a
n

d
 t

o
 a

 c
e

rt
a

in
 e

xt
e

n
t 

th
is

 h
a

s 
b

e
e

n
 

su
cc

e
ss

fu
l.

  

 B
u

t 
th

e
re

 a
re

 l
im

it
s 

to
 t

h
is

 g
ro

w
th

 w
it

h
in

 a
 

v
e

ry
 c

o
m

p
e

ti
ti

v
e

 P
R

S
 a

n
d

 i
t 

m
a

k
e

s 
so

m
e

 

se
n

se
 t

o
 c

o
n

si
d

e
r 

a
 n

e
xt

 s
te

p
 –

 t
ra

d
in

g
 f

ro
m

 

a
 c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
p

o
si

ti
o

n
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 P
R

S
. 

 T
h

e
 

lo
g

ic
 o

n
 t

h
is

 i
s 

se
t 

o
u

t 
in

 c
h

a
p

te
r 

5
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

m
a

in
 r

e
p

o
rt

. 

53



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
2

 

T
h

e
 f

in
a

n
ci

a
l 
ca

se
 i
s 

b
a

se
d

 o
n

 a
 p

ru
d

e
n

t 

fi
n

a
n

ci
a

l 
m

o
d

e
l 
–

 s
e

t 
o

u
t 

in
 g

re
a

te
r 

d
e

ta
il
 i
n

 

ch
a

p
te

r 
7

. 
 

 T
h

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 m

o
d

e
l 
se

ts
 o

u
t 

a
 s

tr
o

n
g

 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y
 t

o
 b

re
a

k
 e

v
e

n
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

y
e

a
r 

1
 t

ra
d

in
g

 l
e

a
d

in
g

 t
o

 s
u

rp
lu

se
s 

in
 s

u
cc

e
e

d
in

g
 

y
e

a
rs

 t
h

a
t 

ca
n

 b
e

 t
a

k
e

n
 a

s 
a

 d
iv

id
e

n
d

 o
r 

b
e

 

u
se

d
 w

it
h

in
 h

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 t

o
 f

u
rt

h
e

r 
th

e
 

C
o

u
n

ci
l’

s 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 o

b
je

ct
iv

e
s.

  

 T
h

e
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 P

la
n

 i
s 

a
ls

o
 p

re
d

ic
a

te
d

 o
n

 t
h

re
e

 

p
ro

p
e

rt
y
 s

tr
a

n
d

s 
a

n
d

 t
o

 s
o

m
e

 e
xt

e
n

t 
th

a
t 

d
iv

e
rs

if
ie

d
 p

o
rt

fo
li
o

 r
e

d
u

ce
s 

th
e

 r
is

k
 

e
le

m
e

n
ts

 o
f 

th
e

 n
e

w
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
. 

 T
h

e
 P

R
S
 a

tt
ra

ct
s 

g
o

o
d

 a
n

d
 p

o
o

r 
p

u
b

li
ci

ty
 –

 

o
ft

e
n

 i
n

 e
q

u
a

l 
m

e
a

su
re

. 
 T

h
e

re
 a

re
 s

o
m

e
 

e
xa

m
p

le
s 

o
f 

v
e

ry
 p

o
o

r 
a

n
d

 i
n

 s
o

m
e

 c
a

se
s 

d
a

n
g

e
ro

u
s 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
s,

 w
it

h
 s

o
m

e
 

in
st

a
n

ce
s 

o
f 

a
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 p

ro
d

u
ct

 a
t 

th
e

 

m
a

rg
in

s 
o

f 
cr

im
in

a
li
ty

. 
 B

u
t 

th
e

re
 i
s 

a
 s

tr
o

n
g

 

ca
se

 t
o

 b
e

 m
a

d
e

 f
o

r 
a

 v
ib

ra
n

t 
P

R
S
 w

it
h

 

e
xc

e
ll
e

n
t 

p
ra

ct
ic

e
 t

h
a

t 
is

 w
e

ll
 m

a
n

a
g

e
d

 f
o

r 

La
n

d
lo

rd
s 

a
n

d
 T

e
n

a
n

ts
. 

 

 T
h

e
re

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 r

e
co

g
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 

co
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 b
y
 a

ll
 p

a
rt

s 
o

f 
th

e
 P

R
S
 –

 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 L
a

n
d

lo
rd

s;
 s

e
ct

o
r-

w
id

e
 n

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

a
g

e
n

ci
e

s;
 A

g
e

n
ts

 -
 i
n

 r
a

is
in

g
 s

e
ct

o
r 

st
a

n
d

a
rd

s 

a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

 a
n

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 p

ro
fi

le
. 

 

 E
q

u
a

ll
y
, 

ce
n

tr
a

l 
g

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
a

s 
w

e
ll
 a

s 
lo

ca
l 

a
n

d
 r

e
g

io
n

a
l 
g

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
h

a
ve

 s
o

u
g

h
t 

to
 

b
u

il
d

 a
 c

o
n

se
n

su
s 

o
n

 b
e

st
 p

ra
ct

ic
e

 a
n

d
 

ta
ck

le
d

 s
e

ct
o

r 
e

le
m

e
n

ts
 t

h
a

t 
fe

a
tu

re
 v

e
ry

 

p
o

o
r 

p
ra

ct
ic

e
 –

 o
ft

e
n

 a
t 

h
ig

h
 c

o
st

 t
o

 t
e

n
a

n
ts

 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 i
m

a
g

e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
ct

o
r.

 

 C
h

a
p

te
r 

6
 o

f 
th

e
 m

a
in

 r
e

p
o

rt
 s

e
ts

 o
u

t 
a

ll
 

th
e

se
 i
ss

u
e

s.
  

 Le
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
ts

 h
a

v
e

 f
a

ce
d

 s
o

m
e

 c
ri

ti
ci

sm
 f

o
r 

b
u

si
n

e
ss

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 t

h
a

t 
is

 o
ft

e
n

 a
d

o
p

te
d

 

to
w

a
rd

s 
La

n
d

lo
rd

s 
a

n
d

 T
e

n
a

n
ts

. 

 T
h

e
 e

v
id

e
n

ce
 i
n

 H
a

rr
o

w
 f

ro
m

 o
u

r 
w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 

La
n

d
lo

rd
s 

is
 t

h
e

re
 i
s 

ro
o

m
 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r 

fo
r 

a
 

n
e

w
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
 t

h
a

t 
re

co
g

n
is

e
s 

a
 

fr
e

sh
 a

p
p

ro
a

ch
 b

a
se

d
 o

n
 s

o
u

n
d

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

 

e
th

ic
s 

fo
r 

La
n

d
lo

rd
s 

a
n

d
 T

e
n

a
n

ts
 –

 w
it

h
in

 a
n

 

“o
ff

e
r”

 t
o

 L
a

n
d

lo
rd

s 
th

a
t 

is
 c

o
m

p
e

ti
ti

v
e

. 

 T
h

e
 o

th
e

r 
p

a
rt

s 
o

f 
th

e
 m

a
in

 r
e

p
o

rt
 

co
n

tr
ib

u
te

 t
o

 t
h

is
 h

is
to

ri
c 

n
e

xt
 s

te
p

 f
o

r 

H
a

rr
o

w
 t

o
 s

e
t 

u
p

 a
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y
 t

h
a

t 
ca

n
 

o
p

e
ra

te
 w
it
h
in

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 –

 b
e

in
g

 c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l,

 

g
e

n
e

ra
ti

n
g

 a
 f

in
a

n
ci

a
l 
re

tu
rn

 b
u

t 
co

n
tr

ib
u

ti
n

g
 

to
 a

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 P

R
S
, 

o
ff

e
ri

n
g

 a
n

 e
th

ic
a

l 

b
u

si
n

e
ss

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 f

o
r 

La
n

d
lo

rd
s 

a
n

d
 T

e
n

a
n

ts
. 

 

 P
ro

je
ct

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

–
 k

e
y

 i
ss

u
e

s 

 F
ro

m
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

0
1

5
 a

 p
ro

je
ct

 h
a

s 
b

e
e

n
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

d
 b

y
 a

 ‘
H

a
rr

o
w

 L
e

tt
in

g
s 

A
g

e
n

cy
 

P
ro

je
ct

 B
o

a
rd

’,
 c

h
a

ir
e

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

M
e

m
b

e
r 

fo
r 

H
o

u
si

n
g

, 
w

it
h

 k
e

y
 s

e
n

io
r 

o
ff

ic
e

rs
 

p
lu

s 
a

n
 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
co

n
su

lt
a

n
t 

fr
o

m
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0

1
5

, 
to

 w
o

rk
 s

p
e

ci
fi

ca
ll
y
 o

n
 t

h
e

 f
e

a
si

b
il
it

y
 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 a
ri

si
n

g
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 r

e
p

o
rt

. 

 T
h

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 r

e
p

o
rt

 h
a

s 
b

e
e

n
 d

e
li
v
e

re
d

 

w
it

h
in

 a
 p

ro
je

ct
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
e

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t 

th
a

t 
h

a
s 

e
n

co
m

p
a

ss
e

d
: 

 

�
 

A
 p

ro
je

ct
 p

la
n

 t
o

 d
e

li
v
e

r 
th

e
 

F
e

a
si

b
il
it

y 
A

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 

su
b

se
q

u
e

n
t 

B
u

si
n

e
ss

 R
e

p
o

rt
 

�
 

A
 R

is
k
 M

a
p

 a
n

d
 r

is
k
 r

e
g

is
te

r 

�
 

A
n

 a
g

re
e

d
 s

e
t 

o
f 

D
e

li
v
e

ra
b

le
s 

fo
r 

th
e

 

F
e

a
si

b
il
it

y 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 r

e
p

o
rt

 

�
 

F
in

a
n

ci
a

l 
p

ro
je

ct
io

n
s 

a
n

d
 f

in
a

n
ci

a
l 

m
o

d
e

li
n

g
 

�
 

R
e

v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 P

ri
v
a

te
 R

e
n

te
d

 s
e

ct
o

r 

54



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
3

 

�
 

A
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

a
 c

o
m

p
e

ti
ti

v
e

 p
o

si
ti

o
n

 

to
 t

ra
d

e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r 

�
 

A
 s

u
rv

e
y
 o

f 
H

a
rr

o
w

 l
a

n
d

lo
rd

s 
a

n
d

 

fo
rm

s 
o

f 
e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 L
a

n
d

lo
rd

s 

�
 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 N

a
ti

o
n

a
l 
La

n
d

lo
rd

 

a
g

e
n

ci
e

s 
re

p
re

se
n

ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 s
e

ct
o

r 

�
 

Le
g

a
l 
a

d
v
ic

e
 o

n
 c

o
m

p
a

n
y
 f

o
rm

a
ti

o
n

 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 t
o

 t
ra

d
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

se
ct

o
r 

�
 

A
 s

e
n

se
 o

f 
re

q
u

ir
e

d
 b

e
st

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 

�
 

A
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

ct
 o

n
 e

q
u

a
li
ti

e
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

 f
e

a
si

b
il
it

y
 a

n
d

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

a
b

il
it

y
 t

o
 t

ra
d

e
 v

ia
 a

 c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

co
m

p
a

n
y 

�
 

A
n

y
 i
m

p
a

ct
 o

n
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

ci
l’

s 
cu

rr
e

n
t 

a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

v
is

-à
-v

is
 t

h
e

 p
ri

v
a

te
 r

e
n

te
d

 

se
ct

o
r 

a
n

d
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 

la
n

d
lo

rd
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

 H
e

lp
2

Le
t 

sc
h

e
m

e
 

�
 

IT
 a

n
d

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

si
d

e
ra

ti
o

n
s 

in
 l
in

e
 

w
it

h
 a

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

 s
ta

rt
 u

p
 

�
 

K
e

y
 o

p
e

ra
ti

o
n

a
l 
fa

ct
o

rs
 i
n

 s
e

tt
in

g
 u

p
 a

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
b

u
si

n
e

ss
 t

h
a

t 
w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

b
le

 

to
 c

o
m

p
e

te
 i
n

 t
h

e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

a
n

d
 b

e
 

re
co

g
n

is
e

d
 a

s 
a

n
 e

th
ic

a
l,

 h
ig

h
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
in

g
 a

n
d

 m
o

d
e

l 
b

u
si

n
e

ss
 

p
ra

ct
ic

e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r 

 

T
h

e
 P

ro
je

ct
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

h
a

s 
co

n
cl

u
d

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

h
e

 

ca
n

 r
e

co
m

m
e

n
d

 a
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 R

e
p

o
rt

 t
h

a
t 

ju
st

if
ie

s 
th

e
 s

e
tt

in
g

 u
p

 o
f 

a
 L

im
it

e
d

 C
o

m
p

a
n

y
 

th
a

t 
ca

n
 o

p
e

ra
te

 a
s 

a
 c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
e

n
ti

ty
 i
n

 

th
e

 p
ri

v
a

te
 s

e
ct

o
r 

le
tt

in
g

s 
m

a
rk

e
t 

p
ri

m
a

ri
ly

 i
n

 

H
a

rr
o

w
 b

u
t 

a
ls

o
 i
n

 o
th

e
r 

a
re

a
s 

o
u

ts
id

e
 o

f 
th

e
 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 w
h

e
re

 l
e

tt
in

g
s 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

a
re

 

g
a

in
e

d
. 

  

 S
e

tt
in

g
 u

p
 a

 “
H

a
rr

o
w

 L
e

tt
in

g
s 

A
g

e
n

cy
” 

a
t 

th
is

 

ju
n

ct
u

re
 a

s 
a

 c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
co

n
ce

rn
 f

o
ll
o

w
s 

th
e

 

e
st

a
b

li
sh

e
d

 m
a

rk
e

t 
tr

e
n

d
s 

in
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 s

u
p

p
ly

 

b
u

t 
it

 a
ls

o
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
s 

th
e

 n
e

w
 l
e

tt
in

g
s 

co
m

p
a

n
y
 t

o
 a

cc
e

ss
 a

re
a

s 
o

f 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 

in
te

n
si

fi
ca

ti
o

n
 i
n

 H
a

rr
o

w
 a

n
d

 w
e

st
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 

th
a

t 
a

re
 c

o
m

in
g

 o
n

 s
tr

e
a

m
 o

v
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
xt

 3
-

1
0

 y
e

a
rs

. 

 In
 r

e
co

m
m

e
n

d
in

g
 t

h
is

 p
o

si
ti

o
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 P

ro
je

ct
 

B
o

a
rd

 s
o

m
e

 k
e

y
 q

u
e

st
io

n
s 

h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 

co
n

si
d

e
re

d
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
se

 a
re

 h
ig

h
li
g

h
te

d
 i
n

 t
h

is
 

E
xe

cu
ti

v
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

. 
  

 K
e

y
 q

u
e

st
io

n
s 

to
 c

o
n

si
d

e
r 

 

•
 

Is
 t

h
is

 a
 p

ro
p

e
r 

a
n

d
 l
e

g
a

l 
u

se
 o

f 

p
o

w
e

rs
 a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l?
 

 

•
 

Is
 t

h
e

 p
ro

p
o

sa
l 
in

 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 e
m

e
rg

in
g

 

b
e

st
 p

ra
ct

ic
e

 t
o

w
a

rd
s 

th
e

 p
ri

v
a

te
 

re
n

te
d

 s
e

ct
o

r?
 

 

•
 

H
a

v
e

 t
h

e
 R

is
k
s 

b
e

e
n

 f
u

ll
y 

a
ss

e
ss

e
d

 

a
n

d
 s

u
ff

ic
ie

n
tl

y
 c

o
n

si
d

e
re

d
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 

re
co

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s?

 

 

•
 

C
a

n
 t

h
e

 a
ll
o

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

st
a

rt
 u

p
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 

b
e

 j
u

st
if

ie
d

 a
n

d
 a

ll
o

ca
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
e

 

p
ro

p
o

se
d

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

 v
e

n
tu

re
?
 

 

•
 

Is
 t

h
e

re
 a

 s
tr

o
n

g
 e

le
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
“I

n
v
e

st
 

to
 S

a
v
e

” 
in

 a
n

y
 p

ro
p

o
sa

ls
 g

e
n

e
ra

te
d

 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e

 p
ro

je
ct

?
 

 

•
 

W
il
l 
th

e
re

 b
e

 a
 p

o
si

ti
v
e

 i
m

p
a

ct
 o

n
 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 n
e

e
d

 i
n

 H
a

rr
o

w
 a

n
d

 

co
n

ta
in

in
g

 t
h

e
 g

ro
w

in
g

 H
o

m
e

le
ss

n
e

ss
 

co
st

s?
 

 

•
 

A
re

 t
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
se

d
 o

p
e

ra
ti

o
n

a
l 

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 r
ig

h
t 

fo
r 

th
e

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

?
 

 

•
 

Is
 t

h
e

 t
im

e
li
n

e
 t

o
 s

ta
rt

 t
h

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 

re
a

li
st

ic
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 p
ro

p
o

sa
ls

?
 

 

55



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
4

 

•
 

D
o

e
s 

th
is

 p
ro

p
o

sa
l 
co

n
ta

in
 t

h
e

 

re
q

u
ir

e
d

 s
y
n

e
rg

y
 a

n
d

 s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 f
it

 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l’
s 

o
v
e

ra
rc

h
in

g
 

a
g

e
n

d
a

?
 

  C
h

o
ic

e
 i

n
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 o
p

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

m
a

n
y
 p

e
o

p
le

 h
a

v
e

 

b
e

co
m

e
 v

e
ry

 d
if

fi
cu

lt
 a

n
d

 f
o

r 
so

m
e

 –
a

re
 a

 

b
u

rd
e

n
 o

n
 t

h
e

ir
 l
iv

e
s.

  
M

u
ch

 h
a

s 
b

e
e

n
 

w
ri

tt
e

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

th
e

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 m
a

rk
e

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

p
re

ss
u

re
s 

th
a

t 
a

re
 e

v
id

e
n

t 
in

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 

so
u

th
-e

a
st

 o
f 

E
n

g
la

n
d

. 
  

 

 
F
ir

st
ly

, 
it

 i
s 

cl
e

a
r 

th
a

t 
a

cc
e

ss
 i
s 

b
e

in
g

 

re
st

ri
ct

e
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 o

w
n

e
r 

o
cc

u
p

ie
d

 s
e

ct
o

r 

th
ro

u
g

h
 r

e
st

ri
ct

io
n

s 
o

n
 g

a
in

in
g

 m
o

rt
g

a
g

e
 

fi
n

a
n

ce
 a

n
d

 i
n

 m
e

e
ti

n
g

 h
ig

h
e

r 
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
 

v
a

lu
e

s.
  
 

 S
e

co
n

d
ly

, 
th

e
 s

o
ci

a
l 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 s

e
ct

o
r 

h
a

s 
h

u
g

e
 

a
n

d
 u

n
m

e
t 

d
e

m
a

n
d

 w
it

h
 l
o

w
e

r 
le

v
e

ls
 o

f 
n

e
w

 

su
p

p
ly

 c
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 p

re
v
io

u
s 

y
e

a
rs

 a
n

d
 

re
su

rg
e

n
ce

 o
f 

R
T

B
. 

  

 In
 t

h
a

t 
sc

e
n

a
ri

o
, 

th
e

 p
ri

v
a

te
 r

e
n

te
d

 s
e

ct
o

r 
in

 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 h
a

s 
g

ro
w

n
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

tl
y
 t

o
 t

h
e

 p
o

in
t 

th
a

t 
it

 c
o

n
ta

in
s 

m
o

re
 h

o
m

e
s 

th
a

n
 t

h
e

 s
o

ci
a

l 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 s
e

ct
o

r 
–

 a
 h

is
to

ri
c 

ti
p

p
in

g
 p

o
in

t 
in

 

su
p

p
ly

 a
n

d
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 c

h
o

ic
e

 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 b
a

ck
 

to
w

a
rd

s 
th

e
 1

9
5

0
’s

. 

 A
ch

ie
v
in

g
 a

 w
o

rk
in

g
 s

y
n

e
rg

y
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

ri
v
a

te
 

re
n

te
d

 s
e

ct
o

r 
is

 w
e

ll
 s

e
t 

o
u

t 
in

 H
a

rr
o

w
’s

 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

n
d

 P
ri

v
a

te
 S

e
ct

o
r 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

 T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
a

lr
e

a
d

y
 r

e
co

g
n

is
e

s 
th

e
 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

ce
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ri
v
a

te
 r

e
n

te
d

 s
e

ct
o

r 
a

s 
a

 

su
p

p
ly

 o
f 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 n

o
ti

n
g

 t
h

e
 

co
n

st
ra

in
ts

 o
n

 t
h

e
 s

u
p

p
ly

 o
f 

so
ci

a
l 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 f
in

a
n

ci
a

l 
b

a
rr

ie
rs

 i
n

 p
e

o
p

le
 a

cc
e

ss
in

g
 

th
e

 c
u

rr
e

n
t 

o
w

n
e

r 
o

cc
u

p
ie

d
 s

e
ct

o
r.

  

 

T
h

e
 d

o
m

in
a

n
ce

 o
f 

th
e

 P
R

S
, 

a
cc

o
rd

in
g

 t
o

 

in
d

u
st

ry
 e

xp
e

rt
s 

a
n

d
 a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 d
a

ta
, 

is
 

u
n

li
k
e

ly
 t

o
 c

h
a

n
g

e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 n

e
xt

 5
-1

0
 y

e
a

rs
 

a
lt

h
o

u
g

h
 s

e
v
e

re
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 m

a
rk

e
t 

fl
u

ct
u

a
ti

o
n

s 

sh
o

u
ld

 n
e

v
e

r 
b

e
 r

u
le

d
 o

u
t.

  

 T
h

e
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 a
s 

a
 w

o
rl

d
-c

la
ss

 c
it

y
 

is
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

h
e

 t
re

n
d

 o
f 

fo
re

ig
n

 

in
v
e

st
m

e
n

t 
ca

p
it

a
l 
in

 n
e

w
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 m

a
k
in

g
 

p
ro

p
e

rt
ie

s 
u

n
a

ff
o

rd
a

b
le

 t
o

 m
a

n
y
 s

e
e

k
in

g
 t

o
 

b
u

y
. 

 T
h

is
 h

a
s 

b
e

e
n

 o
n

e
 i
m

p
o

rt
a

n
t 

a
n

d
 

sa
li
e

n
t 

fa
ct

o
r 

in
 t

h
e

 c
o

n
se

q
u

e
n

t 
e

xp
a

n
si

o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 P
R

S
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

a
p

it
a

l.
 

 H
a

rr
o

w
 h

a
s 

a
n

 e
xc

e
ll
e

n
t 

tr
a

ck
 r

e
co

rd
 o

f 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 L
a

n
d

lo
rd

s 
to

 s
o

u
rc

e
 p

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s 

in
 t

h
e

 P
R

S
 t

o
 o

ff
e

r 
a

 p
a

ck
a

g
e

 o
f 

m
e

a
su

re
s 

fo
r 

h
o

m
e

s 
to

 b
e

 l
e

t 
a

t 
LH

A
 r

a
te

s 
–

 a
s 

d
e

m
o

n
st

ra
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 c
u

rr
e

n
t 

H
e

lp
2

Le
t 

sc
h

e
m

e
. 

  

 T
h

is
 w

il
l 
co

n
ti

n
u

e
 b

u
t 

th
e

 g
ro

w
th

 i
n

 p
ro

p
e

rt
y
 

v
a

lu
e

s 
a

n
d

 d
e

m
a

n
d

 m
e

a
n

s 
th

a
t 

th
e

 g
a

p
 

b
e

tw
e

e
n

 L
H

A
 r

a
te

s 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
re

n
t 

y
ie

ld
 i
s 

g
ro

w
in

g
 –

 m
e

a
n

in
g

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 H
e

lp
2

Le
t 

sc
h

e
m

e
 i
s 

b
e

in
g

 f
o

rc
e

d
 t

o
 l
o

o
k
 a

t 
la

n
d

lo
rd

 

o
p

ti
o

n
s 

o
u

ts
id

e
 o

f 
H

a
rr

o
w

 a
n

d
 h

a
s 

a
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 

fo
cu

s 
in

 B
ir

m
in

g
h

a
m

. 

56



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
5

 

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
n

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y
 t

o
 m

e
rg

e
 t

h
e

 

H
e

lp
2

Le
t 

fu
n

ct
io

n
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
sa

ls
 f

o
r 

se
tt

in
g

 u
p

 a
 H

a
rr

o
w

 L
e

tt
in

g
s 

A
g

e
n

cy
 a

n
d

 t
h

is
 

is
 d

is
cu

ss
e

d
 i
n

 g
re

a
te

r 
d

e
ta

il
 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

. 
  

 A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

K
e

y
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e
 f

e
a

si
b

il
it

y
 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 

re
p

o
rt

 

 Le
g

a
ll
y
 –

 t
h

e
re

 i
s 

n
o

 i
m

p
e

d
im

e
n

t 
to

 t
h

e
 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
m

a
k
in

g
 t

h
e

 d
e

ci
si

o
n

 t
o

 s
e

t 
u

p
 a

 

p
ri

v
a

te
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 p
u

rp
o

se
 o

f 
tr

a
d

in
g

 

a
s 

a
 L

e
tt

in
g

s 
a

g
e

n
t.

  
T

h
e

 m
o

st
 r

e
a

d
il
y
 

a
d

o
p

ta
b

le
 f

o
rm

 w
o

u
ld

 b
e

 a
 c

o
m

p
a

n
y
 l
im

it
e

d
 

b
y
 s

h
a

re
s,

 w
h

ic
h

 w
o

u
ld

 b
e

 w
h

o
ll
y
 o

w
n

e
d

 b
y
 

th
e

 c
o

u
n

ci
l.

 

 A
s 

n
o

te
d

 a
b

o
v
e

, 
tr

e
n

d
s 

fr
o

m
 a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 d
a

ta
 

su
g

g
e

st
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 P

R
S
 i
s 

o
n

 c
o

u
rs

e
 f

o
r 

a
 

fu
n

d
a

m
e

n
ta

l 
te

n
u

re
 s

h
if

t 
in

 E
n

g
la

n
d

. 
 T

h
e

 

P
R

S
 i
s 

b
e

co
m

in
g

 t
h

e
 d

o
m

in
a

n
t 

te
n

u
re

 -
 f

o
r 

y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 n

e
w

ly
 f

o
rm

in
g

 

h
o

u
se

h
o

ld
s.

  
T

h
is

 i
s 

a
s 

a
 r

e
su

lt
 o

f 
ch

o
ic

e
 o

r 

n
e

ce
ss

it
y
. 

  

 In
 H

a
rr

o
w

, 
a

s 
a

n
 o

u
te

r 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

, 
w

it
h

 

a
 r

e
la

ti
v
e

ly
 s

m
a

ll
 s

o
ci

a
l 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 s

e
ct

o
r,

 t
h

e
 

te
n

u
re

 s
h

if
t 

to
w

a
rd

s 
th

e
 P

R
S
 i
s 

n
o

te
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

n
d

 P
ri

v
a

te
 S

e
ct

o
r 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 –

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 t

h
e

 n
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
d

a
ta

 t
re

n
d

s.
 

 O
th

e
r 

fa
ct

o
rs

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 i
n

cr
e

a
se

, 

th
e

 c
o

n
st

ri
ct

io
n

 o
f 

a
v
a

il
a

b
le

 m
o

rt
g

a
g

e
 

fi
n

a
n

ce
, 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 c
h

a
n

g
in

g
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
so

ci
a

l 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 s
u

p
p

ly
 m

e
a

n
s 

th
a

t 
th

is
 o

v
e

ra
ll
 d

a
ta

 

tr
e

n
d

 i
s 

li
k
e

ly
 t

o
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

. 

 O
f 

co
u

rs
e

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 

m
a

rk
e

ts
 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 b
u

t 
th

e
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 o

f 

H
a

rr
o

w
 a

s 
a

n
 o

u
te

r 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

 m
e

a
n

s 

th
a

t 
it

 m
u

st
 l
o

o
k
 t

o
 t

h
e

 d
e

m
a

n
d

/s
u

p
p

ly
 

d
y
n

a
m

ic
s 

in
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 a

s 
b

e
in

g
 a

 c
ru

ci
a

l 
fa

ct
o

r.
 

 S
e

tt
in

g
 u

p
 a

 H
a

rr
o

w
 L

e
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

co
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
le

tt
in

g
s 

se
ct

o
r 

w
o

u
ld

 b
e

 v
ie

w
e

d
 

a
s 

a
 g

ro
u

n
d

b
re

a
k
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

b
y
 a

 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 l
o

ca
l 
a

u
th

o
ri

ty
. 

  

 M
a

n
y
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 l
o

ca
l 
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s 
a

re
 a

t 
th

e
 

p
o

in
t 

o
f 

a
 “

H
e

lp
2

Le
t”

 m
o

d
e

l 
o

f 
v
a

ri
o

u
s 

h
u

e
s 

in
 s

e
e

k
in

g
 g

re
a

te
r 

a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 p
ri

v
a

te
 

La
n

d
lo

rd
s 

to
 g

a
in

 s
u

p
p

ly
 i
n

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

v
a

ri
o

u
s 

in
ce

n
ti

v
e

s 
–

 r
e

d
u

ci
n

g
 h

o
m

e
le

ss
n

e
ss

 

a
n

d
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 n

e
e

d
. 

 

 

B
u

t 
fo

r 
H

a
rr

o
w

, 
w

it
h

 e
st

a
b

li
sh

e
d

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 i
n

 

th
is

 s
e

ct
o

r,
 i
t 

is
 c

le
a

r 
th

a
t 

th
e

 H
e

lp
2

Le
t 

m
o

d
e

l 
is

 g
o

in
g

 a
g

a
in

st
 t

h
e

 g
ra

in
 o

f 
m

a
rk

e
t 

fo
rc

e
s 

a
n

d
 w

il
l 
in

cr
e

a
si

n
g

ly
 s

tr
u

g
g

le
 t

o
 g

a
in

 a
 

su
p

p
ly

 o
f 

h
o

m
e

s 
in

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 i
n

 H
a

rr
o

w
 a

n
d

 

su
rr

o
u

n
d

in
g

 a
re

a
s 

a
t 

LH
A

 l
e

v
e

ls
. 

 T
h

is
 i
s 

le
a

d
in

g
 t

o
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
s 

e
n

te
ri

n
g

 “
b

id
d

in
g

 w
a

r”
 

w
h

ic
h

 i
s 

u
lt

im
a

te
ly

 c
o

u
n

te
r 

p
ro

d
u

ct
iv

e
. 

 A
t 

th
is

 p
o

in
t,

 t
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
 q

u
e

st
io

n
 o

f 
h

o
w

 t
o

 

m
o

v
e

 f
o

rw
a

rd
 i
n

 s
e

cu
ri

n
g

 a
 s

tr
o

n
g

e
r 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

 

in
 t

h
e

 P
R

S
 t

a
k
in

g
 a

cc
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 

a
n

d
 m

a
rk

e
t 

fo
rc

e
s 

p
lu

s 
th

e
 t

re
n

d
s 

in
 s

u
p

p
ly

 

th
a

t 
a

re
 t

h
e

 c
ri

ti
ca

l 
fa

ct
o

rs
. 

 T
h

e
 f

e
a

si
b

il
it

y
 a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

t 
h

a
s 

co
n

si
d

e
re

d
 

th
a

t 
th

e
re

 i
s 

ro
o

m
 i
n

 t
h

e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

p
la

ce
 f

o
r 

a
 

Le
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
t 

th
a

t 
d

o
e

s 
h

a
v
e

 a
 w

e
ll
-

co
n

si
d

e
re

d
 a

n
d

 a
tt

ra
ct

iv
e

 m
a

rk
e

t 
o

ff
e

r 
to

 

La
n

d
lo

rd
s.

  
 

 It
 m

a
k
e

s 
a

 g
re

a
t 

d
e

a
l 
o

f 
se

n
se

 t
o

 b
u

il
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
 

e
xp

e
ri

e
n

ce
 o

f 
H

e
lp

2
Le

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 p

o
si

ti
v
e

 

w
o

rk
in

g
 e

xp
e

ri
e

n
ce

s 
th

a
t 

h
a

ve
 b

e
e

n
 g

a
in

e
d

. 
 

T
h

is
 w

il
l 
h

a
v
e

 t
o

 m
e

sh
 t

h
e

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

to
 

m
e

e
t 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 n
e

e
d

 b
u

t 
a

ls
o

 o
ff

e
r 

a
 

co
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
se

rv
ic

e
 t

o
 L

a
n

d
lo

rd
s 

a
n

d
 

T
e

n
a

n
ts

. 

57



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
6

 

A
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 s

ta
rt

 u
p

 w
il
l 
re

q
u

ir
e

 w
o

rk
in

g
 

ca
p

it
a

l 
b

e
fo

re
 a

 w
o

rk
in

g
 p

ro
fi

t 
re

tu
rn

 c
a

n
 b

e
 

g
e

n
e

ra
te

d
. 

 T
h

is
 i
s 

fu
n

d
a

m
e

n
ta

ll
y
 l
in

k
e

d
 t

o
 

th
e

 r
is

k
 a

p
p

e
ti

te
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
in

 a
ss

e
ss

in
g

 

th
is

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

 p
ro

p
o

sa
l.

  

 O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

ll
y
, 

th
e

 P
ro

je
ct

 t
e

a
m

 h
a

s 
a

g
re

e
d

 

th
a

t 
th

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 v

e
n

tu
re

 n
e

e
d

s 
to

 s
ta

rt
 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e

 p
o

si
ti

o
n

 o
f:

 

•
 

a
 r

e
ta

il
 s

h
o

p
 f

ro
n

t 
se

rv
ic

e
 b

a
se

d
 i
n

 

ce
n

tr
a

l 
H

a
rr

o
w

 

•
 

a
 w

e
b

si
te

 t
h

a
t 

re
fl

e
ct

s 
a

 l
e

a
d

in
g

 e
d

g
e

 

p
o

in
t 

in
 t

h
e

 s
e

ct
o

r 

•
 

st
ro

n
g

 s
e

n
se

 o
f 

p
u

b
li
ci

ty
, 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

s 
a

n
d

 b
ra

n
d

in
g

 

•
 

co
m

p
a

ti
b

il
it

y
 i
n

 t
h

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s 

o
f 

H
e

lp
2

Le
t 

a
n

d
 a

 

p
ro

p
o

se
d

 H
a

rr
o

w
 L

e
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

 

 

 

F
in

a
n

ce
 a

n
d

 R
is

k
 

 

 
 F
in

a
n

ce
 a

n
d

 R
is

k
 a

re
 k

e
y
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

is
 

b
u

si
n

e
ss

 p
ro

p
o

sa
l.

  
T

h
e

 R
is

k
 p

ro
fi

le
 w

il
l 
o

n
ly

 

le
v
e

l 
o

ff
 o

n
ce

 t
h

e
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
 s

ta
rt

s 
to

 t
ra

d
e

 

a
n

d
 g

e
n

e
ra

te
s 

a
 r

e
tu

rn
 b

y
 t

h
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
y
e

a
r 

1
 –

 

u
n

d
e

rp
in

n
e

d
 b

y
 a

 Y
e

a
r 

1
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 P

la
n

. 

 A
lt

h
o

u
g

h
 t

h
e

 r
is

k
 f

a
ct

o
rs

 a
re

 h
ig

h
e

st
 i
n

 y
e

a
r 

1
 –

 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 s
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

p
a

st
 

th
a

t 
y
e

a
r 

a
s 

LB
 H

a
rr

o
w

’s
 o

w
n

 P
R

S
 i
n

v
e

st
m

e
n

t 

co
m

e
s 

o
n

 s
tr

e
a

m
 a

n
d

 P
R

S
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
a

re
 

m
a

d
e

 a
v
a

il
a

b
le

 i
n

 H
a

rr
o

w
 a

n
d

 w
e

st
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 

g
e

n
e

ra
ll
y
 (

H
o

u
si

n
g

 Z
o

n
e

 a
n

d
 I

n
te

n
si

fi
ca

ti
o

n
 

a
re

a
s)

 b
u

t 
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl

y
 i
n

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 

in
te

n
si

fi
ca

ti
o

n
 a

re
a

s 
e

.g
. 

O
ld

 O
a

k
 c

o
m

m
o

n
. 

 T
h

e
 F

e
a

si
b

il
it

y
 h

a
s 

co
n

cl
u

d
e

d
 t

h
a

t 
su

cc
e

ss
 o

f 

th
e

 b
u

si
n

e
ss

 w
il
l 
b

e
 e

n
h

a
n

ce
d

 i
f 

th
e

 

co
m

p
a

n
y
 e

m
b

ra
ce

s 
th

e
 p

ri
v
a

te
 s

e
ct

o
r 

cu
lt

u
re

 a
n

d
 m

e
n

ta
li
ty

. 
 T

h
a

t 
w

il
l 
h

a
v
e

 a
n

 

im
p

a
ct

 o
n

 r
e

cr
u

it
m

e
n

t;
 t

h
e

 s
ta

ff
in

g
 

st
ru

ct
u

re
; 

p
a

y
 a

n
d

 r
e

w
a

rd
 i
n

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y
. 

 H
a

rr
o

w
 h

a
s 

a
n

 o
p

ti
o

n
 t

o
 b

e
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
a

t 

m
a

rk
e

t.
  
 

 

 
   

0123456

0
2

4
6

8

R
I
S

K
 P

R
O

F
I
L

E
 

R
IS
K

P
ro

je
ct

 

R
e

v
ie

wC
a

b
in

e
t

R
e

p
o

rt
 &

D
e

ci
si

o
n

C
o

m
p

a
n

y
 

F
o

rm
a

ti
o

n

Y
e

a
r 

1
 

Y
e

a
r 

1
 S

e
t 

u
p

&
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 

M
id

-
y

e
a

r 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t

O
u

r 
s

e
ll

in
g

 p
o

in
t C
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t  

–
 h
e
re
 t
o
 s
ta
y
 

E
th

o
s
 a

n
d

 

C
o

r
e

 v
a
lu

e
s

 

L
o
ca
l  K

n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 

T
ra
ck
 

R
e
co
rd
 

In
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 f
o
r
 

L
a
n
d
lo
r
d
s
 a
n
d
 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 

C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
si
v
e
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
, Q

u
a
li
ty
 

A
ss
u
re
d
 

58



E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

T
O

W
A

R
D

S
 A

 H
A

R
R

O
W

 L
E

T
T

IN
G

S
 A

G
E

N
C

Y
 

 
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
7

 

C
o

n
cl

u
si

o
n

 t
o

 E
x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 

 A
 “

H
a

rr
o

w
 L

e
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

” 
ca

n
 b

e
 a

 f
o

rc
e

 

fo
r 

g
o

o
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r 

a
li
g

n
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 b

e
st

 

in
 c

la
ss

 a
n

d
 m

o
v
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r 

a
n

d
 

n
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
a

g
e

n
ci

e
s 

th
a

t 
a

re
 d

o
in

g
 s

o
 m

u
ch

 t
o

 

p
ro

m
o

te
 t

h
e

 s
e

ct
o

r 
a

n
d

 d
ri

v
e

 u
p

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s.
  
 

 A
n

 A
g

e
n

cy
 o

p
e

ra
ti

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 

se
ct

o
r 

co
u

ld
 m

e
rg

e
 t

h
e

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 o
f 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 n
e

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 a

s 

w
e

ll
 a

s 
p

ro
v
id

in
g

 a
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 p

ro
d

u
ct

 t
h

a
t 

g
e

n
e

ra
te

s 
a

 f
in

a
n

ci
a

l 
re

tu
rn

 t
o

 t
h

e
 A

g
e

n
cy

. 
  

 T
h

e
re

 i
s 

so
m

e
 s

e
n

se
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 d

yn
a

m
ic

s 
o

f 
th

e
 

P
R

S
 m

a
rk

e
t 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e

 c
o

n
si

d
e

re
d

 a
s 

a
 w

h
o

le
 

a
n

d
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
–

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 a
 c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 

Le
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

 –
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 b

e
tt

e
r 

p
la

ce
d

 t
o

 

e
n

g
a

g
e

 a
n

d
 r

e
cr

u
it

 L
a

n
d

lo
rd

s 
fo

r 
a

 m
o

re
 

co
m

p
le

te
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

le
tt

in
g

s 
in

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r.

 

 A
 n

e
w

 A
g

e
n

cy
 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

e
ct

o
r 

co
u

ld
 s

e
t 

it
’s

 o
w

n
 

p
a

th
 o

f 
e

th
ic

a
l 
le

tt
in

g
s 

th
a

t 
a

re
 c

o
n

si
st

e
n

t 

w
it

h
 g

e
n

e
ra

ti
n

g
 a

 h
e

a
lt

h
y
 r

a
te

 o
f 

re
tu

rn
 –

 

m
a

xi
m

is
in

g
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
fo

r 
la

n
d

lo
rd

s 
a

n
d

 

d
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 a

 f
a

ir
 a

n
d

 c
o

st
 e

ff
e

ct
iv

e
 l
e

tt
in

g
s 

se
rv

ic
e

 t
o

 t
e

n
a

n
ts

 b
a

ck
e

d
 b

y
 e

xc
e

ll
e

n
t 

st
a

n
d

a
rd

s 
in

 c
u

st
o

m
e

r 
ca

re
. 

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

m
u

ch
 d

is
cu

ss
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e

 n
o

ti
o

n
 o

f 

“g
e

n
e

ra
ti

o
n

 r
e

n
t”

 a
n

d
 w

h
a

t 
th

a
t 

m
e

a
n

s 
fo

r 

th
e

 p
ri

v
a

te
 r

e
n

te
d

 s
e

ct
o

r.
  
 

 In
 t

h
a

t 
se

tt
in

g
, 

th
e

re
 i
s 

a
n

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y 
to

 

in
fl

u
e

n
ce

 t
h

a
t 

a
g

e
n

d
a

 a
n

d
 b

e
 p

la
ce

d
 a

t 
a

 

le
a

d
in

g
 e

d
g

e
 o

f 
b

e
tt

e
r 

p
ra

ct
ic

e
 e

.g
. 

a
 f

a
ir

e
r 

d
e

a
l 
fo

r 
te

n
a

n
ts

 i
n

 t
e

rm
s 

o
f 

fe
e

s;
 m

o
re

 

se
cu

ri
ty

 o
f 

te
n

u
re

 i
n

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 l
o

n
g

e
r 

te
n

a
n

ci
e

s;
 a

 f
a

ir
e

r 
d

e
a

l 
fo

r 
La

n
d

lo
rd

s.
 

 Le
tt

in
g

s 
in

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 a

re
 h

e
re

 t
o

 s
ta

y
 a

n
d

 s
e

e
m

 

se
t 

to
 g

ro
w

 m
o

re
 a

s 
a

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 t
e

n
u

re
 –

 t
h

e
y
 

m
a

y
 b

e
 f

o
r 

li
fe

 a
s 

a
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 o

p
ti

o
n

 o
f 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 –
 a

s 
is

 t
h

e
 c

h
o

ic
e

 o
f 

te
n

u
re

 i
n

 o
th

e
r 

E
u

ro
p

e
a

n
 c

o
u

n
tr

ie
s.

  
 

 

 
 T

h
e

re
 a

re
 s

tr
o

n
g

 s
u

p
p

ly
 s

id
e

 f
a

ct
o

rs
 i
n

 

re
a

ch
in

g
 t

o
w

a
rd

s 
th

e
 n

o
ti

o
n

 o
f 

a
 “

H
a

rr
o

w
 

Le
tt

in
g

s 
A

g
e

n
cy

” 
o

p
e

ra
ti

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

co
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
P

R
S
 –

 m
e

e
ti

n
g

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 n
e

e
d

 b
u

t 

a
ls

o
 g

e
n

e
ra

ti
n

g
 p

ro
fi

t 
th

a
t 

ca
n

 b
e

 r
e

-i
n

v
e

st
e

d
 

b
a

ck
 i
n

to
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

ci
l 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 w

id
e

r 

re
q

u
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 i
n

 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
. 

 O
f 

co
u

rs
e

, 
th

is
 o

v
e

ra
ll
 p

ro
p

o
sa

l 
h

a
s 

to
 

b
a

la
n

ce
 r

is
k
 a

n
d

 r
e

w
a

rd
 a

n
d

 b
e

 b
a

se
d

 o
n

 a
 

m
a

rk
e

t 
a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 e
v
id

e
n

ti
a

l 
fa

ct
o

rs
 

th
a

t 
ju

st
if

y 
th

e
 r

is
k
. 

 In
 s

u
m

m
a

ry
, 

H
a

rr
o

w
 h

a
s 

a
 h

is
to

ri
c 

ch
o

ic
e

 t
o

 

g
a

in
 a

 p
la

ce
 i
n

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 m

a
rk

e
t 

–
 b

e
co

m
in

g
 a

 

k
e

y
 p

la
y
e

r 
a

n
d

 a
 m

o
d

e
l 
o

f 
e

xc
e

ll
e

n
t 

p
ra

ct
ic

e
 

in
 t

h
e

 s
e

ct
o

r 
in

 H
a

rr
o

w
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

o
te

n
ti

a
l 
to

 

g
ro

w
 i
n

 o
th

e
r 

a
re

a
s 

e
.g

. 
in

 n
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
st

 

Lo
n

d
o

n
. 

  

 If
 t

h
e

 P
ro

je
ct

 B
o

a
rd

 b
e

li
e

v
e

s 
th

a
t 

th
e

re
 i
s 

m
e

ri
t 

in
 t

h
is

 o
v
e

ra
ll
 a

p
p

ro
a

ch
 -

 t
h

e
 

re
co

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e

 B
u

si
n

e
ss

 r
e

p
o

rt
 

m
a

y
 o

p
e

n
 u

p
 a

 p
a

th
 t

o
 r

e
-a

li
g

n
 H

a
rr

o
w

’s
 

in
fl

u
e

n
ce

 i
n

 t
h

e
 P

R
S
 t

o
w

a
rd

s 
a

 n
e

w
 a

n
d

 

m
o

re
 i
n

fl
u

e
n

ti
a

l 
p

o
si

ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 i
n

si
d

e
 t

h
e

 

se
ct

o
r.

 

 

  
  
 L

e
tt

in
g

s
 f

o
r
 L

if
e

 

59



 

60



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June 2015 

Subject: 

 

Grange Farm Regeneration – Progress, 
Planning and Implementation  

Key Decision:  

 

Yes  

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Lynne Pennington, Divisional Director of 
Housing Services 
 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Glen Hearnden, Portfolio Holder 
for Housing 

Exempt: 

 

No, except for appendix 2 to the report which 
is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12a of the Local Government Act 1972 as it 
contains information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information) 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes  
 
 

Wards affected: 

 

Harrow on the Hill 

Enclosures: 

 

Appendix 1 : Financial support for 
Leaseholders and Freeholders 
Compensation payable to tenants 
Appendix 2 (Exempt) : Financial Appraisals, 
proposed land acquisitions and Contractual 
arrangements for appointment of 
Development Partner 

 
 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 61 to 74

61



 

 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
This report sets out the progress made in preparing for the regeneration of the 
Grange Farm estate and the necessary further approvals required to take the 
next steps.  These approvals include the ability to purchase property and land 
not in the council’s ownership, and the process to enter into a joint venture / 
contract with a development agent 

 
Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to: 

1) Approve the purchase of various land parcels and buildings identified in 
Appendix 1 to the report and delegate to the Divisional Director of 
Housing Services, following consultation with the Housing Portfolio 
Holder, authority to enter into negotiations and contracts for purchase 
of land where the scheme will be enhanced and/or is forecast to 
recover the expenditure in the interest of land assembly. 

2) Delegate to the Divisional Director of Housing Services, following 
consultation with the Housing Portfolio Holder, authority to negotiate 
with existing leaseholders to repurchase leases at rates compatible 
with minimising costs while reducing the risk of a full CPO process.   

3) Authorise the making of payments to leaseholders in line with their 
entitlement to statutory Home Loss and Disturbance costs 

4) Authorise officers to either proceed with 
 a) the selection (in compliance with EU Procurement Rules and 

council standing orders) of a constructor on the basis of a joint 
venture or Design & Build contract allowing for a parcel of the site 
to be transferred to the constructor /developer in order to minimise 
the council’s initial costs.  

Or b) recommend that the Council retains overall control of the project 
and undertakes the full development including the sale of private 
units.  

 
(In the event that b) is the preferred option and in the best interests of 

the Council a further report will be produced for Cabinet to consider). 
5) Approve the principle of an equity share scheme for those resident 

leaseholders or freeholders who would otherwise be unable to raise 
sufficient capital to purchase outright or, via shared ownership, a 
replacement property, as set in appendix 1. 

6) Authorise the appointment of external legal advisors to give guidance 
on contracts required to appoint the construction partner and to transfer 
the land for the private element of the development, where the Director 
of Legal & Governance Services identifies that this would be beneficial. 

7) Confirm that officers can begin preparatory work in relation to a 
Compulsory Purchase Order.  

8) Authorise the creation of capital budget within the Housing Account of 
£6.102m as described in this report.  In addition to authorise the 
Director of Housing, after  consultation with the Housing Portfolio 
Holder to vire money between the existing budget allocation of £6.2m 
identified for the purchase of 20 properties for the HRA and the Grange 

62



 

Farm repurchase of properties / land assembly as required.   
 

Reason:  (For recommendations)   
The regeneration of the estate is a complex process with numerous 
stakeholders who have interests in the estate.  The recommendations are 
required to authorise officers to take action to deliver the scheme. 
 

 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
2.1 Introductory paragraph 
2.1.1 The cabinet reports of July 2014 and January 2015 set out the 

overarching objectives and first steps for the regeneration of the 
Grange Farm estate.  The overall scheme will demolish 287 council or 
ex-council properties and build circa. 500 properties at an estimated 
total scheme cost of £80M, producing double the existing density and 
enabling costs to be largely recovered through the sale of half of the 
units. 

 
 

2.2 Options considered   
2.2.1  Consideration was given to the option of abandoning the proposed 

redevelopment, but there have been no changes that would suggest 
that the redevelopment should not remain the preferred option. 

 

2.3 Background  
2.3.1 This project has the potential to produce a prestigious and sought after 

development in South Harrow to uplift this area of the borough and 
reinvigorate the local economy.  A strong field of architects wished to 
bid for this scheme and this supports the very positive early appraisals 
given by other consultants.  The preferred architect has proposed the 
creation of a new environment which instead of being an isolated island 
of poor quality housing will be fully integrated with a vibrant feel that 
encourages the ebb and flow of daily life and creates clear links with 
the main Northolt Road and surroundings.  The work done by officers 
and residents to establish a clear path to regeneration is now starting 
to pay dividends as Steering Group representatives were an integral 
part of the architect selection process.   The progress made to date is 
listed below 

• Housing Needs Survey completed 

• 18 properties let on a temporary basis pending demolition 

• Client Advisor, Employers Agent and Architects appointed 

• Resident Steering Group set up and Independent Tenant 
Advisor appointed 

• Discussions held with some of the other landowners about 
options to purchase 

• Service of Initial Demolition Notices 

• Initial surveys completed (Rights of Light and Sub-Surface) 

63



 
2.3.2  With the appointment of the architects for the scheme, the 

development is moving into the final stage of preparation.  This will 
entail the setting of the final site boundaries, phasing of the 
development and the confirmation of budgets. 

2.3.3  The council will need to acquire a range of property and land interests 
(including leases) at an early stage in order to be confident that the 
scheme can be delivered.  Part 2 of this report lists the land and 
buildings that will need to be acquired together with some additional 
land which it might be necessary to acquire in order to deliver an 
attractive development that will enhance the marketability of the units 
for sale. 

2.3.4  The repurchase of freehold and leasehold interests will require the 
payment of compensation and it is proposed that this should be agreed 
in line with the statutory minimum provided for within the Compulsory 
Purchase framework.  A summary of these provisions is provided in 
appendix 1. 

 Officers also wish to confirm that the Home Loss and disturbance 
payments to tenants as set out in appendix 1 will be payable.  During 
the course of the scheme the Home Loss amount may be increased 
and the new rates will be applied automatically. 

2.3.5  The negotiation of the market value of each property will need to be 
conducted on the basis of the valuation advice received from the 
council’s internal valuers.  However, some level of negotiation around 
the figure recommended by the in-house valuers will inevitably be 
necessary if the council wishes to progress with the minimum of delay 
and to avoid protracted CPO procedures.  The confidential section of 
the reports sets out a framework of delegation which is suggested to 
allow this negotiation to be conducted efficiently and maintains 
accountability for the expenditure of the funds. 

2.3.5 Due to the nature of the Resiform flats at Grange Form which owing to 
their construction type offer accommodation which is difficult to 
maintain, the market valuation of the properties will be below the 
average market price in the area.  This is likely to present resident 
leaseholders with a dilemma, as they are unlikely to be able to afford to 
buy a replacement home without finding additional funds to purchase 
the property and they may not be in a position to take out further loans 
to finance this.  An option used on previous regeneration schemes, 
where the council has transferred ownership, has been to offer a 
shared ownership option to purchase on the new development.  
However, some residents are reluctant to take on the additional rental 
obligations particularly if they are on fixed incomes.  It would be an 
option for the council to take an equity stake in a flat in the new 
development allowing the existing leaseholders to continue living in the 
same community without increasing their financial commitment.  The 
council would receive back their relative % equity share upon sale of 
the flat in the future.  This is discussed in more detail in appendix 1 

2.3.6 Having virtually completed the process for the appointment of 
architects the next major step in the project will be the appointment of a 
construction partner.  This process will be equally critical to the 
success of the project as the value created in the properties for sale 
needs to be sufficient to meet the majority of the scheme costs.  It is 
planned that we use the London Development Panel framework to 

64



 
invite bids for the development as this framework is already OJEU 
compliant and has a range of 25 large developers. 

2.3.7 The architects appointed will need to produce a Master Plan for the 
estate allocating specific property units and/or land for the private 
development.  The protection of the council’s interests and the creation 
of a contract that is capable of handling various delays or changes to 
circumstance during the development period are critical. Expert legal 
advice is required to guide the council in the establishment of this 
relationship. The current preferred process would transfer the risk of 
producing the units for sale and the achievement of the projected sales 
values to the developer.  This would include provisions for the transfer 
of land, the distribution of surpluses from the development and the 
ability to enter onto the council’s land to commence development prior 
to transfer.  However, should the council consider, under its developing 
commercialisation strategy, that the reward is sufficient it may wish to 
either take the responsibility for funding the scheme and the resultant 
profits itself or as a minimum reserve a proportion of the stock 
identified for sale to add to its portfolio of PRS stock. 

2.3.8 The ultimate procurement route for the developer / constructor is one 
that will be kept under review taking into account market conditions, 
build costs and the council’s risk appetite. 

 

Current situation 
 
 
Risk included on Directorate risk register?  Yes 
Separate risk register in place?  Yes 
  
 

Legal Implications 
 
 
The Council has the power to acquire land, and interests in land, by 
agreement pursuant to section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
The Council has the power through various enactments to acquire land 
compulsorily. The power commonly used by local authorities is section 
226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The 
section provides that a local authority shall, on being authorised to do so by 
the Secretary of State, have power to acquire compulsorily any land in their 
area if they are satisfied that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of 
development, redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the land. 
However the power must not be exercised unless the authority thinks that the 
development is likely to contribute to the achievement of the economic, social 
and environmental well-being of the area. 
 
The Secretary of State will only confirm the CPO if he is satisfied that there is 
a compelling case in the public interest to do so. Those who wish to object to 
the CPO may do so and are entitled to be heard at a public inquiry held to 
consider the case for, and the objections to, the CPO. Those whose land and 
interests are acquired will be entitled to compensation calculated on the basis 
of legislation and related case law known as the “CPO Compensation Code”.  

65



 
 
Consideration must also be given to the interference with rights protected by 
the Human Rights Act 1998, including Article 8 (respect for private and family 
life and home), and Article 1 (the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions) 
of the European Convention on Human Rights. A decision to make a CPO 
must strike a fair balance between the public interest associated with the 
regeneration of the land and the interference with private rights. 
 
Though the Council anticipates the willing co-operation of tenants living in 
Grange Farm Estate it may need to rely upon the Ground 10A provisions to 
obtain possession of the existing homes in order to enable the regeneration to 
proceed. Ground 10A permits a local authority to obtain possession orders to 
enable a redevelopment to proceed which has been approved by the 
Secretary of State in accordance with Part V of Schedule 2 (Part V) of the 
Housing Act 1985. 
 
The Secretary of State will only provide his approval under Part V where the 
local authority serves written notice on the affected secure tenants stating: 
(a) the main features of the scheme; 
(b) that the local authority intends to apply to the Secretary of State for his 

approval of the scheme; 
(c) the legal effect of such approval in particular the ability of the local 

authority to rely on Ground 10A in possession proceedings. 
 

Part V requires a local authority to allow the secure tenants to make 
representations to it about the proposal. The period for consultation must be 
no less than 28 days from the date of the notice provided to tenants. 

 
Prior to making the application to the Secretary of State the local authority 
must consider the representations made to it by the secure tenants. 
 
Part V consultation is expected to commence in the autumn of 2015.  
However, officers have been regularly consulting with the Grange Farm 
Steering Group and together with Council officers have consulted with 
residents at Public Open Meetings on scheme proposals and on the process 
to select an architect. 
 
The Council will need to ensure that the appointment of any contractor or 
developer partner and other professionals in connection with the Grange 
Farm regeneration scheme is fully compliant with EU procurement rules and 
the council’s contract procedure rules. 
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
In July 2014, Cabinet approved the following HRA budgets from within 
existing resources to enable the Grange Farm regeneration project to be 
taken forward: 

66



 
 

 £,000 

Provision of Consultants for a) overall scheme co-ordination 
and b)  architects for Grange Farm Master Plan 

1,000 

Potential short term repurchase of former council units at 
Grange Farm 

1,000 

Establishment of delivery team to manage projects plus costs 
of meetings / publicity p.a. 

100 

 
Not all of the above budgets have been used. 
As we now move on to develop the scheme, budgets need to be established 
for the delivery process. 
 
A detailed business model has been created for this project. However until the 
detailed design is taken forward which will define the total number of new 
units, the number to be sold and up to date estimations of sales values, it is 
not possible to determine the final net cost of the scheme.  The model 
currently forecasts a deficit which could range from £3.7m to £13.4m, as 
indicated in the July Cabinet report.  While this range is currently considerable 
this is based upon a range of variables such as build costs, sale prices and 
unit numbers, any one of which can produce significant variation, and if all 
combined in a negative manner could produce the extreme result.  As the 
scheme design progresses the objective will remain to achieve an outcome 
which delivers regeneration at no net cost to the council if at all possible; 
however, if necessary, HRA balances or other resources could be used to 
support the regeneration.  Given the cost of retaining the stock and 
refurbishing it is in the order of £11m, the scheme looks capable of producing 
a positive contribution to the HRA. 
 
The proposed budget requirement to allow the project to proceed with the 
submission of a Planning Application, appointment of construction partner and 
the acquisition of property is set out below. 
 
 

Subject Expenditure / 
Commitment 

Revised Budget 

Employers Agent 518,000 518,000 

Architect 750,000 (estimate) 750,000 

Leasehold repurchase 5,300,000 5,300,000 

Miscellaneous surveys   

Freehold purchase 1,200,000 1,200,000 

Disturbance and 
compensation payments 

334,000 334,000  

Total 8,102,000 8,102,000 

Existing capital budget  2,000,000 

Additional capital requirement 
– to be funded from HRA 
resources 

 6,102,000 

   

Housing Association 
purchase 

3,500,000 3,500,000 

Potential land assembly   

67



 

Total additional capital 
requirement 

 9,602,000 

   

Resident engagement and 
support 

20,000 20,000 (revenue) 

CPO Preparation   

 
It is clear from the above table that this project will require a significant 
financial input to assemble the whole site prior to the commencement of 
regeneration, and because of the inability to borrow within the Housing 
Revenue Account, it will not be possible for the development to be funded via 
the HRA. There a number of other capital projects currently underway within 
the HRA, including a programme of new build and a purchase and repair 
programme to acquire additional homes for long-term HRA use.  The 
combination of these programmes means there are insufficient resources to 
fund the whole of the additional capital requirement set out above. 
 
Due to the need to complete the repurchase of leasehold and freehold 
property as soon as is practicable, it is necessary to have in place the budget 
to cover the costs of repurchase. It is therefore proposed to prioritise this 
element of cost and to fund the purchase from existing HRA resources. This 
will require approval of an additional capital budget in the HRA of £6.102m, 
which will be funded from a combination of balances and other capital 
resources. 
 
Further modelling is being carried out in respect of the purchase of the 
Housing Association properties, and the purchase of these will be the subject 
of a separate report with business case, but may well seek to finance the 
purchase via the General fund and/or in partnership with the developer once 
one has been appointed. 
 
In terms of the development itself, further work is also being carried out in 
respect of delivery options to determine how the regeneration will be financed 
and to consider appropriate levels of risk-sharing during the development and 
sales processes, to try to balance the risk/reward equation for the Council. 

 
Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment is still being developed and will be refined 
once the architect’s designs are confirmed and the resident surveys 
completed. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
The Council’s vision:  
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
The Homes for Harrow programme which includes the Grange Farm 
regeneration project will contribute positively to the Council’s vision for Harrow 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow and the Council’s priorities 
in the following ways: 

68



 
1. Making a difference for the vulnerable – building a range of new 

affordable homes including homes for those who are most in 
need. 

 
2. Making a difference for communities – This work provides an 

opportunity to involve and engage residents on the Grange 
Farm estate and from the wider community in the development 
of new homes, the replacement of poor housing and 
improvements to the external environment. 

 
3. Making a difference for families – Improving the worst social 

housing in Harrow and building homes to meet family needs. 
Other benefits flowing from the regeneration programme include 
the creation of apprenticeships, jobs and training opportunities 
to help those most in need, especially the young. 

 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Dave Roberts x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 4 June 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Ian Goldsmith x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date: 4 June 2015 

   
 

 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors 

notified: 

 

 

YES , as it impacts on all Wards  
 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
NO 
 
An initial high level assessment 
identified no reasons to believe that 
there will be any significant adverse 
impacts. A full EqIA will be concluded 
once the resident survey relating to 
rehousing preferences has been 
completed. 
 

69



 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
 

Contact:  Paul Mullins, Snr. Interim Special Projects Manager, 0208 8420 
9680 paul.mullins@harrow.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers: 
 
Cabinet report 20 June 2013, Housing Business Plan 2013, consultation draft 
Asset Management Strategy, Proposals for a future Affordable Housing 
Programme, and Proposed Grants to Move scheme 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/g61429/Public%20reports%
20pack%20Thursday%2020-Jun-2013%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
Cabinet report 10 April 2014 Affordable Housing Programme Update 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/g61438/Public%20reports%
20pack%20Thursday%2010-Apr-2014%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
Cabinet report 17 July 2014 Homes for Harrow 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/g62354/Public%20reports%
20pack%20Thursday%2017-Jul-2014%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 

 
Cabinet report 15 January 2015 Grange Farm Regeneration Scheme 

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/g62359/Public%2
0reports%20pack%20Thursday%2015-Jan-
2015%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
 
 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call-in applies]  
 
 

 

 

70



Appendix 1 

 

London Borough of Harrow 

Grange Farm Regeneration 

Financial support for Leaseholders and Freeholders 

Compensation payable to tenants 

 

1 Background 

1.1 There are 250 Resiform properties, 13 bungalows and potentially a further 24 traditional 

flats that might be included in the scheme. 

1.2 Of the total properties there are the following leaseholders: 

Total properties Leaseholders / 

freeholders 

Resident Leaseholders 

Freeholders 

250 Resiform 22 4 

13 Bungalows  6 3 

24Traditioanl flats  3 2 

 

1.3 For the resident owners particularly the leaseholders the equity stake that they have in 

their properties coupled with their likely restricted mortgage capacity will make it hard for 

them to purchase a replacement property. 

1.4 It is unlikely that they will be able to buy on the resale market near to Grange Farm and 

almost impossible for full purchase on the new development. 

1.5 For the bungalow freeholders the option of buying a smaller 1-bed flat might be an option 

while at present they occupy relatively spacious 2-bed bungalows. 

1.6 It should be noted that the above description is largely a generalisation of their financial 

position and no detailed financial appraisal has been conducted for any individual. 

1.7 The current scheme for compensating leaseholders and freeholders is summarised 

below 

Home Loss compensation for owners of Property 

 Resident leaseholder or 

freeholder 

Non resident owner 

For the property Property value +  10% Property value plus 7.5% 

Additional costs of Solicitor, valuation fees, early mortgage redemption fees 

71



Appendix 1 

 

sale 

Additional costs of 

purchase (if within 

1 year of sale) 

Solicitor, valuation fees, stamp duty land tax (to a similar value 

as that of property sold) 

Example for 2-bed 

flat 

                      £,000 

Valuation          180 

Plus 10%           18 

Total                 198 

                        £,000 

Valuation           180 

Plus 7.5%           13.5 

Total                 193.5 

   

Estimated value of 

2-bed flat in new 

development  

                     £,000 

                        260 

 

   

 

1.8 The Home Loss and Disturbance payments for tenants are calculated in a different 

manner.  The Home Loss element is set nationally and was last reviewed in the summer 

of 2014; it currently stands at £4,900.  In addition the council must meet reasonable 

expenses incurred in the move.  This would normally include removal costs, 

disconnection and reconnection of white goods, aerials etc, together with any ancillary 

costs such as postage redirection fees & telephone reconnection. 

2 Options 

2.1 Option one would be, to say as with non residential owners, that they have made an 

investment and must make their own arrangements.  This will make negotiating the 

purchase of these units difficult and for a number of the older residents may be 

perceived as uncaring. 

2.2 Option 2 would be to encourage shared ownership of the new flats which will be for sale. 

While this may address their housing needs, a number of residents may still struggle 

financially if they have only recently taken a mortgage and would then have to find a 

proportion of rent in addition. 

2.3  Option 3 would be for the council to retain an equity stake in the new flat that they 

purchase.  This would mean the owner using their equity to purchase the flat with the 

council in effect making up the difference of say 30%.  When the property was sold the 

council would automatically take its 30% share back.  The actual % stake that the council 

would retain would vary between each purchaser according to the equity that they 

release from their flat. 

72



Appendix 1 

 

2.4 Option 4 would be the same as option 3 above, but rather than reclaiming a percentage 

of the value on resale the council would reclaim its original equity stake plus a 

percentage added annually for the loan.  While this would protect the council from the 

risk of the properties losing value it might produce a lower return for the council and also 

raise questions about the council appearing to profit from the disadvantage it created for 

the leaseholders. 

3 Recommendation 

4.1 The recommendation would be that the council promotes option 2 and when this is not a 

viable option for the owners then option 3 be offered, with a cap of no more than 50% 

equity stake being taken by the council. 

4.2 The council would need to ensure that any financial regulations are complied with in 

giving advice to the residents and an independent financial advisor would need to be 

appointed. 

 

73



74

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June  2015 

Subject: 

 

Mortuary Service - Expansion of Partnership 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Caroline Bruce, Corporate Director of 
Environment and Enterprise 
 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Graham Henson, Portfolio Holder 
for Environment, Crime and Community 
Safety 
 

Exempt: 

 

No  
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: None 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
This report seeks Cabinet approval to vary the partnership arrangement with 
Brent Council for the delivery of the Mortuary Service to include Barnet 
Council. 
 

Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to grant authority to the Corporate Director of 
Environment and Enterprise, following consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Environment, Crime and Community Safety, to vary the partnership 
arrangement with Brent Council to include Barnet Council. 
 

Agenda Item 11
Pages 75 to 80

75



 

Reason:  (For recommendations) 
  
To ensure the Council fulfils its statutory responsibilities for the provision of a 
mortuary service. 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 

Introductory paragraph 
 

           Brent and Harrow Councils entered into an agreement in 2006 for the management 
of the public mortuary at Northwick Park Hospital. Under this agreement Brent 
provides the mortuary services for both boroughs. 

 
1. It is now proposed that the shared mortuary service is expanded so that Brent also 

provides mortuary services to Barnet Council, creating a tri-borough mortuary 
service. 
 

 

Background and Current situation 
 
Harrow’s mortuary services is currently delivered by Brent  The strategic direction of 
the service is jointly agreed between Brent and Harrow , while the operational 
activities are performed by Brent Council under service level arrangements,. Brent 
Council operates a public mortuary located within the grounds of Northwick Park 
Hospital while Barnet Council operates a public mortuary in Finchley.  Both are within 
the jurisdiction of the North London Coroner.  This report proposes extending the 
shared service arrangement at Northwick Park to include Barnet allowing the 
rationalisation of arrangements and the closure of Finchley Mortuary. 

Brent and Harrow Councils jointly hold the Northwick Park site under a 99 year lease 
from the Secretary of State which expires on 25 December 2080. A formal 
agreement, between both boroughs sets out the joint arrangements for management, 
finance, governance and termination. Each authority pays a proportion of the running 
cost on a per capita basis.  

Barnet has been reviewing its mortuary service in light of their outsourcing of 
services as well as the considerable investment that would be needed in their ageing 
Finchley site. In March 2014 Barnet begin discussions with Brent around the use of 
any surplus facilities at Northwick Park. 

HM coroner for north London has given support for the tri-borough arrangement at 
Northwick Park. 

 

 

Why a change is needed 
 
A change is needed to the existing partnership arrangement to accommodate the 
inclusion of Barnet in the shared service. This requires the creation of new 
governance, management and finance arrangements. 
 
 

76



 

Options Considered 
 
There was the option of not including Barnet in the arrangement. This option would 
have meant the loss of opportunity for costs reduction due to a further sharing of 
cost. 
    
  

Recommendation 
 

2. That the shared service arrangement between Brent and Harrow is updated and 
extended to include Barnet Council. 
             

Implications of the recommendations 
 
To accommodate Barnet in the shared service will require not just changes to the 
governance arrangements but also changes to the infrastructure at Northwick Park. 
There is the need for additional storage in order to accommodate a borough such as 
Barnet with a population that is larger than Brent and Harrow. 

In addition to the cost of additional storage, there are some additional investments 
which will soon be necessary to upgrade aspects of the infrastructure that are largely 
unchanged since construction 33 years ago. 

 Barnet has therefore agreed to make a contribution of £172,000 to these capital 
costs. This agreement allows Barnet to receive a substantial capital receipt from the 
sale of their Finchley site. It also allows Brent and Harrow to dramatically reduce the 
capital cost of infrastructure renovations that they would have shortly faced 
otherwise. It has also been agreed that each borough will contribute a modest 
proportion of the revenue savings each year to a refurbishment reserve fund that is 
intended to provide sufficient funds for future capital refurbishment costs. There is no 
further capital expenditure in the period that requires any investment from Harrow. 

 

The shared service will be governed by an Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) for a 
minimum of 10 years with an option to extend the service by mutual agreement for a 
further five years. Any party can exercise an early termination option by giving not 
less than 12 months notice of termination. 

Brent will calculate the net estimated expenditure and will apportion that across all 
three boroughs in proportion to the population figure in each borough. Brent will 
prepare audited accounts no later than June each year. This will identify whether 
additional contributions are required or whether there is a refund due to Harrow and 
Barnet. 
 
Brent will be responsible for complying with all legislations and codes of practice and 
deliver the shared service in accordance with the Service Specification and the 
operational matters set out in the IAA.  
 
The parties will establish a Strategic Monitoring Board (SMB) comprising a senior 
officer from each authority, the Head of Service (Brent) and the contract managers. 
The overall purpose of this board will be the monitoring, directing, advising and 
ensuring the effective performance of the IAA and the delivery of the shared 
mortuary service. The SMB will meet quarterly or more frequently if required. The 
escalation from the SMB is to respective Strategic/Corporate Directors. 
 

77



 

The arrangement will start as soon as the legal agreements are finalised. Barnet will 
keep its Finchley site open until the renovation of the facilities at Northwick Park is 
completed. 
 
. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
Brent has the power to provide mortuary services to Harrow and Barnet by virtue of 
s1 of the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970. Brent will be required to 
comply with legislation including the Public Health Act 1938 and the Human Tissue 
Act 2004 in relation to the delivery of the services. 
 
On completion of the IAA there will be a relevant transfer to Brent for the purposes of 
TUPE for the staff employed by Barnet. 
 

 

Financial Implications 
 

The cost of the existing Brent and Harrow mortuary in 2014/15 was £82k for Brent 
and £63k for Harrow with the cost sharing being on the basis of the two boroughs’ 
respective populations. The addition of another local authority to existing agreement 
with Harrow is expected to reduce the revenue costs of providing the statutory public 
mortuary service for all three boroughs. In the case of Harrow the revenue saving will 
be in the order of £15k per annum. This is based on the initial running cost of £48k 
compared to the current £63k cost. This running cost is based on a revenue cost 
share set out below and estimated expenditure of £188k (after reduced running cost 
due to capital investment). 

The expenditure Brent incurs for the provision of the shared mortuary service will be 
shared between Harrow, Barnet and Brent in proportion to the population figure for 
their respective areas according to the most recent population estimates issued by 
the Registrar General’s estimate. The current proportion of population and therefore 
the initial revenue costs share apportioned between the boroughs is set out below: 

Borough Revenue costs share (%) 

Barnet 40 

Brent 34 

Harrow 26 

 
            

Performance Issues 

 
3.  The IAA requires the collation and reporting of service data as part of the monitoring 

of the service and the achievement of pre-set objectives and targets. These will be 
reported to the SMB. The performance indicators to be used are as follows: 

4.   

• Meet minimum Human Tissue Act (HTA) Standards and Licence 
requirements and ensure that any inspection of the shared service  by the 
Human Tissue Authority does not identify any shortfalls in compliance with 
the HTA standards 

• Satisfaction of the HM Coroner 

78



 

• Maintaining a disaster recovery/emergency plan 

• Business Continuity 
 
Customer Service- No complaints against the shared service and satisfactory results 
from service user satisfaction surveys. 
     

5. . 
   

Environmental Impact 
 

 N/A 
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
A risk register will be created for the operational management of the service 

 

Equalities implications 
 

None 
 
  
 

Council Priorities 
 
The Council Priorities are as follows: 
 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 

• Making a difference for communities 

• Making a difference for local businesses 

• Making a difference for families. 
 
6. The recommendation supports these priorities by: 
 

• The provision of a mortuary service in renovated facilities  within the borough 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Jessie Man x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 11 May 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Robert Prater  x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date: 15 May 2015 

   
 

 
 

79



 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 
NO 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
 NO 
  
 
An EQIA is not required as there 
is no change to the service that 
will be provided.  
 

 
 

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 

Contact:  Venetia Reid-Baptiste, Divisional Director of Commissioning 
Services 
Tel: 020 8424 1492 
 
 

Background Papers:  None. 
 
 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
 
[Call-in applies] 
 
   

 

80



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June 2015 

Subject: 

 

Senior Management Restructure 

Key Decision:  

 

Yes  
 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Michael Lockwood, Chief Executive 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor David Perry, Leader of the Council 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

Annexe 1: Consultation Pack including: 
Current Senior Management  and Proposed 
Senior Management Structure  
Annexe 2: Responses to consultation 
Annexe 3:  Local Test of Assurance Review 
(To Follow)  

 

Agenda Item 12
Pages 81 to 140

81



 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

This report sets out the outcome of the consultation on changes to the 
Council’s senior management structure and proposes a revised structure.  

Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to approve the proposed senior management structure 
as set out in the Consultation Pack attached at Annexe 1. 
 

Reason:  (For recommendation) 
To enable implementation of a more cost effective senior management 
structure which will enable the organisation to better meet the significant 
challenges we face whilst also maximising the opportunities that are available 
to the Council.  
 

 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
Introduction 
 
On 15th April 2015 I commenced formal consultation on my proposals for a 
revised senior management structure for the Council. 
  
A formal Consultation Pack (Annexe 1) was issued to those impacted, 
including PA’s to Corporate Directors, in which I explained my rationale for the 
changes and the proposed new senior management structure. The 
Consultation Pack was sent to all Councillors and the trade unions who were 
invited to respond. It was also made available to all staff via the intranet. 
 
At its meeting on 23rd April 2015, Cabinet received an information report in 
which I set out the background to my proposals and to which was attached a 
copy of the formal Consultation Pack. 
 
On 29th April 2015 I held a meeting for senior managers to discuss my 
proposals and I have met with individual members of staff at all levels when 
requested. I have also met with Unison and GMB and I am grateful for the 
contributions and advice of all I met. 
 
Formal consultation concluded on the 20th May 2015 and having reviewed all 
the comments received, I met with the senior management team on 27th May 
2015 to feedback on the results of the consultation and the final proposals I 
would be submitting in this report. 

 
Options considered 
 
In developing my proposals, a range of options for changes to the 
management structure were considered. The proposal put forward in the 
Consultation Pack was considered the most appropriate option for Harrow at 
this time. As a result of the consultation I have provided further clarification on 

82



 

 

some aspects of my proposals. These are set out in more detail later in the 
report and the responses to the consultation are at Annexe 2. 

 
Why a change is needed 

As you know the Administration asked me to review the Council’s senior 
management structure and my proposed changes are designed to enable the 
organisation to better meet the significant challenges we face whilst also 
maximising the opportunities that are available to the Council.  Given our 
funding gap these proposals will also achieve a significant reduction in senior 
management revenue costs but more importantly will also deliver service 
benefits to our residents.  I will also be expecting Corporate Directors once in 
place to review the structures below them to ensure these benefits are 
realised. 

My proposals are set out in the Consultation Pack but the highlights include:  

• I am recommending a coordinated commissioning arrangement 
across the council through a new commissioning network, to support 
the Corporate Management Team. 

 

• I am placing more emphasis on the development and exploitation of 
commercial/business opportunities across the organisation.  Simply 
reducing costs will not be sufficient to meet these challenges and 
would miss the opportunity that the Council has to earn additional 
income. This may involve the provision of services to other 
public/private bodies, investing in asset opportunities or identifying 
areas where the council can provide new services to 
residents/businesses. 
 

• There is also l believe a great opportunity to bring significant external 
investment into the Borough to contribute to the physical, social and 
economic regeneration of Harrow.  This will result in the building of 
much needed new housing, businesses to provide important new job 
opportunities and new social and community infrastructure.  Putting us 
in a position to further our ambitions and provide momentum to these 
ideas is a fundamental aim of these restructuring proposals. 
 

• I am promoting a step change in how we engage with and involve local 
people in what we do. The Council’s reputation with its Residents 
must be improved and will be the ultimate test of our success in the 
years ahead. 
 

Importantly my proposals go beyond structural changes but are also 
supported by two other things; 

 

• I will work with staff to build some new cultural values that will 
underpin everything that we do but will also reflect the times and new 
challenges we now face.  There is a need to embed a culture that 
encourages innovation, creativity and calculated risk taking and for us 
to become a more entrepreneurial and ‘business-like’ Council to 
reflect our greater emphasis on commercialisation. 
 

83



 

 

• I am also requiring our senior managers to be more effective leaders 
and this is reflected in the proposed changes to their job descriptions 
and are set out in para 2.9 of the Consultation Pack 
 

As part of the move to a Peoples Directorate I also commissioned an 
external review of my proposals (Local Test of Assurance Review) by John 
Harris – Children’s Improvement Adviser, LGA, to assess whether the 
proposed structure fulfilled the following criteria: 

• Met statutory duties effectively. 

• Was transparent about accountabilities and responsibilities. 

• Was supportive of effective interagency and partnership working. 

 
The process involved a number of interviews and review of key documents.  
Its key messages were that: 

• Elected Members and staff are positive about the proposals to 
establish a Peoples Directorate and recognise the key opportunities to 
improve outcomes and make savings. 

• The proposed Corporate management and senior officer structure will 
ensure that the roles and responsibilities of the DCS, DASS and DPH 
continue to be exercised appropriately. 

• There are good arrangements for ensuring that the Leader, Chief 
Executive and Lead Members are assured about the effectiveness of 
Safeguarding.  These need to be maintained under the new corporate 
structures. 

• There is a need for a Transition Plan (including risk register and 
mitigation) supported by designated change management capacity. 

 
A full copy of the report (Annexe 3) will follow so that it can be considered 
as part of your decision making. 

 
Current structure 
 
The current senior management structure is included in the Consultation Pack 
at appendix 1. 
 

Recommended structure 
 
Following the consultation I am recommending the proposed Senior 
Management Structure as at appendix 2 of the Consultation Pack.  The most 
significant changes are summarised below: 
 
Corporate Director Posts 
 

Deleted Posts 
 

• The posts of Corporate Director, Community Health & Wellbeing 
and Corporate Director, Children and Families are currently vacant 
and will be deleted. 
 

84



 

 

• The Corporate Director, Environment & Enterprise post is also 
deleted and the post holder is therefore potentially displaced and will 
be eligible to be considered for vacancies within the new structure. 

 
New Posts 

 

• Corporate Director, People - This post will lead a new directorate that 
brings together services from the existing Directorate of Children and 
Families with some of the Divisions in the existing Directorate of 
Community, Health and Wellbeing to create a new Directorate of 
People Services.  I hope this Directorate amongst other things will 
improve the transition between Children and Adults, create a single 
lifelong disability service and provide the opportunities to extend the 
good work in Adults on personalisation to a wider range of residents. 

 

• Corporate Director, Community - This post will lead a new 
Directorate that will bring together Environment, Housing and parts of 
Community & Cultural Services to form a new Directorate of 
Community Services.  I hope this Directorate amongst other things will 
more efficiently join up our front line services that form the fabric of our 
Community eg public realm, housing, leisure services etc and will lead 
on the role of developing our relationship with residents to encourage 
greater citizenship and social responsibility. 

 
The Resources Directorate will largely contain the current functions but the 
title of the Directorate has changed to Resources and Commercial 
Directorate to reflect the greater emphasis and importance that 
commercialisation must play in the future. 
 
I am also taking the opportunity to revise the job descriptions for all Corporate 
Directors, so that they better reflect the broader leadership changes 
highlighted above and set out in the Consultation Pack. 
 
 
Director, Divisional Director and Head of Service Changes 

 
Deleted Posts 

 

• Divisional Director, Community and Culture - As the scale of the 
Council’s responsibilities for Community and Cultural Services are 
reduced I am proposing to delete this post and merge responsibilities 
for parts of these functions within those of Environmental Services (see 
later). 
 

• Head of Transformation Programme- I am proposing that this post, 
which is currently filled through a secondment, be deleted and the 
Business Support Function which was reporting to this position on an 
interim basis will be transferred to the Resources & Commercial 
Directorate. 
 

• Head of Commissioning and Partnerships – I am proposing that this 
vacant post be deleted and the responsibilities of the post be absorbed 

85



 

 

within the single commissioning service which will be created for 
Adults, Children and Public Health Services. 

 

• Divisional Director, Early Intervention Services and Divisional 
Director, Targeted Services - These posts have already been deleted 
and replaced by a single post of Divisional Director Children and 
Young People. The new post holder has been appointed and will start 
in July. 

 

• Divisional Director, Special Educational Needs (SEN) and 
Divisional Director, Education and Commissioning – I am 
proposing to merge these roles into a single post (see below), which 
will deliver a seamless service, which better meets the needs of 
Harrow’s children and young people ranging from those who are most 
vulnerable and in need of significant support to those who are more 
able and require challenge to realise their full potential. 

 
New posts 

 

• Divisional Director, Education Services - This post will bring 
together specialist services such as the educational psychology 
service, services for children with sensory impairment and the SEN 
assessment and review teams with more universal services such as 
Harrow’s school improvement service (HSIP) and the strategic 
functions of school place planning, school admissions, early years and 
services for the 16-25 year group. 

 
Other changes 

 

• Divisional Director, Regeneration & Planning - Given the scale of 
the opportunity that lies ahead for attracting inward investment, I am 
proposing that the areas of Regeneration and Planning will report 
directly to myself. I am also proposing the current post of Head of 
Economic Development will report to this post 
 

• Director of Finance & Assurance - The current Director is leaving the 
Council and following a consultation I am proposing the post is filled 
from within existing staffing which will enable additional savings to be 
made. The new S151 Officer role will lead the Finance Division, with 
Internal Audit, Anti-Fraud and Emergency Planning being managed 
elsewhere within the Resources & Commercial Directorate. 

 

• Divisional Director, Environmental Services – I am proposing that 
this post also take responsibility for managing the reduced Cultural 
Services and be re-titled Divisional Director, Environment & Culture 
 

• Director Legal & Governance – This post is now only 0.6 FTE as the 
post is shared with Buckinghamshire County Council. 

 

• Director Customer Services & IT - This post is now only 0.6 FTE, 
the post holder having reduced their hours through flexible retirement. 
 

86



 

 

• Construction Delivery Unit – Work on the Construction Delivery Unit 
is progressing well and conversations are being had with those areas 
impacted.  Whilst in principal the concept appears to have many 
potential benefits given our significant work in areas such as Schools 
Expansion, Housing Building and Regeneration.  It is nevertheless 
important we get this right and fully understand the benefit/potential 
risks, the scope of areas it could cover and location of the unit if 
progressed etc.  A paper is due to be presented to CSB in late June 
regarding next steps. 

 
 
Process for appointing to the new structure 
 
The appointment process will be in accordance with the Council’s Protocol for 
Managing Organisational Change (PMOC). Appointments to Chief Officer 
posts will be made by the Chief Officer Employment Panel which will be 
convened as appropriate. Further details are set out within the Consultation 
pack at Annexe 1. 

 
Conclusions from the Consultation 

Overall, the responses to the consultation (See Annexe 2) have been very 
positive and supportive of the new structure. Respondents felt the restructure 
changes were the right ones to make, to help us tackle the significant 
challenges we face and make the most of the opportunities that are available 
to the Council.  

Specifically, respondents were keen to emphasise the ‘one council’ approach 
and the need to further break down organisational silos.  They also 
emphasised the support for refreshing our cultural values and to the 
Leadership values at para 2.9 of the consultation document.  

 
Respondents were particularly keen to seize the Commercialisation and 
Regeneration opportunities and a number commented on the potential 
benefits provided by the proposed new Commissioning Network. 
 
Other issues raised by respondents included: 
 

• Seeking greater clarity about the council’s strategic lead for the 
voluntary and community sector and for resident engagement and 
consultation.  I propose that these are lead from the Strategic 
Commissioning Division. 

 

• Clarification about the location and reporting lines for Corporate 
Estates.  At this time these remain unchanged. 

 

• Whether public health was best located within the People Directorate 
although recognising it needs to be a key player within the 
Commissioning Network?  The People Directorate will be responsible 
for the care, health and wellbeing of all our residents and I believe my 
proposals will strengthen the relationships that public health has 

87



 

 

already built and their pivotal preventative role in better managing 
demand for care services. 

    

• Where the Construction Delivery Unit would be located, if progressed? 
 This is yet to be determined - see above. 

 

• Whether community safety and domestic and sexual violence may be 
better located within the People or Community Directorate and where 
the health policy lead lies?  I am open to further discussion on this, in 
consultation with the relevant Corporate Directors 
 

• The name of the Community Directorate and whether Environment and 
Community or Environment, Housing and Community could better 
reflect its roles?  The new Directorate names are deliberately thematic 
rather than functional, reflecting my desire to break down Divisional 
silos so that we work in a cross-cutting and collaborative way seeing 
the links and synergies and putting the interests of the Council first. 

 

• Whether the Divisional Director, Education Services should be retitled 
Divisional Director, Education and Additional Needs Services?  This 
role supports our schools and delivery of education services and the 
title reflects this theme rather than the individual functions.  I also want 
to create a single life-long service for children and adults with disability, 
which the suggested title would not reflect. 

 
A number of respondents supported the proposal to move Business Support 
to the Resources and Commercial Directorate and also the need for a review 
of Business Support, as many felt it had not in all respects delivered what it 
had meant to but that any such review should build on the feedback already 
given in an earlier engagement event. 
 
I am grateful for all the responses received as they broadly support my 
proposals which therefore remain unchanged.  Where appropriate I will 
provide personal feedback to those respondents who raised specific individual 
issues.  

 
Implications of the Recommendation 
 
Resources, costs  
 
The proposals reduce the numbers of senior management posts with a 
consequent saving in revenue costs of some £4m over the next 4 years.  The 
implementation costs will largely be the costs of redundancy and / or early 
retirement where there are post holders whose posts have been deleted. 
 
Staffing/workforce 
 
Individuals who are not appointed to posts in the new structure will be 
displaced and at risk of redundancy.  The Council delegates authority for the 
appointment and dismissal of Chief Officers including dismissal on the 
grounds of redundancy, to the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel (COEP).  

88



 

 

The COEP also has delegated authority to determine any payments on 
termination of £100,000 or greater. 
 
Performance Issues  
 
The recommendation is intended to improve the council’s performance by 
implementing a more cost effective senior management structure which will 
enable the organisation to better meet the significant challenges we face 
whilst also maximising the opportunities that are available to the Council.  
 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
There are no direct implications 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
Operational risks – The recommendation reduces the numbers of senior 
managers, which will potentially reduce capacity.  The structural and cultural 
changes set out in my consultation document are intended to mitigate this 
risk. 
 
Change risks – The consultation document makes clear the leadership and 
cultural values that are required in order to meet the future challenges and 
maximise opportunities.  The consultation responses support this view and 
the work that I will lead to support the development and embedding of our 
values to mitigate this risk.  
 
The process to implement the new structure will be undertaken in 
accordance with the council’s change policies and procedures and be 
designed to minimize any risk associated with the transition to the new 
structure. 
 
Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No  
 
Separate risk register in place?  No  
  

Legal Implications 
 
 
Any restructure of the senior management team will require the Council to 
comply  with the Protocol for Managing Organisational Change in ensuring 
that a fair process is followed. The resulting restructure should ensure that the 
required 6 statutory officer posts remain and, in the case of the s151 Officer, 
the Monitoring Officer, Director Children's Services, Director of Adults' 
Services and Director of Public Health have direct access to the Head of Paid 
Service 
 
 
 
 
 

89



 

 

Financial Implications 
 
 
The net impact of posts deleted as a result of comparing the old senior 
management structure with that proposed is a saving in the region of £1m per 
annum (full year effect).  This excludes the cost of implementation. Any 
potential redundancy and pension strain costs will have to be met from the 
MTFS Implementation Reserve.   
 
A number of posts within the new structure assume either full of partial 
capitalisation. Any salary capitalisation will have to comply with the capital 
accounting regulations to prevent any impact on the general fund.  
 
The revenue cost savings will be accounted for within the directorate they 
pertain to. 
 
 

 
Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. The Equalities Impact 
Assessment (EIA) has noted that there is an under representation of BAME 
and disabled staff in the senior management structure.  As the Protocol for 
Managing Organisational Change will be used to implement the new 
structure, first consideration to either assimilation or ring-fencing is 
contractually required.  The outcome of this exercise may result in no change 
to this under representation.  
 
The EIA will be reviewed following Cabinet’s decision and the implementation 
of a new structure.  The Council will continue to monitor the representation of 
women, ethnic minorities and those with a disability in senior management 
through performance indicators. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
The Council’s vision:  
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 

• Making a difference for communities 

• Making a difference for local businesses 

• Making a difference for families 
 
 
 
 

90



 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Dawn Calvert X  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 2 June 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Linda Cohen X  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date: 29 May 2015 

   
 

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO, as it impacts on all 
Wards  
 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
YES 
 
 
Alex Dewsnap, Chair 
DETG 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 

Contact: 
 
Michael Lockwood, Chief Executive 
DD: 020 8424 1001 
Email: michael.lockwood@harrow.gov.uk 

 
 

Background Papers: 
 
Information Report to Cabinet on Senior Management Restructure - 23 April 
2015 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/b19476/Supplemental%20Agend
a%20Thursday%2023-Apr-2015%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

 

91



 

 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 
 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call-in applies] 
 
 
 
 

 

92



Harrow Council 
Senior Management
Restructure

Consultation Pack 

April 2015

Annexe 1

93



1

April 2015 

Dear Colleague 

As you know the Administration has asked me to review the Council’s senior 
management structure and this document describes my draft proposals on which I 
would like your views. 

The purpose of the changes are to put in place a new senior management structure 
that will enable us to better meet the significant challenges we face and maximise 
the opportunities that are available to the organisation.

My time at the Local Government Association has given me an opportunity to visit 
many other Councils and get a strong insight into how the sector will need to develop 
in the years ahead. I have drawn on this experience in taking a look at what 
arrangements I think Harrow needs to put in place in order to be successful in the 
coming years. The new structure that I am proposing will rightly reduce senior 
management costs given the £83m financial challenge we face up to 2018/19 but in 
my view will also enable us to more effectively deliver the Councils priorities and 
opportunities that lie ahead. 

The Council has already had to make significant budget reductions, which have 
resulted in some very difficult political decisions.  However, we are still only half way 
through the cuts programme which is forecast to continue up until at least 
2018/2019.  With that in mind it is calculated that these proposals will reduce senior 
management revenue costs by some £4m over the next 4 years. 

Despite these financial challenges (which I do not underestimate) there are also 
opportunities which we must do all we can to seize. Commercialisation and 
Regeneration are two areas the Administration have quite rightly asked me to focus 
on. In the case of the former, it is important the Council does not just look at reducing 
its costs but also seeks to identify and maximise any opportunities from new income 
streams that can compensate for the cuts in our grant income.  This will require not 
only structural but cultural changes which I have referred to later in this document. 

In the case of the latter, the wider economic recovery also presents us with an 
enormous Regeneration opportunity which can bring in much needed external 
investment into the Borough in the form of additional housing, new businesses to 
provide improved job opportunities and new social and community infrastructure. 
This work can make a real difference to our residents’ quality of life and life chances.  
It is therefore important we do our best to seize this opportunity.

The scale of the financial challenges and the Regeneration opportunity can only be 
successfully tackled if we work with our residents and involve them every step of the 
way. I am therefore also looking for this restructure to deliver a step change in the 
way we engage with and involve local people in what we do. 

To tackle these significant challenges and maximise the opportunities available my 
proposed restructure covers more than just Corporate Directors but the wider senior 
management structure. 

94



2

I recognise any changes can be disruptive and may, in some respects, adversely 
affect morale but I believe the proposals and action I am taking are in the best 
interests of the council and our residents, though as I have said I would clearly wish 
to hear any views you have on them. 

The following pages describe, in more detail, the restructures proposals, rationale for 
the changes, and the process for moving from the current structure to the new.

The consultation period for the proposed structure will commence on 15th April 2015 
and l will present my proposals to Cabinet for information on the 23rd April 2015.  I 
will meet to discuss the proposals further with all Senior Managers on Wednesday 
29th April where you can raise, with me, any questions about the proposals.  I have 
also made diary space available to meet with individuals, so if you want to discuss 
any issues with me on a one-to-one basis, please contact Sheron Laughlin on 
extension 8447, who will make the necessary arrangements. Alternatively, I am very 
happy to receive any written comments/feedback during the consultation process.

All Councillors and recognised trade unions are being consulted on my proposals.  I 
am also obviously happy to discuss these with Scrutiny should they wish.  The 
consultation pack will be available on the hub so that all staff are aware of the 
proposals.  The consultation will close on 20th May.  I will feedback to Senior 
Managers the responses to the consultation on 27th May and l will take my final 
proposals to Cabinet on 17th June 2015, including any feedback from the 
Consultation process. 

Responses to this consultation can be made either directly to me or via your trade 
union.

I confirm the timetable for this consultation exercise is: 

 15th April 2015  - Consultation commences with issue of Consultation Pack. 

 23rd April 2015  - Report to Cabinet for information. 

 29th April 2015  - Meeting with Senior Managers to discuss proposals
  (Start - 9.30am). 

 20th May 2015  - Closing date for responses to consultation. 

 27th May 2015  - Meeting with Senior Managers to feedback following
consultation (Start - 9.30am). 

 17th June 2015  - Report to Cabinet seeking approval for restructure. 

You will be aware that further information, guidance and support is available from 
Jon Turner, Divisional Director of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development. Confidential support and advice is also available from the Council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme. 

Yours sincerely, 

Michael Lockwood 
Chief Executive 

95



3

1. Current structure 

1.1 The current senior management structure was put in place in November 2011. 
This restructure delivered a new:- 

(i) Environment and Enterprise Directorate which brought together our 
Planning and Regeneration Services with our Environmental Services.

(ii) Community Health and Wellbeing Directorate which brought together our 
previous Adults and Housing Directorate with Public Health and 
Community and Cultural Services; and 

(iii) Resources Directorate which merged the previous Chief Executives 
Department, Corporate Finance and Legal and Governance Services.  

The Children’s and Families Directorate remained unchanged. 

1.2 Once this structure was completed the new Corporate Directors were tasked 
with restructuring their own areas and delivering a reduction in senior 
management revenue costs saving some £1m per annum. 

1.3 This current Senior Management Structure is at Appendix 1.

2. Rationale for restructuring 

2.1 Greater clarity has now emerged about the challenges and opportunities that 
the Council must address in the next five years. This restructure it is hoped 
will enable us to successfully tackle these challenges. Financially the Council, 
along with the rest of Local Government must make further significant cuts, if 
it is to meet the budget gaps left by reductions in Government funding and the 
additional pressures on our expenditure from issues such as an ageing 
population, more children coming into our care etc. This funding gap is 
currently estimated at some £83m up to 2018/19.  It is therefore right that 
these proposals will further reduce our senior management revenue costs by 
some £4m over the next 4 years in addition to the reductions described in 
paragraph 1 above. 

2.2 It is also important to recognise that Harrow, like many other Councils, has 
been delivering year on year reductions from its budgets going back to 2007. 
As a result many of the obvious savings opportunities have been identified. 
Buildings have been consolidated, systems and processes reviewed, staff 
terms and conditions changed etc. Indeed every service has played a major 
role in responding to the challenges to date with to the credit of the Council 
many examples of improved services despite the budget reductions. 

96



4

2.3 However, going forward services will have to be changed and more innovative 
models of service delivery required. My proposals place a greater emphasis 
on the role of good commissioning and I am recommending a coordinated
commissioning arrangement across the council through a new 
commissioning network, to support the Corporate Management Team.  I am 
expecting a set of plans for each major service area to be in place by the end 
of the calendar year that provide a clear direction for the delivery of services 
up to 2018/19.  The development of these plans and the output of them will be 
a major focus for the new Corporate Management Team. 

2.4 Simply reducing costs will not be sufficient to meet these challenges and 
would miss the opportunity that the Council has to earn additional income. I 
am therefore looking for this new structure to put more emphasis on the 
development and exploitation of commercial/business opportunities across 
the organisation. This may involve the provision of services to other 
public/private bodies, investing in asset opportunities or identifying areas 
where the council can provide new services to residents/businesses.  I have 
also made significant attempts since starting at Harrow to progress shared 
service opportunities with other Councils which my proposed structure should 
be able to build on. 

2.5 As well as being more commercial there is a great opportunity to bring 
significant external investment into the Borough to contribute to the physical, 
social and economic regeneration of Harrow.  This will result in the 
building of much needed new housing, businesses to provide important new 
job opportunities and new social and community infrastructure. The Council 
has already identified a number of important strategic sites to progress these 
proposals including discussions as to whether the Council should move from 
its current Civic Centre site for redevelopment. The Government financially 
incentivises us to progress these ideas though the New Homes Bonus and 
Business Rates Retention Scheme.  The recovery of the wider economy 
makes these ambitions more achievable, and gives us the opportunity to 
make improvements to the Borough that will enhance the quality of life for 
everybody. Putting us in a position to further our ambitions and provide 
momentum to these ideas is a fundamental aim of these restructuring 
proposals.

2.6 The Council’s reputation with its Residents must also be improved and will 
be the ultimate test of our success in the years ahead. When satisfaction was 
last tested in March 2014 only 43% of residents were satisfied with the 
Council’s performance. This was the lowest score in the seven years that 
satisfaction has been measured in this way. Specifically, residents felt that 
they were not able to influence decisions affecting their area and as a 
consequence do not believe that the Council acts on their concerns. Tackling 
these views is central to our own administration’s desire to improve the way 
we engage and involve residents and service users in shaping, delivering and 

97



5

holding our services to account. I am therefore looking through this restructure 
for a step change in how we engage with and involve local people in what we 
do.

2.7 We must also work together to improve staff morale, which remains a 
challenge. The backdrop of low or non existent pay rises and job cuts has 
clearly played its part and many areas of the Council have been through 
major restructuring recently. Harrow has very loyal and hard working staff, 
who have shown enormous resilience in recent years. However we must build 
a workforce that is skilled and motivated to deliver our plans ahead. The 
CREATE values have served us well for a number of years but I am keen as 
part of these restructuring proposals to work with staff to build some new 
cultural values that will underpin everything that we do but will also reflect 
the times and new challenges we now face. 

2.8 There is a need to embed a culture that encourages innovation, creativity and 
calculated risk taking and for us to become a more entrepreneurial and 
‘business-like’ Council to reflect our greater emphasis on 
commercialisation.  Many innovations and ideas come from our front line staff 
and we should develop a culture that encourages them to come forward with 
new ideas.

2.9 As well as changing our organisational structure I will also be requiring our 
senior managers to be more effective leaders and this is reflected in the draft 
job description at Appendix 7. The new management team should provide 
seamless and consistent leadership to the whole organisation.  Specifically, 
they must; 

 Work across Directorate and organisational boundaries in a cross-cutting 
and collaborative way seeing the links and synergies and putting the 
interests of the Council first. 

 Have a clear view of the future and be good communicators. 

 Be visible leaders who are good listeners. 

 Involve staff in what they do and gain their confidence and respect.  Good 
staff engagement is critical at this time. 

 Encourage calculated risk taking and innovation.  Incremental change will 
not be enough. 

 Maintain the organisations standards and values, modelling the positive 
leadership behaviours we need. 

 Show compassion and empathy.  They must say sorry when they get 
things wrong and thank-you when an individual has performed well; and 

 Show good partnership skills.  Our problems cannot be solved by us 
working in isolation.  Partners can bring skills, expertise, experience and 
knowledge we haven’t got.  It is about collaborative leadership skills. 

98



6

2.10 My expectations of the new management team will be very high and to 
support this I am keen that to underpin my proposed structural changes we 
will put in place a leadership programme to develop these skills.  There will be 
support for each individual to grow and develop but importantly, there will also 
be zero tolerance of behaviours which do not support the organisation’s 
cultural values. 

2.11 Given the scale of the challenge ahead and the timeframes within which I am 
expecting senior managers to deliver, I am consulting on proposals here that 
affect Directors, Divisional Directors, some Heads of Service as well as 
Corporate Directors. I am keen as far as possible for this to be a ‘one off’ 
restructure that will provide the Council with the managerial leadership it 
needs up to 2018.

2.12 I have also discussed my proposals with the Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio Holders who have indicated their support in principle subject to this 
consultation.  I have also made myself available to all members of Corporate 
Leadership Group and I am grateful to those that I have met for their advice 
before writing this report. 

3. Proposed structure 

3.1 My proposed Senior Management Structure is at Appendix 2. The proposals 
reduce the number of Corporate Directors from 4 to 3 and 3 Divisional 
Directors and 2 Heads of Service posts are also deleted. It is calculated these 
proposals will reduce senior management revenue costs by some £4m over 
the next 4 years.  The key changes proposed are set out below: 

(A) Corporate Director – People

i. My proposal merges the existing Directorate of Children and Families 
with some of the Divisions in the existing Directorate of Community, 
Health and Wellbeing to create a new Directorate of “People Services” 
(see Appendix 3).  It is an increasingly common feature to merge 
Children and Adults Services. Within London, to date, seven other 
London Boroughs have already undertaken this approach and, given 
the service benefits and financial savings, I believe this is the most 
appropriate direction for the Council.  I am also proposing that the new 
Corporate Director would also be the statutory Director for Children’s 
Services.

99



7

ii. The new Directorate will include the existing functions of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health from the Community, Health & Wellbeing 
Directorate.  I am proposing that Housing and elements of Community 
and Cultural Services will move into the new Directorate of Community 
Services (see later). 

iii. The proposed merging of the Divisional Director roles for Special 
Educational Needs (SEN) and Education and Commissioning will 
deliver a seamless service, which better meets the needs of Harrow’s 
children and young people ranging from those who are most vulnerable 
and in need of significant support to those who are more able and 
require challenge to realise their full potential.  I also believe it will 
provide a single point of contact for schools and deliver a strategic 
advantage to the way in which our work with partners is carried out. 

iv. The new post of Divisional Director Education Services will bring 
together specialist services such as the educational psychology 
service, services for children with sensory impairment and the SEN 
assessment and review teams with more universal services such as 
Harrow’s school improvement service (HSIP) and the strategic 
functions of school place planning, school admissions, early years and 
services for the 16-25 year group.  I also hope these proposals lend 
themselves to the further development of our HSIP offer to a wider 
range of schools. 

v. My new structure will provide schools, colleges and other educational 
provision with more effective challenge and ensure that the Council 
plays an important part in supporting the work of our schools to 
continue to provide the excellent standards of education achieved 
across the borough. It will also ensure that the Council delivers on its 
statutory responsibilities in supporting schools in challenging 
circumstances, promoting educational excellence throughout the 
system and in providing support for those individual children across the 
age range that require it. 

vi. I am also proposing that responsibility for delivery of the Schools 
Capital Programme will move to the new Community Directorate as it 
more naturally sits alongside the procurement and management of 
major contracts for other building works.  The decision is subject to the 
result of a feasibility study assessing the benefits of setting up of a 
single Council-wide Construction Delivery Unit where this work can be 
brought together with all Council wide building activity (see para 4.3). 

100



8

vii. My proposed structure will also support the creation of a single 
commissioning service across Adults, Children and Public Health 
services which it is hoped will deliver both efficiencies and improved 
services to our residents. The vacant post of Head of Commissioning 
and Partnerships will be deleted and the Director of Adult Services 
(who will be the Statutory Officer for Adult Services) will lead on the 
development of a new strategy and commissioning function that will 
help to deliver a more agile and flexible approach leading to improved 
contract management expertise and improved decision-making. These 
improvements will lead to services provided through lower cost delivery 
options, increased self service and greater choice.  By breaking down 
divisional barriers it will make it easier for residents to engage with the 
Council in these important service areas. The commissioning service 
would be part of the coordinated Commissioning Network and work 
closely with the Divisional Director of Strategic Commissioning, to 
ensure improved and more effective commissioning across the Council 
and with our partners.

viii. I believe the bringing together of these three important functions e.g. 
Adults, Children and Public Health Services will provide economies of 
scale and a greater opportunity to develop areas such as demand 
management, service user insight and wider personalisation. The 
single commissioning function will also make the Council more 
commercially minded and give Councillors and Officers better 
information and business intelligence about where changes and 
efficiencies can be made to ensure our resources are focussed on 
protecting front line services in these important areas. 

ix. Through these restructuring proposals my intention is to create a single 
life-long service for children and adults with disability, which will 
improve the offer to some of our most vulnerable groups. I believe the 
proposed changes hold the very real prospect of vastly improved 
transitions between Children’s and Adults Services and stronger links 
with other important services such as mental health services. The 
strengths developed within Adults Services relating to personalised 
budgets would be maximised across a greater number of residents, 
especially our younger residents and provide for more effective and 
focussed early intervention, greater choice and support the 
personalisation agenda. 

x. I also believe the services which currently exist separately in Children’s 
and Adults Services would become more joined up and provide a better 
experience for our young people at the point of transition to adulthood. 
Convergent approaches across the existing services would facilitate 
more effective commissioning and negotiation, together with the NHS 

101



9

and other partner organisations with greater opportunity for market 
development of services available to children and adults with disability. 

xi. The posts of Divisional Director Early Intervention Services and 
Divisional Director Targeted Services have already been deleted and 
replaced by a single post of Divisional Director Children and Young 
People. The new postholder has been appointed and will start in July.  

xii. I am proposing the post of Head of Transformation, which is currently 
filled through a secondment will be deleted and the Business Support 
Function which was reporting to this position on an interim basis will be 
transferred to the Resources & Commercial Directorate (see (c)vi). 

xiii. In summary, I believe there are clear service benefits by bringing 
together Children, Adults & Public Health Services into a single 
Directorate.  Specifically: 

 It will provide a clearer and stronger role of ‘People’s 
Champion’ in the organisation by introducing a single voice for 
People’s services. 

 It will provide a shared view of the needs of citizens through a 
‘life course’ approach to the services they require. 

 It will significantly improve transitions between Children and 
Adults Services, Mental Health, Drugs and Alcohol Services, 
Domestic Violence to the benefit of the individuals concerned. 

 By joining up Adults, Children and Public Health it will provide a 
more effective commissioning service, and a stronger 
negotiating position with health and other partners.  It will also 
provide a major opportunity to improve the wider 
commissioning network.  In the case of the former it is 
important we develop a more co-ordinated relationship with our 
Health partners.  Our Integrated Care Pilot work has 
demonstrated the benefit of getting that relationship right which 
has the potential to not only save significant amounts of money 
but more importantly develop a more patient-centric approach 
to care. 

 It will provide convergent approaches to crucial functions such 
as safeguarding and disabilities; and 

 It will better support an overarching approach to health 
inequalities and wellbeing. 

102



10

Underpinning all this is the opportunity to:- 

 Create a leaner and more efficient Directorate. 

 Rationalise the number of partnership boards. 

 Develop a better commercialisation offer across the services:  

 and          

 Improve the resilience of some of the services provided. 

(B) Corporate Director – Community  

(i) This post will lead a new Directorate that will bring together 
Environment, Housing and parts of Community & Cultural Services as 
well as responsibility for delivery of the Schools Capital Programme 
(subject to the review at para 3.4) to form a new Directorate of 
Community Services (see Appendix 4). 

(ii) Given the scale of the opportunity that lies ahead for attracting inward 
investment, I am proposing that the areas of Regeneration and 
Planning will report directly to myself.  I am also proposing the current 
post of Head of Economic Development will report to the Divisional 
Director of Regeneration & Planning (see D below). 

(iii) As the scale of the Council’s responsibilities for Community and 
Cultural Services are reduced I am proposing to delete the post of 
Divisional Director of Community and Culture and merge 
responsibilities for parts of these functions with those of Environmental 
Services.  As part of this consultation I would like you views on whether 
this is the best place to locate these services within this Directorate. 

(iv) I will also be looking for the role of Divisional Director of 
Commissioning to play a major role in developing the future direction of 
the service and to work as part of the new Commissioning Network
to feed into the Corporate Management Team as proposals develop. 

(v) I believe there a number of service benefits by bringing together a 
Directorate that can provide a more holistic approach to our 
Community Services.  Specifically, I believe: 

 It will build on and further develop the obvious synergies 
between the universal services we provide and valued by our 
residents.

103



11

 It will provide a more holistic approach to the services that form 
the fabric of our community e.g. public realm, housing, leisure & 
culture.

 It will lead on the Administration’s proposal to recalibrate our 
relationship with residents by developing plans in their service 
areas which will encourage greater citizenship/social 
responsibility.

 It will lead on developing innovative ideas as to how we can 
work better and more effectively with our partners in the 
voluntary sector. 

 It is hoped our more holistic approach to community services will 
improve the quality of life of our residents which in turn should 
help improve our resident satisfaction with these important 
Council services. 

(C) Corporate Director - Resources & Commercial

(i) The title of the Directorate has changed to reflect the greater emphasis 
and importance that commercialisation must play in the future.  

(ii) The Directorate will largely contain the current functions that are within 
the Resources Directorate.  However, savings are made at the 
Director level as the post of Director Legal & Governance is now only 
0.6 FTE as the post is shared with Buckinghamshire County Council. 
The post of Director Customer Services & IT is now only 0.6 FTE, the 
post holder having reduced their hours through flexible retirement. 
These two part time posts therefore save the Council 0.8 FTE. at 
Director level.  In the medium term I expect to make additional savings 
following the departure of the Director of Finance & Assurance (see v 
below) and when the Director of Customer Services & IT retires I will 
consider whether we need to replace this post. 

(iii) I have given further consideration to merging functions and reducing 
the span of control of the Corporate Director. However there a number 
of different professions that are in the Resources Directorate and I 
believe that these each need to continue to have senior level 
ownership and sponsorship and to be led by suitably senior people. 
As described above I am however looking to achieve this whilst at the 
same time delivering savings at a senior level. 

(iv) In Legal and Governance I am looking for the postholder to continue to 
be focused on the expansion of the shared service and the 
development of new income streams through the Alternative Business 

104



12

Structure that is HB Public Law Ltd. There is considerable
commercial and financial gain for Harrow in doing this and I want this 
to be the focus of the Director. 

(v) In Finance & Assurance the current Director is leaving the Council and I 
am therefore considering options to create a new S151 Officer role, 
which could be filled from within existing staffing and enable additional 
savings to be made.  The new S151 Officer role would lead the Finance 
Division with Internal Audit, Anti Fraud and Emergency Planning being 
managed elsewhere within Resources. 

(vi) In Customer Services & IT it is critical our transition to the new IT 
provider is successfully concluded.  I am proposing to include 
Business Support within this Division. This has previously been 
reporting to the Head of Transformation on an interim basis (see 
Appendix 5). In doing that I am keen that a fundamental review of 
Business Support is undertaken as soon as possible to report back to 
me on what is working/lessons learnt and proposed next steps.  It is 
critical this review is undertaken with the full involvement and advice of 
staff in Business Support. 

(vii) The Directorate will oversee and co-ordinate all commercial activity 
across the Council working closely with all Corporate Directors.  
Specifically, in Commercial, Contracts & Procurement, looking for the 
immediate development of a 3 year Commercial Strategy which will 
highlight amongst other things the Councils current commercial activity 
and set out clear proposals with costings of an action plan for the next 
3 years.  Depending on the scale of the opportunity and with the 
agreement of the Administration I would be happy to consider investing 
further resources in this area where the right business case is made.  It 
is critical this is a whole Council approach and it will require us to be 
more commercial in our outlook and take a different approach to risk.  It 
is hoped the changes to our cultural values will underpin this.

(viii) I am also looking for the Commercial, Contracts & Procurement 
Division to develop proposals to lead a shared service on behalf of a 
number of Councils. This Division must continue to more than cover its 
costs and I will be expecting it to produce an annual report to Cabinet 
to demonstrate that. 

105



13

(ix) The Administration has also made clear to me their desire to make a 
step change in our approach to community engagement.  As part of 
this work I am proposing that the Community Cohesion function from 
the Community and Culture Division becomes part of this Directorate. 
With the challenges and opportunities ahead we must take local people 
with us and engage them in the decisions we take. Building community 
capacity and volunteering across the Borough will help us to deliver the 
needs of our residents by encouraging more citizenship and social 
responsibility as the direct delivery of some services by the Council 
inevitably recedes. 

(x) I am expecting the Divisional Director of Strategic Commissioning to 
form and lead a new coordinated Commissioning Network that will 
develop and own a set of plans for the strategic direction of each major 
service area up to 2018/19. I am expecting these plans to be in place 
by the end of the calendar year.  The development of these plans and 
the output of them will be a major focus of the Corporate Management 
Team. I am also looking for this new network to provide leadership to 
the coordination of our consultation, engagement and involvement 
work.  Specifically, I would like to see consultation and community 
engagement consistently undertaken across the organisation with 
common standards and messaging.  I would also like to see better 
coordination of volunteering schemes across the Borough. 

(xi) With a new communications contract having just been let I am also 
expecting the Corporate Director to set out a clear and innovative 
proposal in the next 3 months to address the unacceptably low levels of 
resident satisfaction reported to us from our Reputation surveys in 
March 2014. 

(D) Divisional Director – Regeneration & Planning

(i) Given the scale of the opportunity that lies ahead for attracting inward 
investment into the Borough.  I am proposing that Regeneration and 
Planning will now be line managed by myself. I am also proposing that 
the current post of Head of Economic Development will in turn be line 
managed by the Divisional Director of Regeneration and Planning 
(Appendix 6) given the obvious links and synergies between the two. 

106



14

(ii) The Head of Economic Development will have line responsibility for the 
Community Learning function from the Community and Culture 
Division.  Given its work on adult community learning, employability 
and the skills agenda I believe there are important synergies with our 
work on economic development. 

(iii) The Council has already identified a number of important strategic sites 
to progress these regeneration proposals. Successful delivery of these 
plans can result in much needed new housing, businesses and social 
and community infrastructures for the Borough which can make a 
significant difference to our residents’ quality of life and life chances. 

(iv) Regeneration is a whole Council opportunity and I believe that 
reporting to myself should ensure we maximise this opportunity and 
achieve the much needed momentum required. 

4.  Other Proposed Changes 

4.1 My proposals reduce the number of senior management posts and therefore 
potentially affect the PA support arrangements, specified in the Business 
Support project.  Consequently, I am also seeking the views of PAs as part of 
my consultation. 

4.2 The scale and size of our proposed capital programme covering the: 

 Regeneration proposals for the Borough. 

 School Expansion Programme. 

 Housing Building Programme (HRA/non HRA). 

 are estimated to total over £1b in spend. 

4.3 I would therefore like to explore as part of these restructuring proposals the 
possibility of setting up a Construction Delivery Unit within the organisation 
to centrally manage these extensive programmes and potentially save 
significant sums of money. 

4.4 This organisation spends many £m’s on project management, surveyors, 
architects and other professional fees.  A Construction Delivery Unit would 
enable us to retain more control over these areas and provide opportunities 
for:-

107



15

 Pooling resources across the Council eg streamlined management, 
support functions, training and development. 

 Sharing professional practice, project management skills and 
developing in-house capacity and capability thereby reducing our 
reliance on expensive interims and in some cases external 
professionals.

4.5 I want to commission a feasibility study reporting to me on the potential 
benefits/opportunities for setting up such a team and the resources that would 
be required to operate it.  A significant proportion of the costs of this team 
could potentially be capitalised.  

4.6 As a result of these proposed changes, I have revised the job description for 
Corporate Directors, so that they better reflect the broader leadership changes 
I have previously identified (see Appendix 7) 

5. Governance and Decision Making

5.1  The new Corporate Strategic Board is expected to be outward facing in its 
perspective and focused on the long term interests of the whole Council and 
the Borough as a whole. I am not looking for individuals who represent their 
Directorates but work horizontally across the organisation and see the links 
and synergies that exist putting the interest of the council first. I am looking for 
strong team working skills and visible, passionate leaders who will champion 
the organisation’s values and build the Council’s relationship with its staff and 
its residents.  I have clearly set out in paragraph 2.9 the attributes of these 
future leaders. 

5.2 As a result of the last restructure in 2011, the Council created a new 
Operations Board made up of members of the Corporate Leadership Group. 
I have been very impressed by how this group has developed and the role it 
has come to play in the Council.  As part of these restructuring proposals I am 
keen to build on this and consider how we can develop its role further so as to 
ensure that cross-council issues are better tackled using the talent and 
expertise cross-organisation.

6.  Process of moving from the current to the proposed structure 

6.1 The appointment process will be in accordance with the Council’s Protocol for 
Managing Organisational Change (PMOC, which is available for you refer to 
on the intranet.  Appointments to Chief Officer posts (Corporate Directors and 
posts with Statutory Officer roles) will be made by the Chief Officer 
Employment Panel which will be convened as appropriate. 

108



16

Appointment by job matching and assimilation

6.2 The following new posts are sufficiently similar to posts in the old structure 
that I am proposing that the current post holders be appointed through 
assimilation.

New Posts Old Post

Corporate Director Resources & 
Commercial

Corporate Director Resources 

Divisional Director Regeneration & 
Planning

Divisional Director Planning 

If there are others with a reasonable claim to these posts, then ring fencing 
will be considered. 

6.3 The following posts are deleted in the new structure and therefore where 
there are current post holders they are at risk of redundancy and entitled to 
be considered for vacant posts within the new structure. 

Deleted Posts 

Corporate Director Children & Families 

Corporate Director Community, Health & Wellbeing 

Corporate Director Environment & Enterprise 

Divisional Director Education & Commissioning 

Divisional Director Special Educational Needs Services 

Divisional Director Community & Culture 

Head of Transformation Programme 

Head of Commissioning & Partnerships 

Appointment by ringfenced interview

6.4 The following posts are new posts, which do not closely match the duties 
and responsibilities of any post in the current structure.  Therefore, subject to 
there being no others with comparable claims, I am proposing that these 
posts are ringfenced to post holders in the current structure as set out below: 

New Posts Ringfenced to 

Corporate Director Community 
Services

Corporate Director Environment & 
Enterprise

Divisional Director Environment, 
Community & Culture 

Divisional Director  Community & 
Culture

Divisional Director Education 
Services

Divisional Director Special Needs 
Services

109



17

6.5 Senior managers displaced by these proposals will be considered for 
redeployment to any remaining vacant posts.  In the event that there are no 
redeployees or others with comparable claims, appointment will be by open 
competition. 

6.6 The following posts are either vacant posts in the current structure that are 
unchanged in the new structure, or new posts where there are no current post 
holders whose duties match the duties and responsibilities of the post.  
Therefore I am proposing that these posts will be filled by open competition, 
subject to there being no redeployees or others with reasonable claims to the 
posts.

Vacant Posts 

Corporate Director Children & Adults 

Director of Finance & Assurance (vacant from end of May) 

6.7 If you are not appointed to a post in the new Senior Management structure 
you will be displaced and at risk of redundancy, whereupon, the Council will 
make every effort to find suitable alternative employment for you.  As you 
appreciate, you must co-operate with the Council’s attempts to find you 
suitable alternative employment, as if you do not, you may not be entitled to 
redundancy payments in the event that your employment is subsequently 
terminated.

6.8 The Council may consider requests for voluntary redundancy / early 
retirement.  However, a request will only be agreed when it is in the interests 
of the Council and supported by a business case.  If you wish to volunteer, 
please discuss this with me at the earliest opportunity.

List of Appendices 

 Appendix 1 –  Current Senior Management Structure 

 Appendix 2 –  Proposed Senior Management Structure 

Appendix 3 –  Proposed People Directorate Structure 

Appendix 4 –  Proposed Community Directorate Structure 

Appendix 5 –  Proposed Resources & Commercial Directorate Structure 

Appendix 6 –  Proposed Regeneration Division Structure 

Appendix 7 –  Proposed Corporate Director Job Description 

110



Chief Executive

Director Legal & Governance

Director Finance & Assurance

Director Customer Services & IT

Divisional Director Commercial

Contracts & Procurement

Divisional Director Human Resources

& Organisational

Development

Divisional Director Strategic

Commissioning

Corporate Director

Community Health & Wellbeing

Corporate Director Childrens &

Families

Corporate Director

Environment & EnterpriseCorporate Director Resources

Divisional Director Housing

Director of Adult Social Services

Director of Public Health

Divisional Director Community &

Culture

Head of Transformation

Divisional Director

Education &

Commissioning

Divisional Director Targeted

Services

Divisional Director

Early Intervention Services

Divisional Director Special

Educational Needs Services

Divisional Director

Commissioning Services

Divisional Director Planning

Divisional Director Environment

Services

Head of Economic Development

& Research

Current – Senior Management Structure Appendix 1

111



Chief Executive

Director Legal & Governance

(0.6FTE)

Director Finance & Assurance

Director Customer Services & IT

(0.6 FTE)

Divisional Director Commercial

Contracts & Procurement

Divisional Director Human Resources

& Organisational

Development

Divisional Director Strategic

Commissioning

Corporate Director People
Corporate Director

Community

Corporate Director Resources &

Commercial

Divisional Director Housing,

Director of Adult Social Services

Director of Public Health

Divisional Director Children &

Young People

Divisional Director

Education Services

Head of Economic Development

& Research

Divisional Director

Commissioning Services
Divisional Director of

Regeneration and Planning

Divisional Director Environment,

Community & Culture

Proposed Senior Management Structure Appendix 2

* Potential Director Post Savings

112



Corporate Director People

Director of Adult Social Services Director of Public Health
Divisional Director Children &

Young People

Divisional Director

Education Services

Proposed Structure People Directorate Appendix 3

113



Corporate Director

Community

Divisional Director Housing
Divisional Director

Commissioning Services

Divisional Director Environment ,

Community & Culture

Proposed Structure Community Directorate Appendix 4

114



Director Legal &

Governance

(0.6 FTE)

Director Finance &

Assurance

Director Customer

Services & IT

(0.6 FTE)

Divisional Director

Human Resources &

Organisational

Development

Corporate Director Resources

& Commercial

Proposed Structure Resources & Commercial Directorate

Appendix 5

Divisional Director

Strategic

Commissioning

Divisional Director

Commercial

Contracts &

Procurement

* Potential Director Post Savings

115



Chief Executive

Head of Economic Development

& Research

Divisional Director of

Regeneration and Planning

Proposed Structure – Regeneration and Planning Appendix 6

116



          Appendix 7 

 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW 
 

Corporate Director, Template 
 

Responsible to:-  Chief Executive 
 
Job Purpose 
 

The post is one of XX Corporate Directors responsible with the Chief Executive for 
the strategic and general management of the council and specifically the XXX 
Directorate. 
 

To be the Council’s XXXXXX and responsible for duties as set out in the statutory 
guidance on role and responsibilities. 
 

 

MAIN ACCOUNTABILITIES 
 

 
Leadership 

 

1. Together with the Chief Executive and members of the council’s Management 
Board, and in collaboration with elected members, establish and implement a 
vision for Harrow in the development of its services, organisation and 
workforce. 

 
2. Model the Council’s values in everything and use the values to set clear 

expectations of others; recognising and re-inforcing positive behaviours and 
addressing undesirable behaviour. 

 
3. Demonstrate good governance and ensure that structures and processes 

inform sound decision-making and service delivery. 
  

4. Deliver efficiency and value for money and sound financial management 
 

5. Develop and maintain systems and processes to develop capability, 
skills and knowledge at all levels within the organisation 

 
6. Develop and maintain a culture that encourages innovation and improvement 

 
7. Develop and maintain a healthy and effective interface between the 

Council Members and Officers 
 

8. Provide well-evidenced and sound advice directly to the Chief Executive, 
cabinet, portfolio holders and other members of council and attend council, 
cabinet and other committees and events as required 

117



 
9. Promote a positive image of Harrow externally and represent the council at 

local and national level attending and presenting at such conferences, 
seminars, meetings and working parties as may be required. 
 

10. Represent the council and/or the Chief Executive in discussions with partner 
organisations and other stakeholders. 

 
11. Lead and direct corporate and cross council activities as specified by the 

Chief Executive. 
 

12. Deputise for the Chief Executive within functional areas and other areas as 
specified by the Chief Executive. 

 
Commissioning 
 

13. Maintain and develop effective systems and processes for identifying the 
needs of the local community and the resources available to deliver agreed 
outcomes. 

 
14. Maintain and develop an effective framework for consultation and 

engagement with service users, staff, trade unions, voluntary and community 
organisations, partners and other stakeholders. 

 
15. Ensure services are commissioned to enable achievement of agreed 

outcomes through effective, efficient, equitable and sustainable service 
delivery. 

 
16. Lead innovation in the development of new approaches to service delivery to 

ensure continuous improvement in value for money, performance and quality 
of services for Council Tax payers  

 
17. Oversee and ensure implementation of service development  and delivery 

plans 
 
18. Ensure service agreements and contract arrangements enable service 

delivery against agreed outcomes 
 
19. Ensure monitoring and review arrangements are in place to enable evaluation 

of service delivery and impact on achieving agreed outcomes. 
 
20. Ensure in conjunction with strategic partners, government and other agencies 

the achievement of council objectives and the fulfilment of statutory 
obligations and national requirements. 
 

Partnership 
 

21. Maintain and develop effective relationships with key partners, service 
providers and stakeholders and the wider community to facilitate high quality 
commissioning of services. 

118



 
22. Maintain and develop effective relationships with relevant government 

departments and other national or regional bodies. 
 

23. Ensure the council is equipped to meet government requirements and 
inspection requirements. 

 
Performance and Resource Management 
 
24. Provide effective management arrangements to ensure delegated 

resources are used to best effect to deliver agreed outcomes 
 
25. Sustain a culture to encourage meaningful contribution by employees 

through their continuing development and commitment    
 
26. Develop and maintain effective governance and performance 

frameworks to clarify accountabilities, expectations and ensure that 
effective monitoring, reporting and challenge mechanisms are in place 

 
27. Participate in effective civil emergency planning, leadership and 

management. 
 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
28. Provide leadership, communication and action, which will exemplify the 

Council’s values, sense of purpose and commitment to ensure equality 
of opportunity and strengthen cohesion in the local community.  

 
 
ROLE SPECIFIC ACCOUNTABILITIES 
 
29. Fulfil the statutory role of XXXX and ensure that the associated statutory 

duties are discharged. 
 
30. Lead and direct the strategic and general management of the following 

services / functions on behalf of the council: 
 

· XXXX 
 
 
31. Lead and direct the effective development and implementation of the following 

key strategies on behalf of the council: - 
 

· XXXX 
 
32. To act as lead officer and directly advise the Chief Executive, relevant council 

committees and panels including Cabinet and Scrutiny sub committees and 
council members on all strategic polices and practices relating to the XXX 
Directorate. 

119



 
 
Dimensions 
 

· This is a Chief Officer post and reports to the Chief Executive 
 

· Responsible for the effective management of delegated budgets 
 

· Revenue budget in the order of £XXm 
 

· Capital budget in the order of £XXm 
 

· Any other delegated budgets e.g. pooled budgets 
 

· Directly manages X Directors / Head of Service and has overall 
responsibility for XXX employees.  

 

· The post has overall statutory responsibility for XXX 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

Date: 

 

17 June2015 
 

Subject: 

 

Revenue and Capital Outturn 2014-15 

Key Decision:   Yes 
 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Interim Director of Finance  

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Sachin Shah, Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Major Contracts 

Exempt: 

 

No 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes 

Wards affected: 

 

All  

Enclosures: 

 

Appendix 1 - Revenue Directorates Summary 
Appendix 2 - Revenue Carry forward Schedule  
Appendix 3 – Capital Monitoring 
Appendix 4 – HRA Revenue Outturn 
Appendix 5 –Reserves Movements 2014/15 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

This report sets out the Council’s revenue and capital outturn position for 2014/15 
 

Recommendations:  
1. That Cabinet notes the revenue and capital outturn position for 2014/15 
2. That Cabinet approves the contributions to reserves outlined in 

paragraphs 20 to 32. 
3. That Cabinet approves the revenue carry forwards outlined at 

paragraph 34 and detailed in Appendix 2. 
 

 

Agenda Item 13
Pages 141 to 176

141



 

 

4. That Cabinet approves the Housing Revenue Account debt write off 
outlined in paragraph 38. 

5. That Cabinet approve the additions to the capital programme outlined 
in paragraph 40. 

6. That Cabinet note the changes in quarter 4 to the Capital Programme 
outlined in paragraph 41 to 42. 

7. That Cabinet notes the carry forwards on the capital programme 
outlined in table 4 (paragraph 39) and set out at Appendix 3 that have 
been approved under delegated authority by the Director of Finance 
and Assurance  

8. That Cabinet approve the virement in the 2015/16 capital programme 
detailed in paragraph 52. 

9. That Cabinet notes the timetable for accounts completion and external  
audit review as outlined in paragraph 54. 

 

Reason:  (For recommendations)   
To report the financial position as at 31 March 2015. 

 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1. The revenue outturn position of the Council at the end of the financial 

year 2014/15year is showing a net under spend of£5.381mbefore 
transfers to reserves.  Carry forwards of £1.598mare requested which 
will reduce the net under spend after transfers to £3.783m.  It is an 
achievement that the council has delivered services within the approved 
budget, contained the pressures arising from the challenging financial 
environment and the risks around demand pressures.The gross savings 
included within the 2014/15 budget totalled £12.939m. 

2. It is recommended that the under spend of £5.381mis used to 
increase  reserves as follows: 

 

• Carry forwards        £1.598m 

• IT Implementation Reserve     £2.854m 

• Rapid Response Reserve     £75k   

• Standing up for those in need     £0.800m 

• MTFS Implementation      £54k  
    

3. The recommended contributions to reserves will support the Council 
moving forward to deliver agreed services in the challenging financial 
environment facing local government. 

 
2. All outturn positions detailed in this report are provisional until agreed by 

Cabinet and are subject to minor technical changes, prior to the 
finalisation of the Statement of Accounts. 

 
4. Totalspend on the capital programme for the year is £61.871m(£57.427m 

General Fund and £4.443m HRA). This compares to an approved budget 
of £117.877m (£107.402m General Fund and £10.476m HRA). The 
variance of £56.005m comprises of slippage of £48.372m General Fund 

142



and £2.241m HRA and underspends of £1.600m General Fund and 
£3.792m HRA. The underspends will contribute to revenue savings on 
capital financing costs. 

REVENUE OUTTURN 
5. The revenue outturn on General Fund for the Council after transfers to 

ear marked reserves for the financial year 2014/15is nil against the 
approved budget of £174.426m, and there is no addition or reduction to 
general reserves.   
 

Table 1 Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Summary 

Outturn 

Variance %

Carry 

Fwd

Variance 

adj for 

Carry Fwd

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

24,866 Resources 27,011 25,881 -1,130 -4.2 288 -842 -2,645

39,897 Environment & Enterprise 37,424 36,916 -508 -1.4 338 -170 -2,374

75,204 Community, Health & Wellbeing 76,589 77,578 989 1.3 129 1,118 -625

46,258 Children & Families 43,918 43,239 -679 -1.5 843 164 -365

186,225 Sub Total Directorate 184,942 183,614 -1,328 -0.7 1,598 270 -6,009

1,896 Inflation and Corporate Items 1,947 3 -1,944 -99.8 -1,875

921 Contingency 921 0 -921 -100.0 -1,171

0 Welfare Reform contingency 0 0 0 -2,000

-7,730 Capital Financing and Interest -944 -1,085 -141 -14.9 -917

-6,886 Grants -7,261 -8,308 -1,047 -14.4 -1,187

Carry Forwards from previous 

year -4,008 -4,008 0 0.0 0

Reserves Adjustments -1,171 -1,171 0 0.0 0

174,426 Sub Total 174,426 169,045 -5,381 3.1 -13,159

Contribution to Reserves

MTFS Implementation cost 54 54 2,796

Carry Forward Requests 14/15 1,598 1,598 4,009

IT Reserve 2,854 2,854 0

Rapid Response 75 75 0

Standing up for those in need 800 800 0

Business Risk 0 0 2,000

Transformation and Priority 

Initiatives Fund 0 0 3,000

174,426 Total Budget Requirement 174,426 174,426 0 0.0 -1,354

2013/14 

Outturn 

Variance

 Provision -

al Outturn 

 2014/15 

Original 

Budget

Latest 

Budget Directorate

 
 
Directorates’ Position 
6. The outturn for the Directorates is an under spend of £1.328m against 

the approved budget of £184.942mwhich represents a 0.7%variance.  
The position for each directorate is summarised below and further details 
are provided in Appendix 1.   

Resources 
7. The outturn position for Resources is an under spend of £1.130m.  The 

key reasons are detailed below: 

● Finance and Assurance – Increase in SLA income from Schools 
(£45k), an under spend on the finance transformation project and 

143



previously anticipated contribution to Insurance provision (£144k.), 
and a reduction in staff cost and delay to delivery of new anti-fraud 
system (£79k) all contribute to an under spend of £268k  

● HRD & Shared Services – Savings on staffing and operational 
activity  (£63k), delay to delivery of Management training  (£30k), 
delay to change for SAP account receivable invoice /credit note 
(£28k), other staffing underspend from Trade Union (£20k) and 
(£12k) additional income from HR services contribute to an under 
spend of £153k  

● Strategic Commissioning – Over recovery of SIMS income (£29k), 
Operation activity and staffing underspend in  Performance 
Management Team, Strategy & Performance and Policy and 
Partnership  (£180k),  Local Area Agreement (LAA) Grant (£44k) 
contribute to an under spend of £252k 

● Customer Services – There are a number of variances that have 
contributed to the overall under spend of £325k.  The key variances 
are: 

● Business Transformation Programme (BTP) payments not 
required due to delays in Mobile and Flex project (£249k). 
  

● Saving on new Print contract and carried forward budget for 
the old   print contract not needed (£168k) 

● BTP staffing and operational underspend (£66k) 

● The Housing Benefit overpayment bad debt provision was 
£100k overspent 

● Access Harrow staffing overspend and reduction in 
expected income 58k 

• Legal & Governance – HBPL Public Lawdeliver a contribution, of 
£105k of which £102k has been moved to a Legal Expansion 
Reserve and  uncompleted user acceptance testing (£86k) of a 
Case management systemcontribute to an underspend of £89k. 

 
8. The under spend is reduced to £0.842m after accounting for carry 

forwards of £288k which this report recommends (Appendix 2)  

Environment and Enterprise 

9. The outturn position for Environment & Enterprise is an under spend of 
£0.508m.  The key reasons are detailed below: 

● Additional income and one-off under spends - Parking enforcement 
(£0.764m), delays in the project implementation costs of Towards 
Excellence (£277k), additional rents from corporate estates (£164k), 
additional recycling and Civic Amenity site income (£181k) and 
additional income from cemeteries (£110k).   

144



● Offsetting these underspends is anMTFS saving not achieved in 
relation to the delay in Leisure Centre car parking charging (£300k) 
which will be started in April 2015, spend on Neighbourhood 
Investment Schemes reclassified as revenue expenditure (£219k), a 
shortfall on Building Control fee income (£179k) and  a shortfall on 
trade waste income (£281k)  

 
10. The under spend is reduced to £170k after accounting for carry forwards 

of £338k which this report recommends (Appendix 2)  

Community Health and Wellbeing 
11. The outturn position for Community Health and Wellbeing is an over 

spend of £0.989m.  The key reasons are detailed below: 
 

• Housing General Fund services are over spent by £1.271m, 
due mainly to increased demand for Bed & Breakfast accommodation 
driven by rapidly increasing rents in the Private Rented Sector 
combined with the impact of Government’s on-going Welfare Reforms, 
lower than anticipated Discretionary Housing Payments and higher 
contributions to the bad debt provision. The worsening position means 
that there is also a very real risk of a significant over spend in 2015-16. 

 
●  Public Health. A nil variance is reported at year end, however this is 

a result of adjustments as detailed below. 
 

o The outturn underspend of £593k against Public Health 
Grant was reported at quarter 3 and remains unchanged. 

 
o Of the underspend, £351k is reflected within Adult Social 

Care representing the wider public health responsibilities 
being delivered. 

 
o The balance of £241k will be transferred into the specific 

Public Health Reserve to fund, taking the total to £907k at 
31st March 2015 

 
● Community and Culture is reporting an underspend of £224k against 

a total net budget of £6.629m.  The underspend of £224k largely 
relates to a lower level of repairs and maintenance costs on libraries 
and leisure (£90k), senior management vacancy for 3months in 
Community Sector Support (£26k) and unspent grants of £122k. 

• Adult Services is underspent by £54k. This position reflects 
overspends across the directorate including those associated with 
unfunded legislative requirements around Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLs) and Mental Health in part as a result of Harrow 
Clinical Commissioning Groups decision to close Roxbourne 
(resulting in increased costs for social care), however these 
pressures were mitigated by fully utilising the Business Risk reserve 
of £0.750m set aside for the purpose of continuing health care 
cases, use of the public health grant to fund wider determinants of 
health and other health funding. 

 

145



12. The directorate over spend is increased to £1.118m after accounting for 
carry forwards of £129k which this report recommends (Appendix 2). 

 
Children’s and Families 

13. The outturn position for Children and Families is an under spend of 

£0.679m. The key reasons are detailed below: 

• Commissioning and Schools is under spent by £0.860m. Under spends 

relating to Troubled Families Grant (£0.573m) and Early Years Pupil 

Premium and Integrated Review Grant (£18k) have been requested for 

carry forward. The remainder of the under spend relates to the closure 

of the Teachers Centre in July (£70k), a recharge to Whitchurch Infant 

School for the Early Years Professional Lead's cover for the Head 

Teacher (£33k), Service Manager and Senior Commissioner posts 

being held vacant for part of the year (£104k) and 0.5 FTE Health Post 

at Ealing Hospital NHS Trust not being filled (£44k). 

• The Early Intervention Service is under spent by £276k.The under spend 

results from the Divisional Director and Service Manager posts being 

held vacant for part of the year (£98k), a Team Manager's post being 

held vacant for part of the year and a Counsellor post being funded by 

Troubled Families Grant (£79k) and an under spend on Children's 

Centres running costs (£98k). 

• Targeted Services is over spent by £1.090m.The overspend results from 

agency staffing being used to cover vacancies, sickness and additional 

caseloads (£437k) and non-staffing mainly in children’s placements 

and other client spend (£0.700m). A Social Care Innovation Grant has 

been requested for carry forward (£47k) 

• Management and Business Support isunder spent by £1.117m. 

Uncommitted budgets and unringfenced Adoption Reform and SEND 

Implementation Grants were held as management actions to offset 

pressures across the Directorate (£0.578m). Early savings for 2015/16 

were identified and held as a one off in year action to offset pressure 

on the placements budget (£365k). There was an under spend in 

Business Support resulting from 3 posts being held vacant for the year 

and an under spend on postage and printing (£180k). 

• Special Needs is over spent by £0.525m.The overspend is in two main 

areas. Special Needs Transport from delays in delivering MTFS 

savings and growth in demand (£409k) and Children with Disability 

Client costs (£313k). A carry forward of SEN Reform grant has been 

requested (£205k).  

14. The Directorate under spend of £0.679m becomes an overspend of £164k 

after accounting for requested carry forwards in relation to Social Care 

Innovation Grant (£47k), Troubled Families Grant (£0.573m), Early Years 

146



Pupil Premium and Integrated Review Grant (£18k) and SEN Reform Grant 

(£205k). 

INFLATION  

15. The Pay and Energy Inflation reserve stood at £1.4m. £0.734m has been 
allocated to fund the pay award leaving an underspend of £0.666m 
which contributes to the overall position.  The contingency stands at 
£350k for 2015/16 to cover additional utility inflation pressures.  

CORPORATE ITEMS 

16. Centrally held corporate items give an underspend of £1.278m to 
contribute to the overall position. £0.757m relates to additional 
Communities and Local Government grants, principally a s31 grant to 
compensate for lost business rates as a result of the autumn statement 
2013 measures. £290k relates to additional Education Services Grant. 
£231k relates to a surplus on the Goods Received, Invoice Received 
suspense code. 

CONTINGENCYAND RESERVES 
17. The main Contingencies and Reserves are summarised in table 2 below 

and supported by a narrative explanation: 
 
 
 Table 2: Contingencies and Reserves 2014/15 

 Budget 
Available 
2014/15 

In year 
contribution 

In 
year 
draw 
down 

Budget 
to carry 
forward 
into 
2015/16 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Unforeseen 
Contingency 

921  0 N/A 

Transformation 
and Priority 
Initiatives Fund 
(TPIF) 

3,370 801 -352 3,819 

Business Risk 
Reserve 

2,859  -750 2,109 

Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy 
Implementation 
Reserve 

6,074 1,066 -4,390 2,750 

Carry Forward 4,203  -4,008 195 

General 
Reserves 

10,008   10,008 

TOTAL 27,435 1,867 -9,500 18,881 

 
18. Unforeseen Contingency - There have been no calls on the 

contingency for unforeseen itemstherefore an under spend of £0.921m is 

147



contributing to the overall position. This contingency stands at £1.248min 
2015/16. 

Reserves 
19. Set out in paragraphs 20 to 32 below are the movements in the key 

reserves, either built in to the Outturn or proposed from the revenue 
underspend for the year. A full list is included in appendix 5. 

 
20. Transformation and Priority Initiatives Fund - The balance at 1 April 

2014 was £3.370m.  During the year £0.801m was added to the fund 
from early MTFS savings and bids of £352k were approved: 

• Arboricultural works £100k 

• Helping you event £30k 

• Pothole repairs £150k 

• Sports Development £50k 

• Harrow Mutual Support Network £13k 

• Housing Lettings agency £9k 
 

21. This leaves a balance of £3.819m.  No increase in this fund is 
recommended for 2015/16. 

 
22. Business Risk Reserve - This reserve was established as part of the 

2012/13 outturn to provide for a number of identified business risks. 
£2.859m was available at the start of 2014/15 and a drawdown of 
£0.750m has been made in–year in respect of Adults continuing care 
cases. 

 
23. This leaves a balance of £2.109m which will be retained to fund new and 

emerging business risks and any new contractual risks.   
 
24. Medium Term Financial Strategy Implementation Reserve – This 

reserve was established to facilitate the achievement of MTFS savings. 
The balance at the start of the year was £6.074m, to which was added 
£1.066m in-year from early MTFS savings. £4.390m has been drawn 
down as follows: 

• Severance costs £2.696m 

• Project Minerva / IT reprocurement £1.282m 

• Civic 2 demolition works £174k 

• Redeployment co-ordinator £29k 

• IT category management £57k 

• Resident consultation £62k 

• Community, Health & Wellbeing project management of savings £90k 
 
25. It is recommended that £54k is added to this reserve from the year end 

underspend. 
 

26. Legal Expansion Reserve 
A key element of the Legal Services MTFS proposals is for the provision of 
Legal Services to other boroughs to be expanded, reducing the net cost of 
Legal Services. It is recommended that Cabinet agree to the contribution of 
£102k to this reserve in order to finance the costs of gaining new business 

148



and implementation costs. This contribution is reflected in the reported 
outturn position for Legal and Governance. 

27. Children’s Social Care Reserve 
It is proposed to establish a Children’s Social Care Reserve to help defray 
anticipated future budget pressures in relation to Social Care costs and 
Special Needs costs. The recommended contribution is £0.866m, which is 
funded from grant flexibility for one year only, and has been factored in to 
the Children and Families Outturn position. 

28. Harrow Schools Improvement Partnership (HSIP) Reserve 
HSIP has an accumulated surplus of £1.261m arising from the contributions 
to costs made by schools. The surplus is being maintained to fund potential 
termination costs and it is recommended that this is contributed to a reserve. 
There has been a change in the accounting treatment of this item and in 
previous years it was treated as an accrual rather than a reserve. The 
contribution has been factored in to the Children and Families Outturn 
position. 

29. Standing up for those in need Reserve 
The administration committed in its manifesto to stand up for those in need 
by targeting more support towards carers and tackling the increase in 
domestic violence across the borough. In July 2014 Cabinet approve the 
use of £200k from early savings implemented in-year to tackle domestic 
violence. It is now recommended to contribute £0.800m from the 2014/5 
underspend to this reserve taking the total funding allocated in 2014/15 and 
2015/16 to £1m. 

30. Borough Elections Reserve 
A reserve is maintained to equalise the cost of local elections every 4 years. 
The drawdown of the balance of £318k has been factored in to the Outturn 
position for Resources, in order to fund the 2014 elections.  
 
Rapid Response Reserve 
31. It is recommended that this reserve is established with a contribution of 

£75k from the reported underspend in 2014/15.  The purpose of this is to 
fund responsive minor works, of a non-recurrent nature, in a rapid and 
efficient manner. 

 

IT Implementation Reserve 
32. When considering the ICT Procurement award of contract in March, 

Cabinet agreed to fund £2.854m of transformation and transition costs 
from the MTFS Implementation reserve. In view of the size of the 
expenditure it is recommended that a separate reserve is established 
funded from the underspend in 2014/15.  

CAPITAL FINANCING 
33. The outturn on capital financing is anunderspend of £140k.  This has 

resulted from more investment income as a result of higher cash 
balances than anticipated. 

 
 

149



REVENUE CARRY FORWARDS 
34. Carry forward requests were received, mainly in relation to projects not 

completed and government grants not yet spent. The carry forward 
requestsare summarised below and listed in appendix 3:- 

 
Table 3 Summary of Revenue Carry Forwards 

  
Council 
Funding 

Grant 
Funding 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 

Resources 244 44 288 

Environment & Enterprise 332 6 338 

Community, Health & Wellbeing 50 79 129 

Children & Families 0 843 843 

Carry Fwd Total 626 972 1,598 

 
 
GENERAL RESERVES 
35. Harrow’slevel of General Reserves is towards the lower end of what is 

considered prudent at £10.008m, but is considered adequate given the level 
of earmarked reserves. It is not recommended to increase the level at this 
point. 

 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) 
36. The HRA has a surplus of £1.011m against a budgeted surplus of 

£0.902m. The main contributing factors are underspends in operating 
expenditure, including repairs, utilities and employee costs, offset by 
valuation losses on garages of £1.765m. The outturn also includes 
additional depreciation charges of £0.773m which result in only a transfer 
of resources to the Major Repairs Reserve which is used to finance 
capital expenditure. 

DEBT WRITE OFF 
37. The Council has written off 505 debts totalling £400k during the year under 

delegated authority, where they are either irrecoverable or uneconomic to 
pursue.  

 
38. The reported outturn for the Housing Revenue Account includes a 

contribution to the provision for bad & doubtful debts of £347k. This is after 
allowing for the write off of £169k HRA debt owed by tenants but which is 
not recoverable.  The Council maintains a dialogue with tenants using all 
means available followed by formal correspondence offering repayment 
plans. Where this is unsuccessful, preparations for legal proceedings are 
put in place and ultimately eviction as a last resort. The majority of write offs 
in 2014/15 relate to former tenants who have left no forwarding address. 
Although checks are made with Revenues and Benefits and Experian, there 
is often no alternative but to write off. Approval of Cabinet is sought to write 
off this irrecoverable debt. 

150



 
CAPITAL 
39. Total spend on the capital programme for the year is £61.871m 

(£57.427m General Fund and £4.443m HRA). This compares to an 
approved budget of £117.877m (£107.401m General Fund and 
£10.476m HRA).    The variance of £56.005m comprises of slippage of 
£48.372m General Fund and£2.241m HRA with underspends of 
£1.600m General Fund and £3.792m HRA.The underspends on capital 
will contribute to a revenue saving on capital financing costs.The 
summary position and funding of the programme is shown in table 4.The 
slippage identified in Table 4 and detailed in Appendix 3 has been 
approved under delegated authority as carry forwards by the Chief 
Finance Officer.  
 
Table 4 Capital Outturn 2014/15 Summary 

Directorate

Original 

Programme CFWD's

Adjust

ments External LBH

Total 

Budget Actual Variance Slippage

Under 

spend

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Community, Health and 

Wellbeing 5,428 3,588 1,553 4,227 6,342 10,569 3,443 -7,126 6,572 -554

Children & Families 42,296 11,767 -711 52,442 910 53,352 23,057 -30,295 30,295 0

Environment & Enterprise 14,790 10,583 -474 4,996 19,903 24,899 21,915 -2,984 2,984 0

Resources 9,413 9,322 -127 161 18,447 18,608 9,012 -9,596 8,549 -1,047

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 71,927 35,260 241 61,826 45,602 107,428 57,427 -50,001 48,400 -1,601

HRA 9,527 949 0 10,476 10,476 4,443 -6,033 2,241 -3,792

TOTAL GENERAL FUND & 

HRA 81,454 36,209 241 61,826 56,078 117,904 61,870 -56,034 50,641 -5,393

TOTAL CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 81,454 36,209 241 61,826 56,078 117,904 61,870 -56,034 50,641 -5,393

NOTE:

General Fund Funding:

Grant -46,331 -12,067 -66 -58,464 -58,464 -25,466 32,998 -31,060 0

Section 106 0 -1,362 0 -1,362 -1,362 -692 670 -1,153 0

RCCO -2,000 0 0 -2,000 -2,000 -2,538 -538 -344 0

Capital Receipt 0 0 0 0 -2,356 -2,356 0 0

Borrowing -23,596 -21,831 -175 -45,602 -45,602 -26,375 19,227 -15,843 1,601

TOTAL GENERAL FUND -71,927 -35,260 -241 -61,826 -45,602 -107,428 -57,427 50,001 -48,400 1,601

HRA Funding:

Revenue (MMR) -7,427 -949 -8,376 -8,376 -4,003 4,373 -1,707 2,666

Grant 0 0 -42 -42 0 -42

Contribution -100 -100 -100 -344 -244 -244

Main Programme -7,527 -949 0 0 -8,476 -8,476 -4,389 4,087 -1,707 2,380

Affordable Housing  (Sec 106) -367 -367 -367 367 0 367

Capital Receipt - Right to buy -1,383 -1,383 -1,383 -54 1,329 -534 795

CGRIA -250 -250 -250 250 250

Affordable Housing -2,000 -2,000 -2,000 -54 1,946 -534 1,412

TOTAL HRA -9,527 -949 0 0 -10,476 -10,476 -4,443 6,033 -2,241 3,792

TOTAL CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME -81,454 -36,209 -241 -61,826 -56,078 -117,904 -61,870 56,034 -50,641 5,393  
 

 

151



 
40. Additions to Programme 

Additional external funding has been received for the following in Quarter 
4and Cabinet is recommended to add these items to the programme. 

Table 5: Additions to Capital Programme 2014/15 

Item £000 

Additional Department of Health funding for 
improving access to information for people with 
autism 

19 

Additional Highways funding from TFL for LIP 
programme 

10 

Total 29 

 

41. Reductions in Programme 

Table 6: Reductions in Capital Programme 2014/15 

Item £000 

Whitmore High School pitch. Work not proceeding 
and funding returned to school. 

-90 

2 Year old entitlement – removed from capital as 
grant used for revenue spend in accordance with 
grant conditions 

-438 

Total -528 

 
42. Virements. The following virements have been approved under 

delegated authority. 

Table 7: Virements Approved in Quarter 3 

Item £000 

ITO Transformation – reduction in work undertaken -210 

IT Corporate systems refresh – reduction in work 
undertaken 

-100 

Mobile and flexible working –Accommodation works 
to facilitate mobile and flexible working 

310 

 
DIRECTORATE PERFORMANCE ON CAPITAL 
Resources 
43. The directorate spent £9.012m against a budget of £18.607m, a 48.4% 

spend. £8.547m of the variance has slipped to 2015/16 with an 
underspend of £1.047m. The key reason for slippage has been Capita 
delivery issues.  In addition, given the impending end of the Capita 
contract, some work that previously would have been placed with Capita 
is being held over until the new contractor is in place.  

 

152



44. There has been slippage of £2.219m on the loan to West London Waste 
Authority due to delays in the progress of their investment programme. 

 
Environment and Enterprise 
45. The directorate spent £21.915m against a budget of £24.874m, a spend 

of 88.1%. All of the variance of £2.959m has been slipped to 2015/16.  
 
46. The capital funding was spent to invest in the Boroughs infrastructure 

and improve the place, both for residents and staff. Some of these 
improvements have generated additional income, particularly from 
disused parks buildings that were brought back into use. Others, such as 
the rationalisation of accommodation have yielded savings both on 
maintenance and utilities. Likewise, investment on the highways network 
will reduce reactive maintenance costs in the future. Some projects 
contributed significantly to social regeneration by making available more 
buildings for community use.  

 
47. Some of the key projects and outcomes were: 

a. Town Centre Improvements: The heart of the town centre has 
been revitalised with work around St Ann’s road, Havelock Place, 
and the new urban park and cafe at Lowlands. This has bolstered 
the feel and economy of the town centre. 

b. Park buildings: Improvements made to a number of buildings 
including 

c. Byron Recreation refurbishment of changing rooms 
d. Renovation of a disused toilet block to become a West Harrow 

café and provide rental income for the council 
e. Pinner Cemetery Chapel refurbishment which results in increased 

bookings 
f. Renovation of a disused building at the Croft to create a sports 

venue to host the Boxing Club 
g. Green gyms: Installation of 13 new green gyms to improve 

community access to healthy activities and promote physical 
exercises  

h. Street Lights: Replaced around 1,000 lighting columns with LED 
technology to improve safety and energy efficiency 

i. Trees: Planted over 500 street trees to green the environment. 
j. Parking: Introduction of 20 minutes free parking at district centres 

to encourage footfall and support local businesses’ growth. 
k. Highways: Re-surfaced 30.7 km of Harrows 460km road network 

and carried out 1,781 repairs to carriageways including potholes 
related work. Reconstructed 15,639 linear meters of footways and 
carried out 3,174 repairs to footways to improve safety to 
residents and visitors. 

l. Corporate Accommodation: Refurbishment works across the Civic 
Centre to consolidate buildings into Civic 1 Complex and 
improvements to toilets and car parking / cycling facilities were 
made to improve security, staff welfare and energy efficiency. 

 
Community, Health and Wellbeing 
48. The directorate spent £3.443m against a budget of £10.569m, a 32.6% 

spend. £6.572m of the £7.126m variance has been slipped to 2015/16 
with an underspend on the programme of £0.553m. There have been 

153



delays on a number of schemes within the programme resulting in 
slippage. The most significant ones are: 

 
a. Mosaic £0.606m. Delays in the availability of software from the 

supplier. 
b. Headstone Manor £1.086m. Delay in agreement of Heritage 

Lottery fund grant. 
c. S106 Bannister Sports Pitches. £1.004m. There has been a delay 

in the S106 funding being received by the Council due to delays in 
the redevelopment of the Kodak site.  

d. Green Deals Community Funding £1.357m. Delays in identifying 
suitable properties. 

 
Children & Families 
49. The directorate spent £23.057m against a budget of £53.352m, a 43.2% 

spend. All of the variance has been carried forward to 2015/16. The 
delay was as a result of the increase in construction work activity in the 
country as a whole which caused some problems in obtaining 
competitive quotes and employing sufficient resources to deliver a large 
scale building programme and delayed the process of agreeing prices 
and starting works on site. 

 
50. The capital programme by directorate is included at Appendix 3 showing 

performance against the latest approved budget for each programme 
line.  

 
Housing Revenue Account 
51. The HRA spent £4.443m against a budget of £10.476m, a spend of 

42.4%. £2.241m of the variance has been slipped to 2015/16.  A further 
£3.097m, shown as underspend was included in the 2015/16 programme 
approved by Cabinet in February. 

 
2015/16 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
52. Following a review of capital requirements under the recently signed IT 

contract operational from November 2015, it has been identified that the 
total provided in the capital programme exceeds the amount required by 
£2.600m.  It is recommended that this is vired from the IT capital budget 
to the following areas: 

a. Environment &Enterprise Highways Programme £2.100m 
b. Minor works responsive capital programme £0.500m 
 

53. The capital investment in these areas will result in the achievement of 
on-going revenue savings. 

 
TIMETABLE FOR ACCOUNTS COMPLETION AND EXTERNAL AUDIT 
REVIEW 
54. The draft accounts will be completed by 24th June before the statutory 

deadline of 30th June and the audit will commence on 29th June 2015.  The 
draft accounts will be considered by the Governance, Audit, Risk 
Management and Standards Committee (GARMS) at their July meeting.The 
final accounts will be considered by the (GARMS) on 10 September 2015 
and must be signed off by the Council and the Auditor by the end of 
September. 

154



 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
55. Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that ;”without 

prejudice to section 111, every local authority shall make arrangements for 
the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that one 
of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs”  

 
56. Section 28 of the Local government Act 2003 imposes a statutory duty on a 

billing or major precepting authority to monitor, during the financial year, its 
income and expenditure against budget calculations. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
57. Financial matters are integral to the report. 
 

PERFORMANCE 
58. Good financial monitoring is essential to ensuring that there are adequate 

and appropriately directed resources to support delivery and achievement 
of Council priorities and targets as set out in the Corporate Plan. In addition, 
adherence to the Prudential Framework ensures capital expenditure plans 
remain affordable in the longer term and that capital resources are 
maximised. 
 

59. Financial performance is considered quarterly at Cabinet. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
60. The risks to the council and how they are being managed are clearly set out 

in the report:  
Risks included on Directorate risk registers? Yes 

 
EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
61. There are no direct equalities impacts arising from the decisions within this 

report.  
 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
The Council’s vision is: 
 Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow 
 
The administrations priorities are: 
 Making a difference for the vulnerable 
 Making a difference for communities 
 Making a difference for local businesses 
 Making a difference for families 
 
The robust stewardship of funds to ensure expenditure is contained w 
 

155



 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
 

   
Interim  

Name: Dawn Calvert x  Chief Financial Officer 

 
Date: 4 June 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Jessica Farmer x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date: 5 June 2015 

   
 

 

 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO  
 
 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
NO 

 
 
N/A 

 

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 

Contact:  Steve Tingle (steve.tingle@harrow.gov.uk) 
Background Papers:  
Cabinet reports 13 February 2014, Housing revenue Account Budget 2014-15 
and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015-16 to 2017-18, Final Revenue 
Budget 2014/15 and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014-15 to 2016-17, 
Capital Programme 2014-15 to 2017-18 
 
 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call –in applies] 

 
 
 

 
 

156



Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Appendix 1

Original 

Budget

Budget 

Adjs

Latest 

Budget Outturn Carry Fwd

Variance 

adj for 

Carry Fwd Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

RESOURCES

Customer Services 14,014 2,670 16,684 16,359 -325 -8.2% 117 -208

(249k) underspend is due to BTP  payment not require due to 

delay in Mobile and Flex project, (£168k) savings on new print 

contract and the budget that was carry forward  for the old print 

contract, (£66k) BTP staffing and operational budget not 

needed,   this was  mitigated by Housing Benefit overpayment 

bad debt provision of £100k and Access Harrow staffing and 

reduced reduction to expected income £58k contribute an 

underspend of £325k.

Director of Resources 744 10 754 735 -19 -2.6% 0 -19

Finance & Assurance 5,802 -79 5,723 5,455 -268 -7.1% 0 -268

Increase in SLA income from Schools (£45k), an under spend 

on the finance transformation project and previously 

anticipated contribution to Insurance provision (£144k.).  Staff 

management and delay to delivery of the new anti-fraud 

system (£79k) contribute to an under spend of £268k. 

HRD & Shared Services 3 141 144 -8 -152 -94.7% 31 -121

Savings on staffing and operational activity  (£63k), delay to 

delivery of Management training  (£30k), delay to change for 

SAP account receivable invoice /credit note (£28k), other 

staffing underspend from Trade Union (£20k) and (£12k) 

additional income from HR services contribute to an under 

spend of £153k. 

Legal & Governance 2,615 433 3,048 2,959 -89 -6.4% 86 -3

Legal & Governance – HBPL Public Law deliver a contribution, 

of (£70k) of which £67k has been moved to Legal the 

Expansion Reserve and the  uncompleted UAT system testing 

(£86k)   contribute to an underspend of £89k.

Procurement 35 -16 19 -5 -24 -8.7% 0 -24

Strategic Commissioning 1,653 -1,014 639 386 -253 -12.0% 54 -199

Strategic Commissioning – Over recovery of SIMS income 

(£29k), Operation activity and staffing underspend in  

Performance Management Team, Strategy & Performance and 

Policy and Partnership  (£180k),  Local Area Agreement (LAA) 

Grant (£44k) contribute to an under spend of £252k.

Directorate Total 24,866 2,145 27,011 25,881 -1,130 -4.2% 288 -842

Variance

157



Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Appendix 1

Original 

Budget

Budget 

Adjs

Latest 

Budget Outturn

Carry 

Fwd

Variance 

adj for 

Carry 

Fwd Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

ENVIRONMENT & ENTERPRISE

Commissioning Services 15,322 -50 15,272 15,377 105 0.7% 105

Principal overspends include Arboriculture £112k, Street Lighting 

£143k, Trading Standards £260k and unachieved procurements 

MTFS £43k.  These have been offset by the under spend on 

Facilities of £460k.  

Overspend on Arboriculture relates to payment schedule on new 

contract; overspend on street lighting relates to under accrual from 

prior year; overspend on Trading Standards of £261k due to 

Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) income £160k transferred to 

earmarked reserves due to the requirement of any POCA surplus be 

reinvested only in related activities.  

Underspend on facilities relates to depot savings coupled with 

higher than anticipated saving due to consolidation of premises.

Directorate Management 862 45 907 666 -241 -26.6% 275 34

Underspends of £91k on Regeneration consultancy work, £230k on 

Towards Excellence project and £47k on on-going Capita costs of 

Towards Excellence.

These underspends have been offset in part by an increase in the 

bad debt provision of £131k.

Carry forward requests of £91k for Regeneration and £184k in 

relation to Towards Excellence have been made.

Corporate Estate 0 -643 -643 -787 -144 22.4% -144

Over recovery of commercial income £164k offset by under 

recovery of capital recharges £20k.

Economic Development 1,725 -640 1,085 1,051 34-      -3.1% 13 -21 Underspend relates to savings on salaries costs.

Environmental Service Delivery 19,967 -362 19,605 19,018 587-   -3.0% 50 -537

Parking Enforcement £764k, offset by £300k shortfall on Leisure 

Centre income and £399k overspend on salaries.

There has been a £213k saving on public protection, environmental 

health and technical services salaries due to vacancies being held 

and £70k over recovery of income on Animal services and licencing.

Harrow Pride underspends include £55k salaries, premises related 

costs £184k, vehicle costs £73k and over recovery of cemeteries 

income £110k.

Under spends have been offset by overspends on waste services 

mainly in relation to under recovery of Trade waste income £281k. 

Variance

158



Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Appendix 1

Original 

Budget

Budget 

Adjs

Latest 

Budget Outturn

Carry 

Fwd

Variance 

adj for 

Carry 

Fwd Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Variance

NIS 0 10 10 228 218   2180.0% 218

Neighbourhood Investment Schemes reclassified as revenue and 

being funded from E&E's budgets.

Planning 0 1,188 1,188 1,363 175   14.7% 175 This relates to the under recovery of building control income £179k.

Business & Service Development 1,482 -1,482 0 -          

Property & Infrastructure 539 -539 0 -          

Directorate Total 39,897 -2,473 37,424 36,916 -508 -1.4% 338   -170

159



Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Appendix 1

Original 

Budget

Budget 

Adjs

Latest 

Budget Outturn Carry Fwds 

Variance 

adj for 

Carry Fwd Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

COMMUNITY, HEALTH & WELLBEING

Adult Services 61,997 -317 61,680 61,623 -57 -0.1% 3 -54

An underspend of £24k is reported after accounting for carry forward 

requests.  This position reflects overspends across the directorate including 

those associated with unfunded legislative requirements around Deprivation 

of Liberty Safeguards (DoLs) and Mental Health in part as a result of Harrow 

Clinical Commissioning Groups decision to close Roxbourne (resulting in 

increased costs for social care), however these pressures were mitigated by 

fully utilising the risk reserve set aside for the purpose of continuing health 

care cases, use of the public health grant to fund wider determinants of 

health and other health funding.

Community & Culture Total 6,629 -248 6,381 6,157 -224 2.3% 122 -102

The underspend of £103k largely relates to a lower level of repairs and maintenance 

costs on libraries and leisure (£90k) and  senior management vacancy for 3months in 

Community Sector Support (£26k).

The underspend includes a potential carry forward of £121k relating to sports grant 

allocations (£93k - £60k of this is for CSPAN) Museum Resilience Grant (£19k) and 

Edward Harvist grant allocation (£9k). If carry forwards are not agreed, underspend will 

increase by £103k to £224k.

Housing General Fund 5,288 1,944 7,232 8,503 1,271 17.6% 0 1,271

Overspend relates mainly to costs of Bed & Breakfast ("B&B") 

accommodation for homeless families. Demand has increased significantly 

as a result of rapidly increasing rents in the private rented sector, combined 

with reductions in housing benefit as a result of the Government's continuing 

Welfare Reforms. An increased provision for  bad debts together with a lower 

than anticipated allocation from the Council's Discretionary Housing 

Payments ("DHP") fund has also contributed to the reported pressure.

Public Health 1,004 -280 724 724 0 875% 0 0

A nil variance is reported at year end, however this is a result of adjustments as 

detailed below.

The outturn underspend of £593k against Public Health Grant was reported at quarter 

3 and remains unchanged.

Of the underspend, £351k is reflected within Adult Social Care representing the wider 

public health responsibilities being delivered.

The balance of £241k will be transferred into the specific Public Health Reserve to 

fund, taking the total to £907k at 31st March 2015. 

Transformation 286 286 572 571 -1 4 3

The underspend before carry forward relates an underspend of £3.5k for 

London Health and Wellbeing Board Improvement Programme grant which 

has been offset by other running costs pressures.  The grant underspend of 

£3.5k has been requested as a carry forward.

Variance

160



Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Appendix 1

Original 

Budget

Budget 

Adjs

Latest 

Budget Outturn Carry Fwds 

Variance 

adj for 

Carry Fwd Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Variance

Directorate Total 75,204 1,385 76,589 77,578 989 1.3% 129 1,118

161



Revenue Outturn 2014/15 Appendix 1

Original 

Budget

Budget 

Adjs

Latest 

Budget Outturn

Carry 

Fwds 

Variance 

adj for 

Carry 

Fwd Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

CHILDRENS & FAMILIES

Commissioning & Schools 3,524 -1,374 2,160 1,300 -860 -40.0% 591 -269

£573k and £18k of the underspend relates to the Troubled Families 

and Early Years Pupil Premium and Integrated Review Grants for 

which carry forwards have been requested. The remainder of the 

underspend relates to the closure of the Teachers Centre in July 

(£70k), a recharge to Whitchurch Infant School for the Early Years 

Professional Lead's cover for the Head Teacher (£33k), Service 

Manager and Senior Commissioner posts being held vacant for 

part of the year (£104k) and 0.5 FTE Health Post at Ealing Hospital 

NHS Trust not being filled (£44k).

Early Intervention Service 5,982 -133 5,849 5,573 -276 -4.7% -276

The underspend results from the Divisional Director and Service 

Manager posts being held vacant for part of the year (£98k), a 

Team Manager's post being held vacant for part of the year and a 

Counsellor post being funded by Troubled Families Grant (£79k) 

and an underspend on Children's Centres running costs (£98k).

Targeted Services 19,384 -282 19,107 20,197 1,090 5.7% 47 1,137

The overspend results from agency staffing being used to cover 

vacancies, sickness and additional caseloads (£437k) and non 

staffing mainly in children's placements and other client spend 

(£700k). A £47k Social Care Innovation Grant has been requested 

for carry forward.

Management & Business Support 2,658 356 3,014 1,897 -1,117 -37.1% -1,117

Uncommitted budgets and un ring fenced Adoption Reform and 

SEND Implementation Grants totalling £578k were held as 

management actions to offset pressures across the Directorate. 

Early savings of £365k for 2015/16 were identified and held as a 

one off in year action to offset pressure on the placements budget. 

There was also a £180k underspend in Business Support resulting 

from 3 posts being held vacant for the year and an underspend on 

postage and printing.

Special Needs 10,065 -40 10,025 10,551 526 5.2% 205 731

The overspend is in two main areas. £409k in Special Needs 

Transport from delays in delivering MTFS savings and growth in 

demand and £313k relating to Children with Disability Client costs. 

A carry forward of £205k of SEN Reform grant has been requested. 

Schools 4,645 -882 3,763 3,721 -42 -1.1% -42

Directorate Total 46,258 -2,355 43,918 43,239 -679 -1.5% 843 164

Variance

162



Appendix 2

Revenue Carry Forward Requests

Council 

Funding

Ring 

Fenced 

Grant 

Funding

Non Ring 

Fenced 

Grant 

Funding Total

Division Description £000 £000 £000 £000 Reason for Carry Forward & Consequences of not carrying forward.

Carried Forward Request 2014-15

Environment & Enterprise Directorate

Economic 

Development Emergency Relief Scheme 7.0 7.0

Funding was approved in October 2014, significant work has been undertaken to initiate 

and deliver the project. Over 90% of the funding has been spent in 14/15.

Economic 

Development Transformational Challenge Award 6.0 6.0

The grant was only awarded in November 2014. Significant effort has been made to 

progress the project. At year-end, there is only a small underspend (£6K). The Directorate 

has also successfully bid for the TCA funding for 15/16 and therefore will continue the work 

into 15/16. 

Planning Regeneration consultancy support 91.0 91.0

Cabinet approved the draft Regeneration Strategy in December 14. The Cabinet report 

also identified a series of related activities and some one-off funding (£248K) within E&E to 

initiate these. The council has commissioned various pieces of options appraisals to 

consultants and works are well underway. £157k has been spent up to 31.3.15. 

ESD Fixed Penalty Notices project 50.0 50.0

This represents the 14/15 MTFS growth money. The introduction of FPNs was approved by 

Cabinet in Sept 14. A further report in relation to the enforcement policy, operational 

guidance and procedural matters was presented to Cabinet in Feb 15. The money has 

been set aside for staff training and procurement exercise etc. which is due to commence, 

before the Council starts to issue FPNs during 15/16.

Total 2014-15 148.0 6.0 0.0 154.0

Rolled forward from 13-14[or prior year]c/fwd

Capita TE revenue costs 59.0 59.0

Per Capita payment schedule, there are key milestones for staged payments (SIT / Go Live 

/ Stabilisation) to be released in the PRISM IT project. As these key milestones have not 

been reached, no payment is made to Capita. This is in line with the capital carry forward 

request as part of the payments are funded from capital budgets.

Capita TE revenue costs 105.0 105.0

Due to the delayed implementation of PRISM IT project (see above), a request is made for 

3 x Technical support officers @ £35k each for the period of 1 year, to support on project 

management and on-going negotiation with Capita.

Capita TE revenue costs 20.0 20.0

Due to the delayed implementation of PRISM IT project, the budget of Change Champion 

is required for 6 months to provide support to the project.

Total 2013-14 [or prior year] 184.0 0.0 0.0 184.0

Total Carried Fwd E&E Directorate 332.0 6.0 0.0 338.0

Community, Health & Wellbeing Directorate

Carried Forward Request 2014-15

163



Appendix 2

Council 

Funding

Ring 

Fenced 

Grant 

Funding

Non Ring 

Fenced 

Grant 

Funding Total

Division Description £000 £000 £000 £000 Reason for Carry Forward & Consequences of not carrying forward.

Carried Forward Request 2014-15

A & H 

Transformation

London Health and Wellbeing Board 

Improvement Programme grant. 3.5 3.5

The remainder of the grant needs to be carried forward to enable completion of a project to 

develop Harrow's Health and Wellbeing Board. Half of the grant was spent last year  on the 

project, and if the remainder of the grant is not carried forward, it would mean that the work 

undertaken to date would be of little value, and it would stifle the development and 

strategic direction of the Health and Wellbeing Board. We have also entered into a 

contract with a consultancy company to undertake the project, and ceasing the project 

would have negative reputational consequences for the council. 

Aids & Adaptations FILT -  Revenue Programme 4.4 4.4 Programme has been extended by the grant funders till 30 June 2015.

Community & 

Culture Community Resources & Cohesion 7.8 7.8 Carry forward for Harrow's Heroes project

Community & 

Culture Community Sports Development 50.0 50.0

Community Sport and Physical Activity Network (CSPAN), £50k funding to be carried 

forward from Leader's allocation.

Community & 

Culture Sports Development 20.0 20.0 London Sport money, ring-fenced grant for use in future financial years

Community & 

Culture Community Sports Development 12.4 12.4 Sportivate money, ring-fenced grant for use in future financial years

Community & 

Culture Community Sports Development 3.0 3.0 On Your Marks project - Brentford FC, ring-fenced grant for use in future financial years

Community & 

Culture Voluntary Organisation grant 9.4 9.4 Carry forward of underspend on Edward Harvist grant

Community & 

Culture Arts & Libraries 18.9 18.9 Museum Resilience Fund

Total 2014-15 50.0 79.4 0.0 129.4

Children & Families

Special 

Educational Needs SEN Reforms Grant Funding 205.0 205.0

Given the uncertainty over future SEND reforms grant funding, the decision was made to 

spread the 2014-15 grant over two years. Together with the grant funding for 2015-16, it 

will be possible to continue to implement the extensive and challenging requirements of the 

SEND provisions of the Children and Families Act 2014.

Commissioning & 

Schools Troubled Families Grant Funding 573.0 573.0

Troubled Families funding is front loaded and carry forward is requested to enable 

continuation of the programme in 2015/16.

Targeted Services Social Care Innovation Grant 47.0 47.0

External funding has been received for the social care innovation programme. The final 

amount approved for 2014-15 was only confirmed on 24.03.15. This funding is to support 

mobilisation costs including IT equipment for delivery staff. The projects begin delivery in 

April/May 2015.

164



Appendix 2

Council 

Funding

Ring 

Fenced 

Grant 

Funding

Non Ring 

Fenced 

Grant 

Funding Total

Division Description £000 £000 £000 £000 Reason for Carry Forward & Consequences of not carrying forward.

Carried Forward Request 2014-15

Commissioning & 

Schools

Early Years Pupil Premium & Integrated 

Review Grant 18.0 18.0

Grant funding to enable implementation of Pupil Premium funding for all 3 and 4 year olds. 

Funding came in at the beginning of March and spending has taken longer than 

anticipated.

Total 2014-15 0.0 0.0 843.0 843.0

Resources 

BTP

Mobile and Flex SharePoint training 

budget 117.0 117.0

MF SharePoint delays - budget earmarked for training, that should have been delivered in 

2014/15

Shared Services

Change request for work on payslip 

printing directly from SAP 3.1 3.1 Allocated budget for this in 14-15. Do not have budget for this in 15-16

Shared Services

Change request for SAP Accounts 

Receivable invoices/credit notes etc. 

directly from SAP 27.3 27.3 Allocated budget for this in 14-15. Do not have budget for this in 15-16

Strategic 

Commissioning

Funding to match fund TPIF funding for 

the resident engagement project 10.0 10.0

The TPIF money was awarded on the basis that we would also contribute to the funding of 

the project from the policy budget. The start date for the project has slipped to the end of 

April therefore the money needs to be carried forward or the project - which is a priority for 

the administration, will not be able to take place.

Total 2014-15 157.4 0.0 0.0 157.4

Rolled forward from 13-14[or prior year]c/fwd

Legal

IT system project started but not 

completed by Capita 86.0 86.0

The programme of work is for User Acceptance Testing etc. to be complete before October 

and that the legal practice will have one case management system.  

Strategic 

Commissioning LAA Reward Grant 0 44 44

These funds are specifically to support partnership projects.  None were proposed in the 

last financial year. So the grant is proposed for carry forward. 

Total 2013-14 [or prior year] 86.0 0.0 44.0 130.0

Total Resources  Directorate 243.4 0.0 44.0 287.4

Grand Total 625.4 85.4 887.0 1,597.8

165



166

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

Capital Programme Outturn 2014-15

Original 

Budget

14-15 

Carry 

Forward

Changes 

in Q1-Q4

Revised 

Budget Outturn  Variance

Slippage 

to 2015-16

Over / 

Underspend Reason for Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Resources

Council Tax Support 0 83 0 83 99 16 0 16

ITO Transformation 125 3,544 -450 3,219 1,157 -2,062 1,997 -65

 ITO Milestone Payments -  Funds already 

committed with Capita.  Delays in delivery of 

projects by Capita have pushed the completion 

dates into 15/16. 

My Harrow Services Account Dev Prog 0 97 0 97 23 -74 74 0

 The scheduling of these projects has been delayed 

following amendments to the original scope.  As a 

result, the work will be completed during 2015/16 

IT Improvement Project 750 0 -140 610 0 -610 300 -310

  Due to Capita's inability to resource these projects 

they have slipped into 15/16  for the new supplier to 

pick up 

SAP: Financial Leger/Systems Control Imp 0 386 0 386 144 -242 242 0  Delay in delivery of project due by Capita 

BTP CCAD - Customer Contact Assess & Decide 0 8 0 8 0 -8 0 -8

BTP - Mobile & Flex 401 1,958 310 2,669 1,296 -1,373 1,308 -65

 SharePoint,  Wi-Fi not yet delivered and office 

layout to be delivered in 15.16 . Project delayed 

due to Capita delivery issues.   

BTP - Corporate Resources 0 82 0 82 76 -6 20 14

BTP Minor Projects 0 236 0 236 65 -171 171 0

 Project is delay due to interdependent on 

Information Technology Outsourcing (End user 

device) project 

SAP Minor Developments 0 70 0 70 31 -39 31 -8

ICT Infrastructure & Corporate Applications 0 730 100 830 117 -713 374 -339

 Providers inability to provide resources for this 

project has resulted in delay to delivery. 

IT Corporate System Refresh 1,300 0 240 1,540 167 -1,373 1,033 -340

 Delay in Upgrading of Customer Relation 

Management system in Access Harrow is delay in 

agreeing to commercials with Capital. Civica 

system Upgrade has already started but delayed as 

a result of Capita delivery issues. 

LAA Performance Reward Grant 0 128 0 128 5 -123 124 1  No further project identified in 14-15. 

BTP - Hardware Refresh 213 488 0 701 207 -494 388 -106

 Delay to Information Technology Outsourcing and 

Mobile and Flex project has impact the delivery of 

this project  

West London Waste Authority Loan 6,624 1,199 0 7,823 5,604 -2,219 2,219 0  Delay in Milestone payment - Project on going 

Small Schemes (Council wide) 0 313 -219 94 6 -88 250 162  Corporate contingency budget  

IER Grant 0 0 32 32 15 -17 18 1

Resources Total 9,413 9,322 -127 18,608 9,012 -9,596 8,549 -1,047

Children & Families

167



Appendix 3

Capital Programme Outturn 2014-15

Original 

Budget

14-15 

Carry 

Forward

Changes 

in Q1-Q4

Revised 

Budget Outturn  Variance

Slippage 

to 2015-16

Over / 

Underspend Reason for Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Schools Expansion Programme - Phase 1 5,870 1,657 -2,900 4627 2,366 -2,261 2261 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Spend lower than 

forecast due to late start on site & delays. Project 

spans multiple years. 

Schools Expansion Programme - Phase 2 14,375 3,067 890 18332 8,287 -10,045 10045 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Spend lower than 

forecast due to late start on site & delays. Project 

spans multiple years. 

SEN Provision 5,325 1,243 -89 6479 3,574 -2,905 2905 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Spend lower than 

forecast due to late start on site & delays. Project 

spans multiple years. 

Secondary Expansions 10,100 2,958 2,069 15127 5,511 -9,616 9616 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Spend lower than 

forecast due to late start on site & delays. Project 

spans multiple years. 

School Amalgamation 700 623 0 1323 234 -1,089 1089 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Spend lower than 

forecast due to late start on site & delays. Project 

spans multiple years. 

Bulge Classes 150 0 -9 141 97 -44 44 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Set aside for 

amalgamations April 2015 and Sept 2015 

Free School Meals 621 0 -316 305 148 -157 157 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Set aside for bulge 

classes needed for September 2016 

Schools Capital Maintenance 1,350 69 0 1419 612 -807 807 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Where schools included 

in the expansion programme expenditure will be 

picked up as part of the expansion. Unspent grant 

contributing to SEP2.  

Schools Expansion Programme Phase 3 1,805 0 120 1925 0 -1,925 1925 0.00

 Funded by external grant. On-going routine 

maintenance. 

Devolved Formula Non VA Schools 0 737 334 1071 510 -561 561 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Delays in appointment of 

Technical Advisors. Feasibility studies underway. 

Expansion approved by Cabinet Jan 15. Scheme 

spans multiple years. Completion date 31.08.16 

IT Development 0 910 0 910 62 -848 848 0.00

 Funded by external grant. Passported to schools. 

These are the balances held by schools 

Whitmore School - Sports Pitch 0 65 -65 0 0 0 0 0.00

 Scheme did not proceed and funding has been 

given back to school. 

Whitmore School 2,000 0 -307 1693 1,656 -37 37 0.00

 Funded by school. Council carrying out works on 

behalf of school. 

2 Year Old Entitlement Grant (2012-13) 0 438 -438 0 0 0 0 0.00

Funding is not capital, It  has been moved to 

revenue and spent accordingly.

Schools Total 42,296 11,767 -711 53352 23,057 -30,295 30,295 0.00

168



Appendix 3

Capital Programme Outturn 2014-15

Original 

Budget

14-15 

Carry 

Forward

Changes 

in Q1-Q4

Revised 

Budget Outturn  Variance

Slippage 

to 2015-16

Over / 

Underspend Reason for Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Environment & Enterprise

Affordable Warmth 0 86 -3 83 83 0 0

BTP - Public Realms 0 1,406 16 1422 37 -1,385 1,276 -109

 The on-going delay in providing a detailed delivery 

plan by Capita has put this IT project on hold. 

Carbon Reduction Programme 2012/13 0 262 0 262 0 -262 0 -262  See below. 

Carbon Reduction Programme 2013/14 0 162 0 162 160 -2 0 -2 See below.

Carbon Reduction Programme 2014/15 1,300 0 -952 348 700 352 0 352

More energy efficiency improvement projects e.g. 

lighting have been delivered as part of the 

corporate accommodation work.

CCTV Camera Extension Project 0 385 21 406 405 -1 0 -1

CCTV Crime Reduction Cameras  14/15 575 0 -441 134 123 -11 0 -11

CCTV Enforcement Monitoring System Re-

engineering 0 87 -7 80 79 -1 0 -1

City Farm/Pinner Park Farm 0 717 -118 599 61 -538 538 0

The project has been subject to a number of delays 

as a result of various changes in administration. 

The current plan takes the project to a stage 2 

consultation during 15/16 followed by submission of 

a detailed plannig consent with service of notices in 

2016.

Civic Centre Parking 0 135 -18 117 117 0 0 0

Corporate Accommodation Maintenance 433 265 426 1124 1,151 27 0 27

Development of a Consolidated, Integrated Civic 

One Building 0 26 0 26 49 23 0 23

Harrow Card 0 140 -140 0 0 0 0 0

Harrow Green Grid 343 204 0 547 198 -349 350 1

Some grounds work planned for Q4 did not proceed 

due to wet weather. Some other schemes are at 

design stage and will be implemented at later 

years.

Harrow On Hill Station 100 -40 0 60 59 -1 0 -1

High Priority Plan Maintenance Corporate Property 430 90 -93 427 491 64 0 64

Some toilet works at Civic 1 needed to be 

undertaken urgently during the year. This is an 

unplanned project which needs to be 

accommodated within E&E's capital programme.

Highway Drainage Improvements & Flood Defence 

Infrastructure 525 178 0 703 744 41 0 41

A number of highway improvement work has been 

accelebrated with an aim of reducing on-going 

revenue repair costs.

Highway Improvement Programme 5,500 789 515 6804 7,057 253 0 253

A number of highway improvement work has been 

accelebrated with an aim of reducing on-going 

revenue repair costs.

169



Appendix 3

Capital Programme Outturn 2014-15

Original 

Budget

14-15 

Carry 

Forward

Changes 

in Q1-Q4

Revised 

Budget Outturn  Variance

Slippage 

to 2015-16

Over / 

Underspend Reason for Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Leisure Centre Car Park CCTV 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Leisure Centre Car Park Charging 0 60 159 219 237 18 0 18

Neighbourhood Investment Scheme 210 270 0 480 188 -292 27 -265

Apart from the costs of green gym and double kerb 

work which meet the definition of capital, those for 

smaller projects have been reclassified as revenue 

and funded from E&E's budget.

Parking Management Programme 750 12 163 925 965 40 0 40

6 CPZ schemes were completed, one of which 

required more funding than originally anticipated.

Public Realm Services – Parks, Open Spaces & 

Cemeteries 850 319 249 1418 1,311 -107 0 -107

The procurement of some parks building work e.g. 

pavilions took longer than expected and therefore 

these projects were not completed. Instead the 

funding was utilised in Highway Improvement 

Programme.

Public realm Services – Waste and Recycling 200 251 0 451 416 -35 0 -35

The spend on wheeled bin was less than planned 

due to the lack of storage space at the depot.

Roxborough Bridge Underpass CCTV 0 7 0 7 7 0 0 0

Section 106 Schemes 0 357 0 357 209 -148 148 0

Some S106 funded highway schemes are on-going 

and will be completed in 15/16.

Street Lighting Improvement Programme 1,500 733 0 2233 2,283 50 0 50

A number of highway improvement work has been 

accelebrated with an aim of reducing on-going 

revenue repair costs.

TfL Major Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TfL Principal Roads 868 553 260 1681 1,710 29 638 667

TfL Transport Capital 1,206 872 -14 2064 1,371 -693 0 -693

Town Centre Regeneration 0 2,257 -497 1760 1,704 -56 7 -49

The final account for Lowlands project was lower 

than expected.

Transport Local Implementation Plan 2 - 

Programme of investment 0 0 0 0 0 0

E&E Total 14,790 10,583 -474 24899 21,915 -2,984 2,984 0

Community, Health and Wellbeing

Adults Social Care-Framework-I & IT Integration 0 141 0 141 10 -131 131 0  Delays in project implementation. 

MOSAIC Implementation - Adults & Children's 

Services 250 523 0 773 167 -606 606 0

 Project was suspended part way throughout the 

year as IT contractor was unable to fulfil 

requirements of the project. Project is to be 

suspended until next financial year and budget 

carried forward. 

Bedford House Boilers 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1  Minor overspend 

Mental Health Supported Housing Repairs 0 51 0 51 7 -44 44 0  On-going repairs 

Renovation Grants 70 0 40 110 39 -71 63 -8  Delays in allocation of discretionary grants 

Disabled Facilities Grants 1,500 50 0 1,550 1,414 -136 0 -136  Full budget not required 

170



Appendix 3

Capital Programme Outturn 2014-15

Original 

Budget

14-15 

Carry 

Forward

Changes 

in Q1-Q4

Revised 

Budget Outturn  Variance

Slippage 

to 2015-16

Over / 

Underspend Reason for Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Empty Properties & Private Sector Initiatives 

Grants 676 270 0 946 630 -316 220 -96  Delays in identification of suitable properties 

Headstone Manor 0 1,216 137 1,353 269 -1,084 1,086 2  On-going project 

Upgrading the People's Network and Installing Wi-

Fi 0 44 0 44 44 0 0 0  Minor overspend 

Leisure Centre Capital Infrastructure 300 43 0 343 180 -163 163 0

Sec 106 Banister Sport Pitch 1,000 4 0 1,004 0 -1,004 1,004 0  Delay in agreeing the s106 funding 

Leisure Capital Investment 0 7 -7 0 0 0 0 0  Project has yet to begin 

Sports & Leisure Short Breaks Grant 0 0 7 7 5 -2 0 -2  Underspend against project 

Refurbishment of 64 Pinner Road 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1

 Project thought to have been completed in 

previous financial year but minor costs continued 

into this year, therefore minor overspend. 

Adults Personal Social Services - Community 

Capacity Grant 532 338 0 870 229 -641 341 -300

 Underspend of £300k funded grants originally 

allowed for in budget but subsequently not 

received. Therefore £300k underspend was 

requirement for year end position. 

Capital Strategic Reviews 0 685 19 704 281 -423 422 -1

Aztec Cafe and The Bridge - Phase 1

0 16 0 16 0 -16 0 -16

 Project finished in year with less expenditure than 

predicted. 

Quality Outcome for People With Dementia 150 0 0 150 0 -150 150 0

 Plans are being drawn up to commit capital spend 

in the next financial year 

Reform Of Social Care Funding 250 0 0 250 25 -225 225 0

 Business case developed late into financial year, 

therefore, limited spend 

Maintenance of Adults Properties 100 0 0 100 0 -100 100 0

 Plans are being drawn up to commit capital spend 

in the next financial year 

Integrated Health Model 250 0 0 250 109 -141 142 1

 Business case developed late into financial year, 

therefore budget not fully spent 

Carers Services Charges 100 0 0 100 0 -100 100 0

 Plans are being drawn up to commit capital spend 

in the next financial year 

Market Shaping And Development 250 0 0 250 0 -250 250 0

 Plans are being drawn up to commit capital spend 

in the next financial year 

Green Deals Communities Funding 0 0 1,357 1,357 0 -1,357 1,357 0  Delays in identification of suitable properties 

Safeguarding Quality Assurance Quadrants (QAQ) 0 200 0 200 32 -168 168 0

 A strategy was agreed with provider (Capita) but 

delays in implementation has resulted in majority of 

spend planned take place in the next financial year  

Community, Health and Wellbeing Total 5,428 3,588 1,553 10,569 3,443 -7,126 6,572 -554

171



Appendix 3

Capital Programme Outturn 2014-15

Original 

Budget

14-15 

Carry 

Forward

Changes 

in Q1-Q4

Revised 

Budget Outturn  Variance

Slippage 

to 2015-16

Over / 

Underspend Reason for Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Total General Fund 71,927 35,260 241 107,428 57,427 -50,001 48,400 -1,601

HRA

Housing Programme 7,527 949 8,476 4,264 -4,212 1,707 -2,505

 Delay in programming due to estate regeneration 

and development of four-year investment 

programme. Figure shown as underspend includes 

£1,810k of slippage previously approved by Cabinet 

in Feb and included in 2015-16 budget. 

Affordable Housing 2,000 2,000 179 -1,821 534 -1,287

 Delay in Programme. Figure shown as underspend 

represents £1,287k of slippage previously approved 

by Cabinet in Feb and included in 2015-16 budget. 

Total HRA 9,527 949 0 10,476 4,443 -6,033 2,241 -3,792

Total Council Capital Programme 81,454 36,209 241 117,904 61,870 -56,034 50,641 -5,393172



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 4

H
o

u
s
in

g
 R

e
v

e
n

u
e
 A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
2
0
1
4
/1

5

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

2
0
1
3
/1

4

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

R
e
v

is
e
d

 

B
u

d
g

e
t

O
u

tt
u

rn
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

%

O
p
e
ra

ti
n
g
 E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 :
 E

m
p
lo

ye
e
 

c
o
s
ts

, 
E

s
ta

te
s
 &

 s
h
e
lt
e
re

d
, 
U

ti
lit

ie
s
 &

 

o
th

e
r

6
,0

1
8

6
,7

3
4

6
,7

0
2

5
,9

7
5

-7
2
7

-1
0
.8

5
%

U
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 r

e
la

te
s
 s

a
la

ri
e
s
, 

s
u
p
p
lie

s
 a

n
d
 u

ti
lit

y 
c
o

s
ts

 

R
e
p
a
ir
s
 E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 :
 R

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
, 
v
o
id

, 

c
y
c
lic

a
l,
 o

th
e
r 

a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 c

o
s
ts

6
,9

1
1

6
,4

4
7

6
,5

8
7

5
,5

8
4

-1
,0

0
3

-1
5
.2

3
%

U
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 r

e
la

te
s
 m

a
in

ly
 t

o
 l
o
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 

s
p
e
n
d
 o

n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 r

e
p
a
ir
s
, 

c
y
c
lic

a
l 
a
n
d
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 

d
e
c
o
ra

ti
o
n
s
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e

O
th

e
r 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 :
 I
m

p
a
ir
m

e
n
t 

a
llo

w
a
n
a
c
e
, 
G

ra
n
ts

 t
o
 M

o
v
e
, 
A

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 

H
o
u
s
in

g
, 

O
th

e
r 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
4
9

1
,1

2
3

1
,1

4
1

5
0
9

-6
3
2

-5
5
.3

8
%

U
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 f

ro
m

 G
ra

n
ts

 t
o
 M

o
v
e
, 
In

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 B

a
d
 d

e
b
t 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 p

a
rt

ia
lly

 o
ff

s
e
t 
b
y 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 s

p
e
n
d
 o

n
 A

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e

In
c
o
m

e
 :
 D

w
e
lli

n
g
 r

e
n
ts

, 
L
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld

 

c
h
a
rg

e
s

-3
1
,0

5
0

-3
1
,6

8
9

-3
1
,7

6
1

-3
1
,9

5
4

-1
9
4

-0
.6

1
%

H
ig

h
e
r 

th
a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 l
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld

 a
n
d
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 c

h
a
rg

e
s
 

p
a
rt

ia
lly

 o
ff

s
e
t 
b
y 

lo
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 g

a
ra

g
e
 r

e
n
ta

ls

C
o
n
tr

o
lla

b
le

-1
7
,6

7
1

-1
7
,3

8
5

-1
7
,3

3
0

-1
9
,8

8
6

-2
,5

5
6

-1
4
.7

5
%

N
o
n
 c

o
n
tr

o
lla

b
le

 (
S

S
C

, 
d
e
p
re

c
ia

ti
o
n
, 

fi
n
a
n
c
in

g
 c

o
s
ts

)
1
7
,2

7
2

1
6
,4

0
7

1
6
,4

2
8

1
8
,8

7
5

2
,4

4
7

1
4
.9

0
%

In
c
lu

d
e
s
 v

a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 l
o
s
s
e
s
 f

o
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

g
a
ra

g
e
s
 o

f 

£
1
,7

6
5
k
, 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
d
e
p
re

c
ia

ti
o
n
 £

7
7
8
k
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 o

n
ly

 

a
 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 t

o
 M

a
jo

r 
R

e
p
a
ir
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
, 
lo

w
e
r 

th
a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 i
n
te

re
s
t 

p
a
ym

e
n
ts

 d
u
e
 t
o
 a

 f
a
ll 

in
 t
h

e
 

in
te

re
s
t 

ra
te

N
e
t 

(s
u
rp

lu
s
) 

d
e
fi
c
it

-3
9
9

-9
7
8

-9
0
2

-1
,0

1
1

-1
0
9

-1
2
.0

4
%

B
a
la

n
c
e
 b

/f
w

d
 

-3
,1

7
5

-3
,5

3
3

-3
,5

3
3

-3
,5

7
4

-4
1

-1
.1

7
%

B
a
la

n
c
e
 c

/f
w

d
 

-3
,5

7
4

-4
,5

1
1

-4
,4

3
5

-4
,5

8
5

-1
5
0

-3
.3

8
%

173



174

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5

Reserves Movements 2014/15
Total 

Available 1 

April 2014 Contribution drawdown

Balance 

Carried 

Forward

Carry Forwards 4,203 1,598 -4,008 1,793

Business Risk 2,859 0 -750 2,109

MTFS Implementation cost 6,074 1,066 -4,390 2,750

TPIF 3,370 801 -352 3,819

IT Implementation 0 2,822 2,822

Rapid response 0 75 75

Standing up for those in need 0 800 800

Public Health 666 242 0 908

CIL Harrow 14 186 0 200

CIL Mayor Admin 0 39 0 39

Proceeds of Crime Act 0 160 0 160

Libraries termination reserve 0 153 0 153

Legal expansion reserve 0 102 0 102

Compensatory Added Years 802 0 -79 723

Children's Social Care Reserve 0 866 0 866

HSIP 0 1,261 0 1,261

PFI Schools 3,246 0 -292 2,954

PFI Neighbourhood Resource Centre 1,020 134 0 1,154

Insurance reserve 500 0 0 500

Borough Elections 318 0 -318 0

Harvist - Harrow Share 19 0 0 19

NW London Education Business 

Partnership 10 0 0 10

Personal Injury Reserve 110 0 0 110

General Reserve 10,008 0 0 10,008

33,219 10,305 -10,189 33,335

175



176

This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June 2015 

Subject: 

 

Recommissioning Domestic and Sexual 
Violence Preventative and Intervention 
Services 
 

Key Decision:  

 

Yes 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Alex Dewsnap, Divisional Director of  
Strategic Commissioning 
 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Anne Whitehead, Portfolio Holder 
for Adults and Older People 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes  
 

Wards affected: 

 

All Wards 

Enclosures: 

 

Service Specification 
Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

This report asks for authority to seek tenders for the provision of services to 
address Domestic and Sexual Violence including management of the Refuge 
and the provision of Floating Support services.   
 

Recommendation:  
Cabinet is requested to authorise seeking tenders as described in this report.  
 
Reason:  (For recommendations) So that services to address Domestic and 
Sexual Violence can be provided as effectively and competitively as possible.  
A single provider will enable better co-ordination of services and there is a 
prospect of reducing the management overheads as one management team 
will be able to cover the whole service. 

 

Agenda Item 14
Pages 177 to 204

177



 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
Introductory paragraph 
 
The Council provides a range of services to address Domestic and Sexual 
Violence.  These include:  
 

• commissioning Independent Domestic Violence Advisers (IDVAs) to 
advise victims of their options and provide support while they choose a 
course of action and pursue it;  

• co-ordination of the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) which brings all relevant agencies together to plan how to 
keep high risk victims and their children safe,  

• A refuge which provides hostel accommodation to women and their 
children who are escaping domestic violence; and  

• Floating support to provide information and practical support to female 
residents and their children living independently within the Borough or 
in Council-provided accommodation elsewhere.   

 
These services are currently provided by Victim Support and Hestia funded 
variously from the Council’s mainstream budgets and the Supporting People 
grant.  The mainstream funded services have not been the subject of 
competitive tenders for some years for a variety of reasons including the 
existence of a Home Office grant to a specific provider and uncertainty over 
the continuation of resources.  The Supporting People funded services were 
last tendered in 2012 and are currently being provided by an extension to that 
contract. 
 
The combination of the expiration of the Home Office grant and the provision 
of an investment fund for domestic violence work agreed by Cabinet last year 
make this an ideal time reconfigure these services and seek new tenders.  
The domestic violence service landscape has changed with the letting of a 
Pan-London contract by the Mayor to level up provision across the capital and 
the development of new services in Harrow using the Investment Fund.  
Seeking tenders for all of these services together also has the potential 
advantage of obtaining clearer referral pathways and reducing co-ordination 
and management costs.   
 
The Investment Fund has already been utilised in conjunction with the 
Mayor’s Pan-London provision to establish an IDVA post at Northwick Park 
Hospital with effect from 1st July 2015 and to provide within the specification 
for the proposed contract a re-organisation of the IDVA provision to provide 
more effective support to the Police Community Safety Unit which investigates 
domestic abuse.   
 
Training materials have been produced to be used to supplement appropriate 
training so that front line professionals have the knowledge to recognise 
domestic abuse and the confidence to refer cases to specialists which will 
enable earlier intervention than is the consistently case at present.  
 

178



 
Preparation for the Family Domestic Violence Project, an innovative project 
based on a scheme working in San Francisco, has progressed with the 
development of a methodology for identifying appropriate families and 
methods of working.  A number of social work staff has been trained in the 
necessary techniques but there is currently a difficulty in agreeing exactly how 
the project can be delivered with the Council’s provider of clinical support to 
families.   
 
Work to support community resilience to oppose Female Genital Mutilation 
(FGM), Honour-based Violence and Forced Marriage has progressed but is 
awaiting the development by the Council’s new communications provider of 
some images to provoke community conversations.  It is expected that this 
work stream will be active in the next few weeks.   
 

Options considered   
 
Addressing domestic and sexual violence is one of the administration’s 
priorities and so the options were limited to continuing with the existing 
arrangements or seeking new tenders.  The existing arrangements had not 
been the subject of competitive tender for, in some cases, more than seven 
years and so continuing with these arrangements was not recommended.  
The changes in the range and level of services that can be afforded due to the 
approved Investment Fund also suggested that new contracts should be 
sought to reflect the pattern of services that best meets the known Borough 
need.   
 
The service specification appended to this report includes enhancing existing 
service levels in line with the intention behind the Investment Fund and takes 
account of the pan-London contract for similar services recently approved by 
the Mayor. 
 

Background  
 
Cabinet adopted a new Domestic and Sexual Violence Strategy in September 
2014 which included the latest estimate of the level of violence in Harrow and 
the capacity of the services in place to address this need.  The Strategy 
included, for example, data on calls to the Police, which average between 500 
and 600 each quarter and offences, which are running at between 200 and 
300 each quarter.  The existing caseload of our IDVAs, who support victims at 
the highest risk of further violence, is running at more than three times the 
recommended level.  In the months since the strategy was adopted, the data 
shows that, while crime in London, and to a much greater extent, in Harrow 
continues to fall, reports of Violence with Injury which includes Domestic 
Abuse has risen.  The best analysis is that this does not reflect an increase in 
the rate of Domestic Abuse but an increase in reporting which is likely to be 
due to the higher priority given to all form of Domestic Abuse in society 
generally and in Harrow in particular. 
 
The Strategy sought to increase the capacity of the Council funded services 
and to devote more attention to preventative measures including education 
and public awareness to try to address long-term needs.  The opportunity to 
bring the Supporting People funded services into the same contract was felt to 

179



 
offer the potential to achieve better co-ordination and reduce management 
costs.   
 
The service specification which has been developed and is attached to this 
report as Appendix 1 incudes the growth both in the cost and number of 
IDVAs, an increase in the time allowed for co-originating the MARAC and 
maintains at the existing level the support for residents both at the Refuge and 
living independently.  The Investment Fund has enabled the specification to 
guarantee the hours of the existing IDVAs against the threat that these would 
be cut as inflation eroded the value of the old contract and to increase the 
number of IDVAs, and instead increase IDVA hours by 14%.  The contract 
also allows for an increase of 150% in the time for MARAC Coordination.   
 
The specification envisages that the service will run to 30th October 2017 with 
the option of extending it for a further year and for a second additional year.  
Work is now beginning to look at alternative ways of funding the provision of 
these services including Social Finance and Social Impact Bonds.  The 
duration of the proposed contract has been recommended to allow a change 
to these alternative forms of finance if the work proves to be fruitful and this 
might necessitate a new form of contract and/or specification.  If innovative 
funding methods cannot be put in place, the option of extending the proposed 
contract is available.   
 

Implications of the Recommendation 
Considerations 

 
Resources, costs  
 
The existing budgets within the Resources Directorate and the Supporting 
People grant which is managed from the Housing Directorate, together with 
an element of the investment fund are sufficient to meet the anticipated costs 
of the new service.  The proposed contract will allow for the caseload and 
interventions of the provider to flex to reflect future budgets. 
 
Staffing/workforce  
 
There are no staffing implications for Council employed staff.  It is probable 
that TUPE will apply to staff of the current providers should the contacts be 
won by an alternative provider.   
 
Performance Issues  
 
The Service Specification includes provision for better management 
information based around the risk level for each IDVA supported case as 
measured by the DASH Assessment and the use of the Empowerment 
Outcome Star which measures user perception of their safety and resilience 
before and after IDVA interventions.   
 
Data on the other existing performance measures will continue to be collected 
and monitored to show the scale of the issue coming to our attention, a 
breakdown of victims and perpetrators by their protected characteristics, the 
outcome of criminal proceedings, the occupancy of the Refuge and the 
outcomes of Floating Support interventions.   

180



 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
There are no Environmental Implications arising from this proposal. 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
The risks associated with this area of work are that the provision of services 
are not sufficient to meet the needs even of the violence that is known, let 
alone the huge amount that is estimated to take place but which is not 
reported.  The way in which this risk is managed is to concentrate support to 
those assessed to be at the greatest of risk of further and escalating severity 
of abuse and the provision of better management information about risk and 
users perception of safety will help to assess the adequacy of the provision in 
place and the success of the approach adopted.   
 
Risk included on Directorate risk register?  Yes 
 

Legal Implications 
 
In order to maintain the Services, the Council is required to run a competitive 
process to appoint a contractor under a new contract in accordance with the 
new Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  The nature of the services requires 
that the new “light touch” regime which applies to services listed at Schedule 
3 of the 2015 Regulations will need to be used during this tender exercise.   
 
The provision of Domestic and Sexual Violence services falls within the 
category of health, social and other services.  As the overall potential value of 
the contract exceeds the permitted financial threshold in the sum of £625,000 
there must be a ‘call for competition’ either by way of a contract notice or prior 
information notice.  The selected award procedure must comply with the 
principles of equal treatment and transparency and fully outline the award 
procedure which will be used 
 

Financial Implications 
 
There are budgets within the Policy Team and the Housing Service to support 
the proposed contract, although this is expected to be subject to review again 
for 2016/17. 
 
The proposed contract includes provision for service level flexibility in the 
event of budgets being reduced to. 

 
Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
The EqIA for this proposal is attached. 
 

181



 

Council Priorities 
 
The Council’s vision:  
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 

• Making a difference for communities 

• Making a difference for local businesses 

• Making a difference for families 
 
Seeking tenders and letting a contract will make a difference to the 
vulnerable, communities and families.   
 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name:  Steve Tingle x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 8 April 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Sarah Inverary x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date:  19 April 2015 

   
 

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO, as it impacts on all 
Wards  
 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
YES 
 
If ‘NO’ state why an EqIA 
is not required for 
Cabinet to take a 
decision 
 

 
 

182



 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
 

Contact Mike Howes, Senior Policy officer 
mike.howes@harrow.gv.uk 020 8420 9637 
 

Background Papers:  Domestic and Sexual Violence Strategy  
http://moderngov:8080/documents/g62355/Public%20reports%20p
ack%20Thursday%2018-Sep-
2014%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
 
 
 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 
 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call-in applies] 
 
 

 

183



184

This page is intentionally left blank



Final Draft 

 

Harrow Council 
 

Specification for Domestic and Sexual Violence Services 
 

2015 - 2018 
 
Specification 
 
1. Harrow Council invites applications to tender for a contract to provide a 
domestic and sexual violence service for the London Borough of Harrow to run until 
the end of September 2017 with possible extensions of one year plus a further year.  
The service comprises: 
 
� Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA) Service and Multi Agency 

Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) co-ordinator; 
� Housing Support Services (Floating Support and the management of a 6 bed 

hostel). 
 

2.  Most data on Domestic Violence is collected by the Police in responding to 
calls for assistance.  Over the seven years from 2008 to 2013, the average number 
of reports for each three month period has been between 500 and 600 requests for 
assistance which have resulted in between 200 and 300 recorded offences each 
quarter.  
 
3. The IDVA Service will receive referrals from the Police, the Council, the 
Health Service, Voluntary and Community Organisations and from the public with the 
likely number being in line with the prevailing trend over the last few years.  The 
service will risk assess these referrals and offer support to those assessed as high 
risk.  In the event that there is capacity within the service, it may also offer support to 
those assessed as having a medium or standard risk.  If appropriate, separate 
arrangements should be made to support male victims. 
 
4. Coordination of the MARAC will involve receiving referrals from the Police, the 
Council, the Health Service and Voluntary and Community Organisations, 
researching the background to the cases referred, compiling agendas for monthly 
meetings, ensuring that referrers are notified of and invited to the meeting, noting 
proposals for mitigating risks, preparing action lists to remind agencies of their 
interventions and actions. 
 
5. Those seeking refuge accommodation should normally be eligible for Housing 
benefit or able to fund the costs of their stay themselves.  However, the Council is 
asking tenderers to identify ways in which victims with no recourse to public funds 
may be able to be helped including leveraging external funding o ensure that this 
service is available on the basis of need.  Details of the approach that tenderers 
intend to adopt will form part of the tender evaluation.   
 
6. Floating support is a service that provides housing related support to 
vulnerable adults (over 16) to enable them to maintain their independence in their 
own home. Floating support services will generally be short term (less than 2 years) 

185



Final Draft 

 

and will have the flexibility to support a person wherever they live - as distinct from 
accommodation based services, where support is tied to particular accommodation. 
This kind of support service helps clients and their children, if any, who have been 
through domestic violence and who are living in Harrow.  It is designed to ensure 
that once clients have accommodation they are supported to maintain independent 
living.   
 

7. The London Borough of Harrow welcomes consortia or partnership bids to 
meet the range of skills, areas of expertise and requirements set out in this 
specification.  Bids of this nature must identify a single agency to act as a nominated 
point of contact with the Council. 
 

Definitions and scope 
 

8. Domestic Violence.  The Home Office has defined domestic violence as 
“Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been intimate 
partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality.  The abuse can 
encompass, but is not limited to: psychological, physical, sexual, financial and/or 
emotional. 

 
9. Controlling behaviour: is a range of acts designed to make a person 
subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting 
their resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means 
needed for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday 
behaviour. 

 
10. Coercive behaviour: is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, 
humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish or frighten 
their victim. 

 
11. Independent Domestic Violence Advisors.  Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisors (IDVAs) are professional case workers who support ‘high risk’ 
victims of domestic abuse and their children. 
 
The full definition as published by Safelives (previously known as Co-ordinated 
Action Against Domestic Abuse (CAADA)), is as follows: 

 
“The main purpose of Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA) is to 
address the safety of victims at high risk of harm from intimate partners, ex-
partners or family members to secure their safety and the safety of their 
children.  Serving as a victim’s primary point of contact, IDVAs normally work 
with their clients from the point of crisis to assess the level of risk, discuss the 
range of suitable options and develop safety plans.  
 
IDVAs are pro-active in implementing the plans, which address immediate 
safety, including practical steps to protect themselves and their children, as 
well as longer-term solutions. These plans will include actions from the 
MARAC as well as sanctions and remedies available through the criminal and 

186



Final Draft 

 

civil courts, housing options and services available through other 
organisations.  IDVAs support and work over the short- to medium-term to put 
them on the path to long-term safety.  They receive specialist accredited 
training and hold a nationally recognised qualification”. 

 
12. MARAC Co-ordination.  The MARAC coordination function will support the 
development and delivery of Harrow’s Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) in line with the ten guidance principles for an effective MARAC, as defined 
by Safelives.  The main aim of the MARAC is to reduce the risk of serious harm or 
homicide for a victim and to increase the safety, health and wellbeing of victims - 
adults and any children. 
 
13. Housing Support Service.  This includes the provision of temporary 
emergency accommodation to women aged 16 or over including their daughters and 
sons up to the age of 13 (if any) living in any part of the United Kingdom.  The refuge 
is a safe accommodation for up to six women and their children at any one time and 
the tenancy is normally for a period of up to two years.   
 
14. Floating Support is to ensure the provision of practical and emotional support, 
advice and advocacy to women and their children on matters such as housing, 
welfare benefits, legal options, health, education, training and childcare.  It is 
envisaged that 55 hours of floating support would be available for up to 16 
households at any one time and that 6 of these households will be within the second 
stage project managed by Women’s Pioneer Housing Limited.  The remaining 10 
households can be anywhere within Harrow.   
 
15. Harrow Council’s Domestic and Sexual Violence Strategy 2014-17  
This strategy was adopted in September 2014.  It identifies the scale of the issues in 
Harrow and sets out the approach that the Council has adopted.  The strategy is 
appended to this specification for information.   
 
16  Current Service Provision 
The current Domestic Violence Service contract provides for: 
 
� Independent Domestic Violence Advisers for 126 hours a week to provide 

advice and support to victims at high risk of further violence; 
� A part-time (7.2 hours a week) Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 

(MARAC) co-ordinator to manage the submission of high risk cases for 
consideration; 

� Management of a 6 place refuge and support to the people living there and 
� 55 hours of Floating support hours for victims of domestic violence. 

 
17. These contracted services are delivered in conjunction with additional 
services provided by different procurement arrangements including: 
 
� A grant funded Independent Sexual Violence Advocate; 
� A Young person’s Violence Adviser based in the Early Intervention Service; 
� A Community Groups Programme to support young people who have 

witnessed domestic violence and their parents/carers; 

187



Final Draft 

 

� Harrow Shield, a MOPAC funded programme of young people’s education 
and awareness raising; 

� Detached services provided by the West London rape Crisis Centre; and 
� MOPAC’s Pan-London Domestic VAWG Service. 

 
18. New Service.  Harrow Council is commissioning the following domestic 
violence services from November 2015 until the end of March 2018: 
 

� IDVA Services; 
� MARAC Co-ordination Services; 
� The Refuge service; and 
� Floating Support Service 
 

19 The service will comprise  
 
� Provision of 144 hours a week of IDVA support; 
� 18 hours per week for MARAC Co-ordination 
� Refuge staff: support worker (33 .3 hours per week) 
� Floating Support staff (55 hours per week) 
� Project Management – Floating Support (4 hours per week) 
� Project Management-Refuge Service (6 hours per week) 

 
20 IDVAs will be fully qualified (either on appointment or within six months of the 
contract implementation date). The Service will address any child protection issues 
arising from a victim’s circumstances and adopt Local Safeguarding Board 
Procedures and standards in relation to child protection issues. 
 
21. The Provider will complete DASH risk assessments for all appropriate victims 
which can be used by partner agencies to ensure effective safety planning for victims 
and utilise the Empowerment Outcome Star to demonstrate improvements in client 
perception of safety.  The Provider will also support the MARAC framework through 
referrals and the co-ordination of and lead on the organisation of MARAC meetings.  
The results of these assessments will form part of the management and performance 
information required to be supplied by the provider.  The provider will also participate 
in MARAC self Assessments and help in developing and implementing actions 
arising from the findings of such reviews.  The provider will maintain and supply 
records of the occupancy of the Refuge, the length of stay and the form of 
accommodation taken up by residents when they leave and of all client’ comments 
and complaints.  These will be shared with the Commissioner. 
 
22 The Provider will ensure that people at risk of becoming victims of domestic 
abuse, including those from hard to reach or minority communities, are given 
appropriate advice and that pro-active support is available to victims of domestic 
violence to safeguard them, reduce repeat victimisation and ensure that they are 
aware of their rights.  The Provider will signpost appropriate support to victims of 
domestic violence to safeguard them, reduce repeat victimisation and ensure that 
they are aware of their rights.  

 

188



Final Draft 

 

23 For residents of the Refuge, the Provider will deliver help in finding other 
accommodation and setting up and maintaining that home or tenancy, which will also 
include providing transitional support and assistance to users that have moved on to 
other accommodation for a period of up to 6 weeks. The Provider will also deliver the 
Refuge Service and, where necessary, the Floating Support Service 7 days a week, 
52 weeks of the year, with flexible arrangements in place that allows greater access 
to meet the needs of the service users, including an emergency out of hours service.  

 
24. The Provider will ensure that arrangements are in place for continuous 
professional development for all staff associated with the contracted services and 
ensure compliance with health and safety, staff welfare and other relevant 
employment legislation.   
 
25 Outcomes.  The Provider will deliver sensitive, non-judgemental and non- 
oppressive support to those who have experienced domestic violence.  The Provider 
will use the Empowerment Outcome Star tool to measure client progress towards 
independence and choice in the following areas: Safety, Support Networks; and 
Empowerment and Self Esteem.  All clients supported will be accurately assessed 
and supported with safety plans.  Clients will be supported through the criminal 
justice system. 

 
26 The Provider will deliver emotional and practical support to women and 
children fleeing domestic violence and ensure that clients are safer and better 
resourced to remain safe.  This support will encourage clients to retain/regain their 
sense of autonomy and control and develop and/or maintain strong and resilient 
support networks so that clients believe they can live free from violence.  Clients will 

develop increased resilience and the resources to prevent further experience of 
violence. 

 
27 Clients in the refuge and those accessing floating support will have improved 
mental, emotional and physical health and the opportunity to maintain these 
improvements.  By the time that clients are no longer supported, they will have 
increased financial stability and independence and more stable accommodation, 
increased access to education and employment opportunities hopes and goals for 
the future.  Children will be safer and better equipped to remain safe and adult 
clients will be better equipped for parenting. 

 

Invitation To Tender  
 
1. Tender Requirements.  These are pre-requisite criteria for providers wishing 
to bid for this tender and must be clearly evidenced.  If the bid fails any of these 
criteria, due to missing evidence or evidence that does not support the criteria, the 
bid will not be considered further. 

� All organisations involved in submitting the bid must be independent and 
their objectives must be for public benefit and not for profit; 
� All services must be free at the point of delivery; 
� A primary purpose of the provider(s) must be to address violence against 
women and girls with expertise on domestic violence; 

189



Final Draft 

 

� The organisation(s) delivering service must have an evidenced track record 
of delivering advocacy support to meet the needs of survivors of domestic 
violence; 
� At least one provider involved in submitting a bid for the service must be an 
active member of a national professional, specialist VAWG body and should 
provide evidence of utilising the national accredited quality service 
standards for working with BME (black and minority ethnic) women and 
girls; 
� The provider(s) must have the ability to put in place mechanisms and 
systems for recording data in line with the service requirements and agree 
to share data with the Council and other partners; 
� The provider(s) must have proven ability to work in partnership with existing 
local partners and services to ensure that delivery enhances and improves 
existing service provision locally; and 
� The provider(s) must demonstrate commitment to equal opportunities and 
understanding of equality issues. All providers and services must be 
compliant with the public sector equality duty set out in section 149(1) of the 
Equality Act 2010.  This requires MOPAC (and its providers and services) to 
have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations by reference to people with protected 
characteristics.  

2. Governance and reporting arrangement.  As commissioner of the service, 
the Council is responsible for contract management to ensure effective delivery and 
value for money. The Council’s DSV Strategy Group will offer overall oversight and 
decision making with regard to the service and the provider will be expected to 
attend its quarterly meetings.  The provider will also be expected to attend the 
Domestic Violence Forum which also meets quarterly. 

 

3. Performance monitoring.  To satisfy the governance structure and payment 
processes, it is proposed that the successful provider develop a performance 
framework. Data from this monitoring process will be required from the provider 
every quarter. This performance information is to include evidence that the service 
outputs and outcomes as detailed in the successful bid are being achieved. Further 
details of this will be agreed prior to contract start and will be included as part of the 
grant agreement issued to providers.  At the end of each twelve month period the 
Council may request additional information/data to surmise progress at year end. 

4. The provider(s) of the Supported Housing Services will be acting as a 
managing agent for Network Stadium Housing Association and therefore must be 
able to satisfy their vetting criteria. This is attached as appendix1  

 
5. The following information must also be provided in the bid.  Please ensure 
that your bid responds to each sub-heading separately and is set out accordingly. 
 

� A single named lead contact; 
� An outline timetable showing how and when the specification 

requirements will be delivered;  
� A risk register for the delivery of the services outlined; 

190



Final Draft 

 

� Proposed methodology for performance management, monitoring and 
data collection  

� Details of relevant experience supporting the criteria;  
� Proposed methodology for achieving the service outcomes listed above 
� Details of equal opportunities policies for all providers involved in the bid; 
� Completed Diversity Monitoring form; 
� Two relevant references from previous work undertaken (by the lead 

provider if the bid is from a consortium) ; 
� Two sets of audited accounts (of lead provider if the bid is from a 

consortium); 
� Consortium/partnership arrangements (only if the bid submitted is from 

more than one provider). Please provide an outline of the partnership, 
who takes lead responsibility and how performance and quality are 
assured; 

� Any match funding or other possible funding streams you may have 
access to for supporting this work. 
 

6. Evaluation and scoring.  The award of the contract will be subject to a 
competitive tender process and evaluated by a panel against the requirements 
outlined in this document.   Each evaluation outcome will be scored on a scale from 
non-compliant to outstanding.   After each panel member has awarded a score, 
these will be discussed by the panel and a consensus reached.  Those tenders 
which score 3 or above for all responses to the award criteria, the evaluation will 
proceed. Those in which one or more criteria scores 2 or less will not proceed. 

 

7. The evaluation criteria are:  
 

Criteria Evidence Outcome   Weighting  

Quality of the 
proposed 
service 
 
 

Please 
describe how 
you intend to 
deliver the 
services as 
prescribed in 
the 
specification 

Effective provision of IDVA 
Services 

10% 

Effective Co-ordination of the 
MARAC 

5% 

Effective management of the 
Refuge and support for the 
residents there 

10% 

Effective management of Floating 
Support services 

10% 

Co-ordination of all these services 
with the existing pattern of services 
in Harrow 

5% 

  Effective support systems to 
ensure the provision of 
independence and choice resulting 
in a reduction of further harm and 
an increase in safety, support 
networks, empowerment and self-
esteem. 
 
 

10% 

191



Final Draft 

 

Relevant 
expertise and 
experience 

Please 
demonstrate 
your  
organisation’s 
experience  in 
relation to the 
following areas 
of expertise  
 

Expertise in and experience in the 
provision of supported housing to 
women and girls experiencing 
domestic violence 

15% 

Expertise in and experience in the 
violence against women and girls 
sector and of domestic violence.  

15% 

Value for 
money in 
relation to 
quality of 
service 
provided 

Please 
demonstrate 
your 
organisations 
commitment to 
service 
improvement 
and value for 
money 

Ability to effectively integrate with 
and work in partnership with  local 
partners, local services and referral 
pathways 

5% 

Evaluation of price in light of the 
service proposed.  
Deliver best value taking account 
of price and quality  

10% 

  Provision of added value. Harrow 
Council  welcomes any additional 
value through ‘in kind’ match, 
funding or other ways that victims 
will receive added value 

5% 

 

192



E
q
u
a
lit

y
 I

m
p
a
ct

 A
ss

e
ss

m
e
n
t 

T
e
m

p
la

te
 

  T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
h
a
s 
re
v
is
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
im
p
lif
ie
d
 i
ts
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 I
m
p
a
ct
 A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
ce
ss
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s 
n
o
w
 j
u
st
 o
n
e
 T
e
m
p
la
te
. 
P
ro
je
ct
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 S
ta
g
e
s
 1
-3
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
 f
u
ll 
E
q
IA
 i
s 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 t
e
m
p
la
te
. 

   

C
o
m
p
le
te
 S
ta
g
e
s 
1
-3
 f
o
r 

a
ll 
p
ro
je
ct
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
, 

n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
, 
p
o
lic
y
 

re
v
ie
w
, 
se
rv
ic
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
, 

d
e
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
se
rv
ic
e
, 

re
st
ru
ct
u
re
 e
tc
  

 

S
ta

g
e
 3
 

Q
u
e
st
io
n
 7
  

 N
o

 

Y
E

S
 

 
G
o
 t
o
 S
ta
g
e
 6
 a
n
d
 

co
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 r
e
st
 o
f 
th
e
 

te
m
p
la
te
 

  

 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 S
ta
g
e
 4
 

a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 

te
m
p
la
te
 f
o
r 
a
 f
u
ll 
E
q
IA
  

  

193



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

1
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 I

m
p
a
ct

 A
ss

e
ss

m
e
n
t 

(E
q
IA

) 
T
e
m

p
la

te
  

In
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 c
a
rr
y 
o
u
t 
th
is
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t,
 i
t 
is
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
th
a
t 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 t
h
e
 E
q
IA
 E
-l
e
a
rn
in
g
 M
o
d
u
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
a
d
 t
h
e
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 G
u
id
e
lin
e
s 
o
n
 E
q
IA
s.
 P
le
a
se
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 t
h
e
se
 t
o
 a
ss
is
t 
y
o
u
 i
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 t
h
is
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t.
 

It
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 h
e
lp
 y
o
u
 t
o
 l
o
o
k 
a
t 
th
e
 E
q
IA
 T
e
m
p
la
te
 w
it
h
 G
u
id
a
n
ce
 N
o
te
s 
to
 a
ss
is
t 
y
o
u
 i
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 E
q
IA
. 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 
P
ro
je
c
t 
/
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
l:
 

T
ic
k
 �
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 
D
e
c
is
io
n
: 

T
ic
k
 �
 

T
ra
n
sf
o
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

�
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 

 
P
o
rt
fo
lio
 H
o
ld
e
r 

 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 

 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 B
o
a
rd
 

 

O
th
e
r 
 

 
 

O
th
e
r 
 

 
 

T
it
le
 o
f 
P
ro
je
ct
: 

R
e
-c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 D

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 a

n
d
 S

e
x
u
a
l 
V

io
le

n
c
e
 

 

D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te
/S
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
sp
o
n
si
b
le
: 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
/S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 

 

N
a
m
e
 a
n
d
 j
o
b
 t
it
le
 o
f 
le
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
ik

e
 H

o
w

e
s
, 
S

e
n
io

r 
P

o
lic

y
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

N
a
m
e
 &
 c
o
n
ta
ct
 d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
th
e
 o
th
e
r 
p
e
rs
o
n
s 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t:
 

  

D
a
te
 o
f 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t:
 

3
0
th
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
5
 

 

S
ta
g
e
 1
: 
O
v
e
rv
ie
w

 

1
. 
W
h
a
t 
a
re
 y
o
u
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 d
o
? 

 (E
x
p
la
in
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 e
.g
. 
in
tr
o
d
u
ct
io
n
 o
f 
a
 n
e
w
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
r 

p
o
lic
y
, 
p
o
lic
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
, 
ch
a
n
g
in
g
 c
ri
te
ri
a
, 
re
d
u
ct
io
n
/r
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 

se
rv
ic
e
, 
re
st
ru
ct
u
re
, 
d
e
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
o
st
s 
e
tc
) 

R
e
-c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 D

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 a

n
d
 S

e
x
u
a
l 
V

io
le

n
c
e
. 

 T
h
e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
b
ri
n
g
s
 t
o
g
e
th

e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 

b
y
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 u

s
in

g
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 C
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
in
g
 u
si
n
g
 

m
a
in
st
re
a
m
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
fu
n
d
s.
  
T
h
e
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 b
e
h
in
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
co
m
m
is
si
o
n
in
g
 i
s 
to
 r
e
d
u
ce
 

d
u
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
co
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
ce
 

o
v
e
rh
e
a
d
s.
 

 In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
, 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s 
su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 m

a
in
st
re
a
m
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 

su
b
je
ct
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 t
e
n
d
e
r 
fo
r 
so
m
e
 y
e
a
rs
. 

 N
o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l’s
 e
m
p
lo
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l 
is
 t
o
 

co
n
ti
n
u
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s 
a
t 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
r,
 i
n
 s
o
m
e
 c
a
se
s,
 e
x
p
a
n
d
 t
h
e
m
. 
  

194



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

2
 

2
. 
W
h
o
 a
re
 t
h
e
 m

a
in
 p
e
o
p
le
/P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s 
th
a
t 

m
a
y
 b
e
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 b
y
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
? 
(�

 a
ll 
th
a
t 
a
p
p
ly
) 

R
e
si
d
e
n
ts
/S
e
rv
ic
e
 

U
se
rs
 

�
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
  
 

�
 
S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

 

S
ta
ff
 

 
A
g
e
 

 
D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

 

G
e
n
d
e
r 
R
e
a
ss
ig
n
m
e
n
t 

 

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
 a
n
d
 C
iv
il 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

 
 

P
re
g
n
a
n
cy
 
a
n
d
 

M
a
te
rn
it
y
 

 

R
a
ce
 

 
R
e
lig
io
n
 o
r 
B
e
lie
f 

 
S
e
x
 

 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

 
O
th
e
r 

 
 

3
. 
Is
 t
h
e
 r
e
sp
o
n
si
b
ili
ty
 s
h
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te
, 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
? 
If
 s
o
: 
 

•
 
W
h
o
 a
re
 t
h
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
? 

•
 
W
h
o
 h
a
s 
th
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
re
sp
o
n
si
b
ili
ty
? 

•
 
H
o
w
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
y
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t?
 

 

T
h
e
 r
e
sp
o
n
si
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
su
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 v
ic
ti
m
s 
o
f 
d
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
v
io
le
n
ce
 i
s 
sh
a
re
d
 

w
it
h
 C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 F
a
m
ili
e
s,
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H

e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
ll-
b
e
in
g
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
se
, 
H
a
rr
o
w
 
P
o
lic
e
, 
H
a
rr
o
w
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
R
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
 
C
o
m
p
a
n
y
, 
H
a
rr
o
w
 

C
C
G
; 
C
e
n
tr
a
l 
a
n
d
 
N
o
rt
h
 
W
e
st
 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 
T
ru
st
; 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 
N
o
rt
h
 
W
e
st
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ca
re
 N
H
S
 T
ru
st
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
 

 

S
ta
g
e
 2
: 
E
v
id
e
n
ce
 /
 D
a
ta
 C
o
lla
ti
o
n
 

4
. 
W
h
a
t 
e
v
id
e
n
ce
/d
a
ta
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
o
 a
ss
e
ss
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
ct
 o
f 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
? 
In
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
e
 a
ct
u
a
l 
d
a
ta
, 
st
a
ti
st
ic
s 
re
v
ie
w
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

se
ct
io
n
 b
e
lo
w
. 
T
h
is
 c
a
n
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 c
e
n
su
s 
d
a
ta
, 
b
o
ro
u
g
h
 p
ro
fi
le
, 
p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
se
rv
ic
e
 u
se
rs
, 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 p
ro
fi
le
s,
 r
e
su
lt
s 
fr
o
m
 c
o
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
s 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
tr
a
ck
e
r,
 c
u
st
o
m
e
r 
sa
ti
sf
a
ct
io
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s,
 f
o
cu
s 
g
ro
u
p
s,
 r
e
se
a
rc
h
 i
n
te
rv
ie
w
s,
 s
ta
ff
 s
u
rv
e
y
s;
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 e
tc
. 
W
h
e
re
 p
o
ss
ib
le
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 d
a
ta
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 n
in
e
 P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s.
 

(W
h
e
re
 y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 g
a
p
s 
(d
a
ta
 i
s 
n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
/b
e
in
g
 c
o
lla
te
d
),
 y
o
u
 m

a
y
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
is
 a
s 
a
n
 a
ct
io
n
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
ss
 i
n
 y
o
u
r 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
ct
io
n
 

P
la
n
 a
t 
S
ta
g
e
 7
) 

A
g
e
 (
in
cl
u
d
in
g
 c
a
re
rs
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
/o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
) 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 (
in
cl
u
d
in
g
 c
a
re
rs
 o
f 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 

p
e
o
p
le
) 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

G
e
n
d
e
r 
R
e
a
ss
ig
n
m
e
n
t 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
/C
iv
il 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

P
re
g
n
a
n
cy
 a
n
d
 M
a
te
rn
it
y
 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

195



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

3
 

R
a
ce
  

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

R
e
lig
io
n
 a
n
d
 B
e
lie
f 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

S
e
x
/G
e
n
d
e
r 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

S
o
ci
o
 E
co
n
o
m
ic
 

 

5
. 
W
h
a
t 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 o
n
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
? 

W
h
o
 w
a
s 
co
n
su
lt
e
d
? 

W
h
a
t 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 m

e
th
o
d
s 
w
e
re
 

u
se
d
? 

W
h
a
t 
d
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
su
lt
s 
sh
o
w
 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s 
/ 

P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s?
 

W
h
a
t 
a
ct
io
n
s 
h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
ss
 t
h
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s 
o
f 
th
e
 

co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
? 
 

(T
h
is
 m

a
y
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 g
ro
u
p
s,
 r
e
v
is
in
g
 

y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
).
 

 

H
a
rr
o
w
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 

V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 G
ro
u
p
 w
h
ic
h
 

co
m
p
ri
se
s 
th
e
 P
o
rt
fo
lio
 H
o
ld
e
r 

a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
A
ss
is
ta
n
t,
 H
a
rr
o
w
 

P
o
lic
e
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 F
a
m
ili
e
s,
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s,
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
, 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 P
u
b
lic
 

H
e
a
lt
h
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 R
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
 

C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 a
n
d
 V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
ct
o
r 
O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
s 
o
v
e
r 
a
 o
f 
p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
a
 

y
e
a
r 
to
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 

th
e
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
-c
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
in
g
 

p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
. 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l 
re
fl
e
ct
s 
th
e
 

co
m
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 G
ro
u
p
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
  

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l 
to
 r
e
fl
e
ct
 t
h
e
 

co
m
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
ce
iv
e
d
. 

  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

6
. 
W
h
a
t 
o
th
e
r 
(l
o
ca
l,
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l,
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re
se
a
rc
h
, 
re
p
o
rt
s,
 

m
e
d
ia
) 
d
a
ta
 s
o
u
rc
e
s 
th
a
t 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 u
se
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
is
 

S
e
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
tt
a
ch
e
d
 

196



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

4
 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t?
 

L
is
t 
th
e
 T
it
le
 o
f 
re
p
o
rt
s 
/ 
d
o
cu
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 w
e
b
si
te
s 
h
e
re
. 

 S
ta
g
e
 3
: 
A
ss
e
ss
in
g
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
D
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 I
m
p
a
ct
 

7
. 
B
a
se
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
ce
 y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
n
si
d
e
re
d
 s
o
 f
a
r,
 i
s 
th
e
re
 a
 r
is
k
 t
h
a
t 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 c
o
u
ld
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 

o
n
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s?
 

 
A
g
e
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

ca
re
rs
) 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

ca
re
rs
) 

G
e
n
d
e
r 

R
e
a
ss
ig
n
m
e
n
t 

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
 

a
n
d
 C
iv
il 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
re
g
n
a
n
cy
 a
n
d
 

M
a
te
rn
it
y
 

R
a
ce
 

R
e
lig
io
n
 a
n
d
 

B
e
lie
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 

O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

Y
e
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

N
o
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

X
 

Y
E
S
 -
 I
f 
th
e
re
 i
s 
a
 r
is
k
 o
f 
d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 I
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 a
n
y
 O
N
E
 o
f 
th
e
 P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s,
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
st
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
m
p
la
te
. 

 � 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
: 
Y
o
u
 m

a
y
 w
a
n
t 
to
 c
o
n
si
d
e
r 
se
tt
in
g
 u
p
 a
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 (
in
cl
u
d
in
g
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s,
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
st
a
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
, 
v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

se
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s,
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
se
rs
 a
n
d
 U
n
io
n
s)
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 r
e
st
 o
f 
th
e
 E
q
IA
 

�
 
It
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
se
fu
l 
to
 a
ls
o
 c
o
lla
te
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
e
v
id
e
n
ce
 (
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
, 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s,
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
s 
a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

u
se
rs
 d
ir
e
ct
ly
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 b
y
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
) 
to
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
ss
e
ss
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 i
m
p
a
ct
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
is
 c
a
n
 b
e
 m

it
ig
a
te
d
. 

 N
O
 -
 I
f 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 t
ic
k
e
d
 ‘
N
o
’ 
to
 a
ll 
o
f 
th
e
 a
b
o
v
e
, 
th
e
n
 g
o
 t
o
 S
ta
g
e
 6
 

 � 
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
m
a
y
 n
o
t 
h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 i
m
p
a
ct
, 
y
o
u
 m

a
y
 h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
ct
io
n
s 
w
h
ic
h
 c
a
n
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

a
d
v
a
n
ce
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 m

o
re
 i
n
cl
u
si
v
e
. 
T
h
e
se
 a
ct
io
n
s 
sh
o
u
ld
 f
o
rm

 y
o
u
r 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 a
t 
S
ta
g
e
 7
  

 S
ta
g
e
 4
: 
C
o
lla
ti
n
g
 A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 /
 E
v
id
e
n
ce

  

8
. 
W
h
a
t 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
/e
v
id
e
n
ce
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
si
d
e
re
d
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 a
s 
a
 r
e
su
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 a
n
a
ly
si
s 
a
t 
S
ta
g
e
 

3
? 
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
is
 e
v
id
e
n
ce
, 
in
cl
u
d
in
g
 a
n
y
 d
a
ta
, 
st
a
ti
st
ic
s,
 t
it
le
s 
o
f 

d
o
cu
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 w
e
b
si
te
 l
in
k
s 
h
e
re
) 

 

9
. 
W
h
a
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 o
n
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 a
s 
a
 r
e
su
lt
 o
f 
y
o
u
r 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 
a
t 
S
ta
g
e
 3
? 

197



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

5
 

W
h
o
 w
a
s 
co
n
su
lt
e
d
? 

W
h
a
t 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 m

e
th
o
d
s 
w
e
re
 

u
se
d
? 

W
h
a
t 
d
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
su
lt
s 
sh
o
w
 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s 
/ 

P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s?
 

W
h
a
t 
a
ct
io
n
s 
h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
ss
 t
h
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s 
o
f 
th
e
 

co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
? 
 

(T
h
is
 m

a
y
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 g
ro
u
p
s,
 r
e
v
is
in
g
 

y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
).
 

 

  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

S
ta
g
e
 5
: 
A
ss
e
ss
in
g
 I
m
p
a
ct
 a
n
d
 A
n
a
ly
si
s 

1
0
. 

W
h
a
t 
d
o
e
s
 y

o
u
r 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
e
ll 

y
o
u
 a

b
o
u
t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 
g
ro

u
p
s
?
 C

o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 s

h
o
w

s
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fo

r 
d
if
fe

re
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
a
c
t,
 

if
 s

o
 s

ta
te

 w
h
e
th

e
r 

th
is

 i
s
 a

n
 a

d
v
e
rs

e
 o

r 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t?

 H
o
w

 l
ik

e
ly

 i
s
 t
h
is

 t
o
 h

a
p
p
e
n
?
 H

o
w

 y
o
u
 w

ill
 m

it
ig

a
te

/r
e
m

o
v
e
 a

n
y
 a

d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t?
 

P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 

C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
 

A
d
v
e
rs
e
 

 

�
 

P
o
si
ti
v
e
 

 

�
 

E
x
p
la
in
 w
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
m
p
a
ct
 i
s,
 h
o
w
 l
ik
e
ly
 i
t 
is
 t
o
 

h
a
p
p
e
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
im
p
a
ct
 i
f 
it
 w
a
s 
to
 o
cc
u
r.
 

 
N
o
te
 –
 P
o
si
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 c
a
n
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 u
se
d
 t
o
 

d
e
m
o
n
st
ra
te
 h
o
w
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
 a
im
s 
o
f 

th
e
 P
S
E
D
 S
ta
g
e
 9
 

W
h
a
t 
m
e
a
su
re
s 
ca
n
 y
o
u
 t
a
k
e
 t
o
 m

it
ig
a
te
 t
h
e
 

im
p
a
ct
 o
r 
a
d
v
a
n
ce
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
? 
E
.g
. 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
, 
re
se
a
rc
h
, 
im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 e
tc
 (
A
ls
o
 I
n
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
e
se
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 a
t 
S
ta
g
e
 7
) 

 
A
g
e
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

ca
re
rs
 o
f 

y
o
u
n
g
/o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

ca
re
rs
 o
f 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 

 
 

 
 

198



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

6
 

p
e
o
p
le
) 

 

 

G
e
n
d
e
r 

R
e
a
ss
ig
n
m
e
n
t 

 

 
 

 
 

 
M
a
rr
ia
g
e
 a
n
d
 

C
iv
il 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

P
re
g
n
a
n
cy
 

a
n
d
 M
a
te
rn
it
y
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

R
a
ce
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
R
e
lig
io
n
 o
r 

B
e
lie
f 

 

 
 

 
 

 

S
e
x
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

S
e
x
u
a
l 

o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

 

 
 

 
 

1
1
. 
C
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
–
 C
o
n
si
d
e
ri
n
g
 w
h
a
t 
e
ls
e
 i
s 
h
a
p
p
e
n
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

Y
e
s 

 
N
o
 

 

199



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

7
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 H
a
rr
o
w
 a
s 
a
 w
h
o
le
, 
co
u
ld
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 h
a
v
e
 a
 c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
ct
 o
n
 a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
? 
  

 If
 y
e
s,
 w
h
ic
h
 P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
s 
co
u
ld
 b
e
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
ct
? 

 

1
1
a
. 
A
n
y
 O
th
e
r 
Im

p
a
c
t 
–
 C
o
n
si
d
e
ri
n
g
 w
h
a
t 
e
ls
e
 i
s 
h
a
p
p
e
n
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 H
a
rr
o
w
 a
s 
a
 w
h
o
le
 (
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l/
lo
ca
l 
p
o
lic
y
, 
a
u
st
e
ri
ty
, 

w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm

, 
u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
le
v
e
ls
, 
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
 t
e
n
si
o
n
s,
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
cr
im
e
) 

co
u
ld
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
se
rs
 s
o
ci
o
 

e
co
n
o
m
ic
, 
h
e
a
lt
h
 o
r 
a
n
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
o
h
e
si
o
n
? 
 

 If
 y
e
s,
 w
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
ct
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 l
ik
e
ly
 i
s 
to
 h
a
p
p
e
n
? 

Y
e
s 

 
N
o
 

 

 

1
2
. 
Is
 t
h
e
re
 a
n
y
 e
v
id
e
n
ce
 o
r 
co
n
ce
rn
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 m

a
y
 r
e
su
lt
 i
n
 a
 P
ro
te
ct
e
d
 C
h
a
ra
ct
e
ri
st
ic
 b
e
in
g
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
? 

(P
le
a
se
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 t
h
e
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 G
u
id
e
lin
e
s 
fo
r 
g
u
id
a
n
ce
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
s 
o
f 
d
is
cr
im
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
h
a
ra
ss
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 v
ic
ti
m
is
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
ro
h
ib
it
e
d
 

co
n
d
u
ct
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
ct
) 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 H
a
rr
o
w
 H
U
B
/E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s 
a
n
d
 D
iv
e
rs
it
y
/P
o
lic
ie
s 
a
n
d
 L
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
  
 

 
A
g
e
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

ca
re
rs
) 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 

ca
re
rs
) 

G
e
n
d
e
r 

R
e
a
ss
ig
n
m
e
n
t 

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
 

a
n
d
 C
iv
il 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
re
g
n
a
n
cy
 a
n
d
 

M
a
te
rn
it
y
 

R
a
ce
 

R
e
lig
io
n
 a
n
d
 

B
e
lie
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 

O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

Y
e
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

N
o
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

If
 y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
sw

e
re
d
 "
y
e
s"
 t
o
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 a
b
o
v
e
, 
se
t 
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
ju
st
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
re
 m

a
y
 b
e
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
 Q
1
3
a
 b
e
lo
w
 -
 l
in
k
 t
h
is
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
im
s 
o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
sa
l 
a
n
d
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 i
s 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
se
 a
im
s.
  
(Y
o
u
 a
re
 e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
k
 l
e
g
a
l 
a
d
v
ic
e
, 
if
 y
o
u
 a
re
 

co
n
ce
rn
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l 
m
a
y
 b
re
a
ch
 t
h
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 o
r 
y
o
u
 a
re
 u
n
su
re
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 i
s 
o
b
je
ct
iv
e
 j
u
st
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l)
 

 If
 t
h
e
 a
n
a
ly
si
s 
sh
o
w
s 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
se
ri
o
u
s 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
r 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 (
o
r 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
d
is
cr
im
in
a
ti
o
n
) 
b
u
t 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

ju
st
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
is
, 
th
is
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 m

u
st
 b
e
 p
re
se
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
ci
si
o
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
fo
r 
a
 f
in
a
l 
d
e
ci
si
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 o
n
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 i
s 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 t
o
 a
ch
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 a
im
s 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
  

 � 
If
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 e
ff
e
ct
s 
th
a
t 
a
re
 n
o
t 
ju
st
if
ie
d
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 m

it
ig
a
te
d
, 
y
o
u
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
p
ro
ce
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
  
(s
e
le
c
t 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
 4
) 

�
 
If
 t
h
e
 a
n
a
ly
si
s 
sh
o
w
s 
u
n
la
w
fu
l 
co
n
d
u
ct
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s 
le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
, 
y
o
u
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
p
ro
ce
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
 (
s
e
le
c
t 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
 4
) 

S
ta
g
e
 6
: 
D
e
ci
si
o
n
 

1
3
. 
P
le
a
se
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 w
h
ic
h
 o
f 
th
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
st
 d
e
sc
ri
b
e
s 
th
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
r 
E
q
IA
 (
 �

 t
ic
k
 o
n
e
 b
o
x
 o
n
ly
) 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 1
 –
 N
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
: 
th
e
 E
q
IA
 h
a
s 
n
o
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
u
n
la
w
fu
l 
co
n
d
u
ct
 o
r 
d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 i
m
p
a
ct
 a
n
d
 

�
 

200



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

8
 

a
ll 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s 
to
 a
d
v
a
n
ce
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 a
d
d
re
ss
e
d
. 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
 –
 M
in
o
r 
a
d
ju
st
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
/m

it
ig
a
te
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
r 
a
d
v
a
n
ce
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
q
IA
. 
L
is

t 
th

e
 

a
ct

io
n
s 

y
o
u
 p

ro
p
o
se

 t
o
 t

a
k
e
 t

o
 a

d
d
re

ss
 t

h
is

 i
n
 t

h
e
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n
 a

t 
S
ta

g
e
 7
 

 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
 –
 C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 d
e
sp
it
e
 h
a
v
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
r 
m
is
se
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s 
to
 a
d
v
a
n
ce
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
. 
In
 t
h
is
 c
a
se
, 
th
e
 j
u
st
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 n
e
e
d
s 
to
 b
e
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 E
q
IA
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P
S
E
D
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 ‘
d
u
e
 r
e
g
a
rd
’.
 I
n
 

so
m
e
 c
a
se
s,
 c
o
m
p
e
lli
n
g
 r
e
a
so
n
s 
w
ill
 b
e
 n
e
e
d
e
d
. 
Y
o
u
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
si
d
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
p
la
n
s 
to
 r
e
d
u
ce
 t
h
e
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 

im
p
a
ct
 a
n
d
/o
r 
p
la
n
s 
to
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
. 
 (
E
x
p
la
in
 t
h
is
 i
n
 1
3
a
 b
e
lo
w
) 
 

 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 4
 –
 S
to
p
 a
n
d
 r
e
th
in
k
: 
w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
re
 i
s 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
se
ri
o
u
s 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
r 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 t
o
 o
n
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 p
ro
te
ct
e
d
 

g
ro
u
p
s.
  
(Y
o
u
 a
re
 e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
k
 L
e
g
a
l 
A
d
v
ic
e
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
u
n
la
w
fu
l 
co
n
d
u
ct
 u
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s 
le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
3
a
. 
If
 y
o
u
r 
E
q
IA
 i
s 
a
ss
e
ss
e
d
 a
s 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
 o
r 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 

ti
c
k
e
d
 ‘
y
e
s
’ 
in
 Q
1
2
, 
e
x
p
la
in
 y
o
u
r 
ju
st
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 f
u
ll 

re
a
so
n
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
. 

  

 

 

S
ta
g
e
 7
: 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 

1
4
. 
L
is
t 
b
e
lo
w
 a
n
y
 a
ct
io
n
s 
y
o
u
 p
la
n
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
s 
a
 r
e
su
lt
 o
f 
th
is
 I
m
p
a
ct
 A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t.
 T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 a
n
y
 a
ct
io
n
s 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 E
q
IA
. 
 

A
re
a
 o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 e
.g
. 

R
a
ce
, 
D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

 

A
ct
io
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m

it
ig
a
te
 

 

H
o
w
 w
ill
 y
o
u
 k
n
o
w
 

th
is
 i
s 
a
ch
ie
v
e
d
? 
E
.g
. 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce
 M
e
a
su
re
 

/ 
T
a
rg
e
t 

T
a
rg
e
t 
D
a
te
 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

D
a
te
 A
ct
io
n
 

in
cl
u
d
e
d
 i
n
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 /
 

T
e
a
m
 P
la
n
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s 
fo
r 
m
a
le
 a
n
d
 

fe
m
a
le
 v
ic
ti
m
 a
re
 o
ft
e
n
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
ly
. 
 

T
h
e
 c
a
p
a
ci
ty
 o
f 
th
e
se
 

se
rv
ic
e
s 
re
fl
e
ct
s 
th
e
 

b
a
la
n
ce
 o
f 
th
e
 s
e
x
 o
f 

k
n
o
w
n
 v
ic
ti
m
s.
 I
f 
th
e
 

b
a
la
n
ce
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s,
 

se
rv
ic
e
s 
m
a
y
 n
o
t 

p
ro
v
id
e
 e
q
u
a
l 
a
cc
e
ss
. 

  

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 s
e
x
 o
f 
v
ic
ti
m
s 

co
m
in
g
 t
o
 o
u
r 
a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
m
e
n
d
 t
h
e
 

b
a
la
n
ce
 o
f 
se
rv
ic
e
s 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 a
cc
o
rd
in
g
ly
 

 

M
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 s
e
x
 o
f 

k
n
o
w
n
 v
ic
ti
m
s,
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

M
ik
e
 H
o
w
e
s 

D
o
m
e
st
ic
 

V
io
le
n
ce
 

A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

201



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

9
 

        

 
 

 
 

 

 

S
ta
g
e
 8
 -
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
  

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
im
p
a
ct
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 m

a
y
 o
n
ly
 b
e
 k
n
o
w
n
 a
ft
e
r 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 
It
 i
s 
th
e
re
fo
re
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 e
n
su
re
 e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

m
e
a
su
re
s 
a
re
 i
n
 p
la
ce
 t
o
 a
ss
e
ss
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
. 
 

1
5
. 
H
o
w
 w
ill
 y
o
u
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 o
n
ce
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
? 
W
h
a
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 m

e
a
su
re
s 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
ce
d
 t
o
 

e
n
su
re
 e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
? 
H
o
w
 o
ft
e
n
 w
ill
 y
o
u
 d
o
 

th
is
? 

(A
ls

o
 I

n
cl

u
d
e
 i
n
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n
 a

t 
S
ta

g
e
 7

) 

S
e
e
 1
4
 a
b
o
v
e
 

1
6
. 
H
o
w
 w
ill
 t
h
e
 r
e
su
lt
s 
o
f 
a
n
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 b
e
 a
n
a
ly
se
d
, 
re
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 

p
u
b
lic
is
e
d
? 

(A
ls

o
 I

n
cl

u
d
e
 i
n
 I

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n
 a

t 
S
ta

g
e
 7

) 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D
o
m
e
st
ic
 a
n
d
 S
e
x
u
a
l 
V
io
le
n
ce
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 G
ro
u
p
 

1
7
. 
H
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 r
e
ce
iv
e
d
 a
n
y
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 o
r 
co
m
p
lim

e
n
ts
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 b
e
in
g
 a
ss
e
ss
e
d
? 
If
 s
o
, 
p
ro
v
id
e
 d
e
ta
ils
. 

N
o
 

S
ta
g
e
 9
: 
P
u
b
lic
 S
e
ct
o
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 D
u
ty
 

1
8
. 
H
o
w
 d
o
 y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
w
a
rd
s 
th
e
 P
u
b
lic
 S
e
ct
o
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 D
u
ty
 (
P
S
E
D
) 
w
h
ic
h
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 h
a
v
e
 d
u
e
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 e
lim

in
a
te
 

d
is
cr
im
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
h
a
ra
ss
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 v
ic
ti
m
is
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
d
v
a
n
ce
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 f
o
st
e
r 
g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s.
 

 (I
n
cl
u
d
e
 a
ll 
th
e
 p
o
si
ti
v
e
 a
ct
io
n
s 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 l
it
e
ra
tu
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 l
a
rg
e
 p
ri
n
t,
 B
ra
ill
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s,
 f
le
x
ib
le
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 h
o
u
rs
 f
o
r 
p
a
re
n
ts
/c
a
re
rs
, 
IT
 e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 D
D
A
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
t 
e
tc
) 

E
lim

in
a
te
 u
n
la
w
fu
l 
d
is
cr
im
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
h
a
ra
ss
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 v
ic
ti
m
is
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
co
n
d
u
ct
 p
ro
h
ib
it
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
ct
 2
0
1
0
 

 

A
d
v
a
n
ce
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s 

 

F
o
st
e
r 
g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s 

 

   

  
  

202



H
a

rr
o

w
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

E
q

u
a

lit
y
 I

m
p

a
c
t 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
T

e
m

p
la

te
 –

 J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
 

1
0
 

S
ta
g
e
 1
0
 -
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
si
g
n
 O
ff
 (
to
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 C
h
a
ir
 o
f 
D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s 
T
a
sk
 G
ro
u
p
) 

T
h
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 E
q
I
A
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
ir
 o
f 
y
o
u
r 
D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
 T
a
s
k
 G
ro
u
p
 (
D
E
T
G
) 
to
 b
e
 s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
. 

1
9
. 
W
h
ic
h
 g
ro
u
p
 o
r 
co
m
m
it
te
e
 

co
n
si
d
e
re
d
, 
re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
e
 

E
q
IA
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
ct
io
n
 

P
la
n
? 
 

 

 S
ig
n
e
d
: 
(L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
co
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 E
q
IA
) 

 

 
S
ig
n
e
d
: 
(C
h
a
ir
 o
f 
D
E
T
G
) 

A
le
x
 D
e
w
sn
a
p
 

 D
a
te
: 

 
 

D
a
te
: 

1
7
 M
a
y
 2
0
1
5
 

D
a
te
 E
q
IA
 p
re
se
n
te
d
 a
t 
th
e
 E
q
IA
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 A
ss
u
ra
n
ce
 G
ro
u
p
 

1
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

S
ig
n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
D
E
T
G
 C
h
a
ir
 

 

 

203



204

This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

17 June  2015 

Subject: 

 

Review of the Council Tax Support (CTS) 
Scheme for 2016/17 Financial Year 

Key Decision:  

 

Yes 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Tom Whiting, Corporate Director of 
Resources 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Sachin Shah, Portfolio for Finance 
and Major Contracts 

Exempt: 

 

No  

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

No, as the decision is reserved to Council  

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

Appendix 1 – Current Scheme 
Rules/Parameters 
 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

This report informs Members of the requirement to consider a review of the 
localised Council Tax Support Scheme which was introduced on 1/4/2013. 
Paragraph 5 of Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as 
amended by schedule 4 of the Local Government Act 2012, requires the 
council to consider whether, for 2016-17, the scheme is to be revised or 
replaced.  

Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to make the following decision: 
 

1. Note that the CTS scheme meets the Council’s statutory duties and 
requires no changes. 

Agenda Item 15
Pages 205 to 212

205



 

 

Cabinet is requested to recommend the following decision to full Council: 
 

2. After considering whether to review the local scheme, that there is no 
need to review, and to continue with the existing CTS scheme, as 
previously adopted by Full Council, for the 2016/17 financial year. 

 

Reason:  (For recommendations)   
 
The current CTS scheme was based upon retaining the initial provisions for 
two consecutive financial years, 2013/14 & 2014/15, so long as key conditions 
remained unchanged Thereafter, the scheme was to be reviewed annually. 
 
There have been no significant fundamental changes, either in caseload, 
demographics or the economy, which would require the Council to consider 
reviewing or replacing the scheme as determined by Full Council. 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
Introductory paragraph 
 
2.1 From April 2013, Council Tax Benefit (CTB) was “localised”. There is 
 no longer a nationally governed CTB scheme (except for pensioners). 
 Councils now determine their own local “Council Tax Reduction 
 Scheme” and CTB has been replaced by “Council Tax Support” (CTS). 
 
2.2 Pensioners (those who have attained the qualifying age for state   

pension credit) are protected under the  arrangements. CTS for them 
is still controlled nationally. This  means CTS can still cover up to 
100% of their Council Tax bill. 

 
2.3 Full Council determined on the 21 January 2013 to introduce a CTS 
 scheme. The scheme set out the reductions which were to apply in 
 Harrow to specified classes of persons whom the authority considered 
 to be in financial need. The scheme took effect for the financial year 
 commencing 1 April 2013, with some changes phased in from 1 April 
 2014.  
 
2.4 In June 2014, at the review of the scheme for 2015/16 financial year, 
 Cabinet agreed to consultation on various draft scheme models. 
 Cabinet subsequently decided not to change the scheme for the 
 financial year 2015/16, and the Council agreed to continue with the 
 existing scheme at the full Council meeting held on 22/01/2015. 
 
2.5 The Council must consider whether to revise or replace its Council Tax 
 Support scheme each financial year. As such it is necessary for 
 Cabinet to consider whether the scheme requires reviewing for the 
 2016/17 financial year and this report requests that Members consider 
 reviewing the scheme.  

 

206



Council Tax Support Scheme Review 
 
2.6 Harrow Council has a CTS scheme in place which sets out the 

reductions which are to apply in its area to specified classes of persons 
whom the authority considers to be in financial need.  

   
2.7 Legislation requires the authority to consider whether, for 2016-17, the 
 scheme is to be revised or replaced. The Council must consider 
 whether the scheme requires changing and must do this in time to 
 ensure it has sufficient time to consult and determine the scheme 
 prior to the deadline set out in the legislation.  

2.8 Modelling the current CTS caseload commitments and estimating 
 2016/17 expenditure, would suggest future expenditure in the region of 
 £14m to £14.5 in the next financial year (dependant on any council tax 
 inflation).  

2.9 This is in line with budgeted expenditure. Additionally, Council Tax 
collection rates in 2014/15 for CTS recipients reached 89% in year 
which were also above the 70% profile anticipated, resulting in overall 
collection rates for Council Tax of 97.3% in year.  Overall Council Tax 
collection rates were higher in 2014/15 than the 97% achieved in year 
for  2013/14. It would appear that collection rates are settling down as 
claimants get used to having to pay some Council Tax. 

2.10 Statutory provisions require Harrow to consider annually whether it 
should change the scheme, and if so, in what way. The process to 
create a revised scheme would involve complex decisions and 
judgements  regarding which groups of  claimants would face changes 
in support. This would also require extensive consultation and approval 
of the changes before 31/01/2016, including consultation with the GLA, 
a publication of the draft scheme incorporating the changes and 
consultation with such persons as may be affected by the operation of 
the scheme. Having approved the scheme already in place, Cabinet is 
now being requested to consider reviewing its scheme. 

2.11 Having reviewed the operation of the scheme, it is considered that the 
existing scheme, agreed by Full Council on 21st January 2013 and 
again on 22/01/2015, meets the Council’s statutory requirements. It is 
therefore recommended that the scheme is not revised or replaced as 
no changes are required. It is therefore further recommended that the 
Council continue with the current scheme in place. 

2.12 This view has been reached on the basis that currently (as @ May 
2015) CTS expenditure for 2015/16 is approximately £14.2m. This is 
within the budgeted expenditure range for the parameter configuration 
for 2015/16 . 

 
Conclusion / Recommendation 
 
2.13 The expenditure estimate assumes no increase in caseload and 
 assumes no disproportionate increase in persons of pension credit age 
 that would be protected from the effects of the scheme; although there 

207



 is risk here as Harrow has proportionally less pensioners claiming CTS 
 than the national average. 
 
2.14 The cost of the CTS scheme could still be subject to fluctuations taking 

into account the uncertainty regarding claimant numbers.  

2.15 In conclusion, there are currently no fundamental reasons to change 
the existing  scheme. Case load is currently static or decreasing, 
(notwithstanding the above comments), Council Tax  collection rates 
are high and holding, and whilst there is a risk of pensioner numbers 
increasing and therefore increasing expenditure, this risk is felt to be 
low. As financial forecasts are similar to target expenditure, this report 
recommends that the CTS scheme continues in its current format. 

 

Legal Implications   
2.16 Paragraph 5 of Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 

1992, as inserted by Schedule 4 to the Local Government Finance Act 
2012, requires the authority to consider whether, for each financial 
year, the CTS scheme is to be revised or replaced. Where the scheme 
is to be revised or replaced the procedural requirements in paragraph 3 
of that schedule apply.  Any revision/replacement must be determined 
by 31 of January in the preceding year to the year which the changes 
are to apply. The council must therefore consider whether the scheme 
requires revision or replacement and if so, consult with the GLA, 
publish a draft scheme and then consult with such persons as may be 
affected by the operation of that scheme prior to determining the 
scheme before 31st January. 

2.17   This report recommends that the scheme is not revised or replaced. 
  

 
Financial Implications 
2.18 The local CTS funding is not ring fenced and it is entirely for Harrow, as 

a Local Authority, to determine how much it is prepared to spend in 
light of the Council’s overall financial position.  

 
2.19 For 2015/16, estimated expenditure is largely in line with budget 

provision of between £14m to £14.5m.  If the scheme was to award 
higher support amounts this would increase expenditure and would 
have a detrimental impact on the Collection Fund which would have to 
be addressed in the following years budget setting process.  On the 
other hand, if the scheme was to award lower amounts, a positive 
impact would feed into the follows year’s budget setting process.  

 

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty  
2.20 Retaining the existing CTS scheme is supported by the original EqIA 

undertaken for the scheme and carried out at the time of consultation. 
This highlighted the impacts on residents and on which mitigation 
packages were developed and implemented. The existing scheme also 
supports the most vulnerable members of our community as it contain 
more generous provisions for protecting disabled residents (which is 
applied to any applicant in receipt of Disability Living Allowance or 
Personal Independence Payment – PIP). 

208



2.21 When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected 
groups. Due regard should therefore be had to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty when giving consideration to a review of the scheme and 
the recommendations in this report. The Council’s original completed 
equality impact assessment still applies and members should consider 
its contents in making their decision.  

 
Corporate Priorities 

2.22 The Harrow Council Tax Support Scheme reflects the aims of our 
 corporate priorities thus ensuring we concentrate on supporting those 
 who are financially vulnerable. 
 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

    
on behalf of the  

Name: Dawn Calvert x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date:   11 May 2015 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the  

Name: Sarah Wilson  x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date:   11 May 2015 

   
 

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO, as it impacts on all 

Wards  

EqIA carried out:                    

EqIA cleared by:                     

NO 

N/A 

 
N/A as EqIA, cleared at the 
time of original scheme 
implementation, still applies 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 

Contact:   
Fern Silverio (Head of Service – Collections & Housing Benefits), 
Tel: 020-8736-6818 / email: fern.silverio@harrow.gov.uk 

 
Background Papers:  
Appendix 1 – Current Scheme Rules/Parameters 

209



Full CTS current scheme  available @ 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200206/council_tax_support/1258/council_tax_
support_scheme_review 
 

 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call-in does not apply as the 
decision is reserved to Council] 
 
 
 
 

 

210



Appendix 1 - Current Scheme Rules/Parameters 
 
Liability cap- (this is the percentage liability used in calculation of CTS) is:  

• 86% for  working age customers who fall into the vulnerable group (see  

below) 

• 70% for all working age customers who do not fall into the vulnerable group 

• 100% for all pensioners 

 

• 30% taper- For every £1 that the customer receives over their applicable amount, they will 

have to put 30p towards the council tax bill 

• £2 minimum weekly Council Tax support award-this means that anyone who is entitled to less 

than £2.00 in CTS will not receive any support 

• No tariff income-this means that nothing is added to the weekly income if customer has capital 

over £6,000 (16,000 capital limit still applies) 

 

Vulnerable group- a working age customer falls into the vulnerable group if 

• A household with an applicant, a partner or a dependent child receiving 

o Disability Living Allowance (any component) 

o Employment Support Allowance (Support group),  

o Incapacity Benefit,  

o Mobility Supplement,  

o Severe Disablement Allowance, 

o Personal Independence Payment or Armed Forces Independence Payment (AFIP)  

o or has an invalid vehicle supplied by the National Health Service or gets Department of 

Work and Pensions payments for car running costs; 

• or a disability banding reduction has been granted for the property;  

• or the applicant or partner is registered blind ;  

• or the applicant or partner receives a War Pension 

 
Non dependant deductions (weekly reduction in CTS based on the income of other adult 
occupants of the household)- see table below; 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

211



 

Non Dep Deductions 

 

 

 Non Dep Income Housing 
Benefit 

CTS 
Pensioner 

CTS 
Working age 

o Aged under 25 and on IS 
or JSA(IB) or ESA(IR) 
assessment phase 

Nil 

 

Nil £3.30 

o Aged 25 or over and on 
IS/JSA(IB),  

 

£14.55 

 

Nil £3.30 

o Aged 18 or over and not 
in remunerative work 

£14.55 

 

£3.74 £6.60 

o In receipt of main phase 
ESA(IR)  

 

£14.55 

 

Nil £3.30 

o In receipt or ESA (C) £14.55 

 

£3.74 £3.30  

o In receipt of JSA (C) £14.55 

 

£3.74 £6.60 

o In receipt of Pension 
Credit 

 

Nil 

 

Nil £3.30 

o gross income less than 
£129.00 

 

£14.55 

 

£3.74 £6.60 

o gross income not less 
than £129.00 but less 
than £189.00 

 

£33.40 

 

£3.74 £6.60 

o gross income not less 
than £189.00 but less 
than £246.00 

 

£44.85 

 

£7.52 £13.10 

o gross income not less 
than £246.00 but less 
than £328.00 

 

£75.05 £7.52 £13.10 

o gross income not less 
than £328.00 but less 
than £408.00 

 

£85.45 

 

£9.49 £16.50 

o gross income not less 
than £408.00 

£93.80 £11.36 £19.80 

 

212



Agenda Item 18
Pages 213 to 274

213

Document is Restricted



274

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 19
Pages 275 to 278

275

Document is Restricted



278

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Key Decision Schedule - June to August 2015
	7 Progress on Scrutiny Projects
	8 Commercialisation Strategy
	Commercialisation Strategy  2015-18

	9 Proposal to develop a commercial Lettings Agency
	Appendix 1 - Executive Summary - Business Report

	10 Grange Farm Regeneration - Progress, Planning and Implementation
	Support for leaseholders and freeholders - App 1

	11 Mortuary Service - Expansion of Partnership
	12 Senior Management Restructure
	Annexe 1 - Senior Management Consultation document 2015
	Annexe 2 - Response to senior management consultation

	13 Revenue and Capital Outturn  2014-15
	Appendix 1 Revenue Outturn
	Appendix 2 Revenue Carry Forwards
	Appendix 3 Capital Outturn
	Appendix 4 HRA Revenue Outturn
	Appendix 5 Reserves Movements 2014-15

	14 Recommissioning Domestic and Sexual Violence Preventative and Intervention Services
	Service Specification
	EqIA

	15 Review of the Council Tax Support (CTS) Scheme for 2016/17 Financial Year
	Appendix 1

	18 Proposal to develop a commercial Lettings Agency
	19 Grange Farm Regeneration - Progress, Planning and Implementation

